EDGAROnline

ZAGG INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/18/13 for the Period Ending 12/31/12

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

3855 S 500 W.

SUITE J

SALT LAKE CITY, UT 84115
801-263-0699

0001296205

ZAGG

5900 - Retail-Miscellaneous Retail
Containers & Packaging

Basic Materials

12/31

Powere d By ED‘GA;Rbn]ine

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2013, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
X ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECWRITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012
O TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34528

ZAGG INC

NEVADA 20-2559624
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
3855 S 500 W, Suite J, Salt Lake City, U 84115
(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Issuer’s telephone number: (801) 263-0699
Securities registered under 12(b) of the Exchangeck None
Securities registered under 12 (g) of the Exchangkct:
Common Stock, par value $0.001
(Title of Class)
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a ielbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405e08#turities Act. YeBl No M
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord)%f the Exchange Act. Y& No M
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsrstted electronically and posted on its corpok&ebsite, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te R of Regulation S-T during the preceding 2 mseior for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to submit and post such files). MesNo O
Indicated by check mark whether the registranfi({@gl all reports required to be filed by Sectiaghdr 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the past 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to file such reports), and (2)lesen subject to such filing requirements for tastp
90 days. Ye® NoO
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiliigs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K @& gontained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitivexy or information statements incorporated by meriee in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any

amendment to this Form 10-K1

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axcelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp
See the definitions of “large accelerated filegttelerated filer” and “smaller reporting compaityRule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

[ ] Large Accelerated Filer [X] Accelerated Filer

[ ] Non-accelerated Filer (do not check if a smadr reporting
company) [ ] Smaller Regging Company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgle Act). Yesd No M

The aggregate market value of the voting anc-voting common equity held by n-affiliates as of June 30, 2012, was $261,297,7a8. purposes ¢



the foregoing calculation only, directors and exieuofficers and holders of 10% or more of theiesss common capital stock have been deemed
affiliates.

The number of shares of the Registrant’s commoekstatstanding as of March 6, 2013, was 31,314,696.
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PART |
Special Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements

Information included or incorporated by referentehis Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwérdking statements. All forward-looking
statements are inherently uncertain as they amedbas current expectations and assumptions comegfuiure events or future performance of the
Company. Readers are cautioned not to place umatiaece on these forward-looking statements, whiehonly predictions and speak only as of the
date hereof. Forward-looking statements may cortterwords “believes,” “project,” “expects,” “anifiates,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “intends,”
“strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “will b e,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and simiar expressions, and are subject to numerous known
and unknown risks and uncertainties. Additionadhatements relating to implementation of businésdegy, future financial performance, acquisition
strategies, capital raising transactions, perfoeaf contractual obligations, and similar statetmemay contain forward-looking statements. In
evaluating such statements, prospective investatshareholders should carefully review variouksrgnd uncertainties identified in this Report,
including the matters set forth under the captitisk Factors” and in the Company’s other SEC §iBnThese risks and uncertainties could cause the
Company'’s actual results to differ materially frémose indicated in the forward-looking statemeitee Company disclaims any obligation to update
or publicly announce revisions to any forward-loukstatements to reflect future events or develaopsne

Although forward-looking statements in this Ann&aport on Form 16 reflect the good faith judgment of our managemeuth statements can ol
be based on facts and factors currently known by oasequently, forward-looking statements areriaity subject to risks and uncertainties, and
actual results and outcomes may differ materiatynfthe results and outcomes discussed in or pateil by the forward-looking statements. Factors
that could cause or contribute to such differemeessults and outcomes include, without limitatidrose specifically addressed under the heading
“Risk Factors Related to Our Business” below, al agethose discussed elsewhere in this Annual RepoForm 10K. Readers are urged not to pli
undue reliance on these forward-looking statemevtigch speak only as of the date of this Annualdéepn Form 10-K. We file reports with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Youread and copy any materials we file with the SE@@ SEC's Public Reference Room, 100 F.
Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You can obaaiditional information about the operation of theolc Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains aerhdt site (www.sec.gov) that contains reportsxp®and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers that file electroflicavith the SEC, including us.

We disclaim any obligation to revise or update &myard-looking statements in order to reflect awent or circumstance that may arise after the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readeeswaged to carefully review and consider the vasidisclosures made throughout the entirety of
this Annual Report, which attempt to advise inter@parties of the risks and factors that may aféec business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Business

ZAGG Inc, headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utahthwdgffices in Logan, Utah, and Shannon, Irelandgjgtes, produces, and distributes creative prc
solutions such as protective coverings, keybo&elghoard cases, earbuds, mobile power solutiomsgdanice cleaning accessories for mobile devices
under the family of ZAGG brands. Within the famdf/ZAGG brand are products sold under the followimgnd names: invisibleSHIELD®,
ZAGGskins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsparq™, ZAGGfolio™, ZAGGate™, ZAGGkeys™, ZAGGkeys PRO™, ZAGGkeys PRO PIUEAGGkeys
PROfolio, ZAGGkeys PROfolio +, ZAGGkeys MINI 7, addAGGkeys MINI 9.

In addition, the Company designs, produces, artdlulises cases, Near-Field Audio™ amplifying speakearbuds, traditional headphones, and
gaming headphones for mobile devices under thelfashiFrogz brands in the value-priced lifestybctor. Within the iFrogz brand are products sold
under the following brand names: iFrogz™, Earp@hutV, Caliber™, and Animatone™.

We maintain our headquarters at 3855 South 500 \8eges B, C, D, |, J, K, L, M, N, O, P, R andSt Lake City, Utah, 84115. The telephone
number of the Company is 801-263-0699. Our welaglthresses are www.zagg.camd www.ifrogz.com Information contained on, or accessible
through, our websites is not a part of, and isimtrporated by reference into, this report.

Family of ZAGG Branded Products
ZAGG invisibleSHIELD Products

The invisibleSHIELD, is made from a protective fibnvering that was developed originally to protiet leading edges of rotary blades of military
helicopters. We determined that a variation of fitis product could be configured to fit onto th&rface of electronic devices and marketed to
consumers for use in protecting such devices freenyeday wear and tear, including scratches, serajebris and other surface blemishes. The film
also permits touch sensitivity, meaning it can beduon devices that have a towtheen interface. The invisibleSHIELD film mateiighighly reliabl
and durable because it was originally developedi$erin a high friction, high velocity context wiittthe military aerospace industry. The film prces
long lasting protection for the surface of elecicastevices subject to normal wear and tear. Time ffias a polyurethane base with properties that has
enabled us to develop a very thin, pliable, flexiteind durable clear plastic that adheres to ttfaciand shape of the object it is applied to.
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The invisibleSHIELD is designed specifically fohiéhes ®, iPads ® , iPods ® , smartphones, cell ghaablets, MP3 players, laptops, digital
cameras, watch faces, GPS systems, gaming deaitgé®ither mobile devices. The product is “duotfit specific devices and packaged together &
moisture activating solution which makes the imlisSHIELD adhere to the surface of the devicetditg “like a second skin,” and virtually invisible
to the eye. The patented invisibleSHIELD was et §cratch protection solution of its kind on tharket. The invisibleSHIELD is not ornamental,
but rather provides a long lasting barrier to pres¢he brand new look of the surface of an el@itrdevice.

In early 2010, we introduced the invisibleSHIELD DRhrough retail partners, which is a protectidenfmade from the same material as the original
invisibleSHIELD, and engineered to be clearer, stineoto the touch, and applied without the neethefmoisture activating solution. In the
beginning of 2011, we added the invisibleSHIELD SigeiProof to our line, which also incorporates the $itieSHIELD film with added features tl
eliminate smudges, fingerprints, and glare fromdeeice display.

In January 2012, we introduced the invisibleSHIBHD, a new premium version of the invisibleSHIEL @atloffers industryeading clarity and finist
In June 2012, we introduced ZAGGprivacy, a protecfilm that provides visual data security for haeldl electronics. In September 2012, the
Company introduced a new version of the invisible3HD line, the invisibleSHIELD EXTREME. The invisi@gSHIELD EXTREME differs from
other products in the invisibleSHIELD portfolio b§fering advanced shock absorption and superialbpeotection. By installing the EXTREME or
compatible mobile device, consumers can worry dsgit broken screens as a result of dropping ¢iheérrtphone, tablet, or other device.

Currently, ZAGG offers over 5,900 precision, pre-ewisibleSHIELD designs with a lifetime replacemi@varranty through online channels, big-box
retailers, electronics specialty stores, resellmege bookstores, independent Mac stores, afickingks. We plan to continue to innovate and
expand the array of invisibleSHIELD products inuitg periods.

ZAGGaudio

The ZAGGaudio brand of electronics accessoriegpaoducts were first released in late 2008, andicoatto focus on innovation and superior
value. The flagship product within ZAGGaudio ig ward winning ZAGGsmartbuds™ line, which includ#s5Gaquabuds, a wateesistant earbu
introduced in late 2010. A previous winner of @ES Design and Innovation award, the ZAGGsmartlindshas been well received by professional
reviewers, experts, and the consumer base.

On January 12, 2010, we were awarded patent nuo®& 607,875 by the U.S. Patent and Trademark @ftiovering design elements of
ZAGGsmartbuds in-ear headphones.

ZAGGskins

ZAGGskins were introduced in November 2009, andliaomcustomizable, high-resolution images withgbeatch protection of ZAGG'’s
invisibleSHIELD. To create a ZAGGskin, consumeetest from a library of professional designs oroagl their own high-resolution personal photos
or images. The printed image, custom designethfr device, is then merged with the exclusiveradiough, patented invisibleSHIELD film, which
allows customers to both protect and individualtesir gadgets with a single product.

We also introduced ZAGG LEATHERSsKins in early 20I0AGG LEATHERSskins are thin, pliable cases thatlgmlirectly to personal electronics like
a film, and are created from genuine leather. ke in typical leather shades and premium anpagkrns, ZAGG LEATHERSskins use an adhesive
that holds the skin firmly in place on the devibet can be removed if necessary.

Later in 2010, we broadened the line to include ZAsportLEATHER, which are also created from genléagher and feature authentic recreatior
baseball, football and basketball textures. ZAGEALHERSskins and sportLEATHERS are available for thast popular personal electronics.

ZAGG Power Products

In early 2009, we introduced the original ZAGGspagmall, powerful, portable battery that can egk a powehungry smartphone up to four tim
before the ZAGGsparq itself needs to be rechargedturing a 6000ma lithium polymer cell, the ZA@&s) plugs into a wall outlet and provides t
USB ports for charging mobile devices. An adaedso included that fits many international semdd. The ZAGGsparq is compatible with any
USB-charged device, including smartphones, tabtetsdheld gaming systems, and digital cameras.
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In September 2012, the Company released a conipletg of ZAGGsparq products to provide reliableveo solutions for jetsetters, students,
professionals and other consumers who are alwaytseogo. Available in three size and charging optidhe new family includes the ZAGGsparq
1220, ZAGGsparg 3100, and ZAGGsparq 6000. ZAGGspartable batteries will charge any device thdia¢s a USB, including smartphones,
tablets, handheld gaming systems, and digital casn®ifferent from other portable batteries onnarket, the ZAGGsparq family has been
constructed with built-in prongs that allow the @evto double as a wall charger, eliminating thechior an extra power adapter. All three new models
contain Lithium Polymer batteries and are madeobplycarbonate to protect the device from weat &@ar. In addition, the ZAGGsparg 3100 and
6000 feature the company's Hypercharge Techndlbgy proprietary technology that enables a mobilecgeto receive a full charge up to four times
faster than when utilizing a standard USB charger.

ZAGG Keyboard Products

We introduced the ZAGGmate in November 2010. TA&Bmate, made from aircraft-grade aluminum, is@gmtive and functional companion to
the Apple iPad, iPad 2, iPad 3, and iPad 4, whadeatuates both the appearance and utility of Appi@ovative devices. The ZAGGmate line
features two models, one with a simple, innovasitead and built-in wireless Bluetooth® keyboard tilbows for fast, responsive typing, and
interaction with the iPad's features. The secondehreplaces the keyboard with a more versatiedsthat provides multiple angles for use. The
ZAGGmate was the recipient of several prestigioasistry awards, including the Macworld Expo 20158 Show and recognition as a CES
Innovations Design and Engineering Honoree. OnlApr2011, we partnered with Logitech on the ZAGG@enaroduct and renamed it the Logitech
Keyboard Case by ZAGG. Under the partnership wibitech, we receive royalty payments for all usitéd by Logitech. On May 9, 2012, we were
awarded patent number US D 659,139 by the U.SnPatel Trademark Office, covering design elemehte@ZAGGmate case and keyboard
accessory for tablets.

As a follow up to the ZAGGmate, we launched the Z¥@lio in July 2011. The ZAGGfolio is a stylishdifunctional case for the iPad 2, iPad 3, i
4, Samsung Galaxy Tablet, and Galaxy Tablet 2.0nb&only offers full protection, but increasesguctivity through a removable Bluetooth
keyboard. Operating with Bluetooth 3.0, the in&¢gd battery will last for months between chargidrue 3-in-1 solution with a keyboard, stand and
full protective cover, the patent-pending ZAGGfadkathe winner of multiple awards including the 202ES Innovations Design and Engineering
Showcase Honors. In fall of 2011, we expanded#@& Gfolio family to include 11 different colors,xires and patterns, including genuine

leather. In November 2012, the ZAGGfolio was naraemld winner of the Consumer Product of the Yatdhe Best in Biz Awards 2012

In November 2011, ZAGG launched the ZAGGkeys FLEBXprtable Bluetooth keyboard and stand. As indghi its name, the FLEX offers flexible
function for the two most popular tablet and sniaotpe operating systems; a switch on the keyboguglde between the Apple iOS and Android®.
The ZAGGkeys FLEX utilizes the same keyboard layamibur award-winning Logitech Keyboard Case by BA&hd ZAGGfolio, ensuring a true
typing experience. The ZAGGkeys FLEX includes &ua keyboard cover that easily converts into blstatand compatible with nearly any tablet or
smartphone. The ZAGGkeys FLEX was named an horairtree 2012 CES Innovations Design and Engines&Shmvcase.

In August 2012, ZAGG debuted the ZAGGkeys PRO™ BAGGkeys PRO Plus™ at IFA 2012 in Berlin, Germahlye ZAGGkeys Pro™ and
ZAGGkeys Pro Plus™ are ultra-thin Blueto6tkeyboard accessories that accentuate the utilidycanvenience of the Apple iPad. Different from the
original ZAGGkeys accessory, the ZAGGkeys PRO aR@Mlus utilize an innovative magnetic closuredouse the iPad, and protect the screen from
scratches and smudges. The patented keyboard dagdigth new products provides a natural typingegzigmce in a compact layout, with dedicated
function keys to operate specific iPad featuresddition, the ZAGGkeys PRO Plus features optitwaaklighting for full keyboard use without the
need for another light.

In October 2012, we launched the ZAGGkeys MINI @ @AGGkeys MINI 9, which features a durable foliesihned specifically around the iPad®
mini and highlighted with ZAGG's award-winning kedrd technology. The Bluetooth 3.0 keyboard ofZAB&Gkeys MINI 7 is custom designed to
fit the iPad mini, providing a feature-rich keybdavhile maintaining the small, compact size. Thez@keys MINI 9 offers a similar keyboard with a
carefully engineered layout to provide the sameisigaas ZAGG's traditional tablet keyboard. Bothesmsories in the ZAGGkeys MINI line feature
built-in stands to hold the tablet at an ideal \irepangle and special function keys to operatergggéPad mini features directly from the keyboard

In November 2012, ZAGG debuted the ZAGGkeys PROfatid ZAGGkeys PROfolio + . The ZAGGkeys PROfolial & ROfolio+ offer a complete
mobile experience for the iPad 2, iPad 3, or iPati¥ durable exterior provides a stylish case phatiects both the device and the keyboard from
dings and scratches. A clever magnetic closurerescbe iPad to the ZAGGkeys PROfolio and PROfglishich features the same innovative
keyboard technology, including the special functieys and carefully engineered spacing as ZAGG@uitional keyboard tablet. In addition, the
ZAGGkeys PROfolio+ features optional backlightimg full keyboard use without the need for anotligintl Three levels of backlighting are available
in seven colors: blue, dark blue, green, pur@d, yellow and white.
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Family of iFrogz Branded Products
Acquisition of iFrog:

On June 21, 2011, the Company, ReminderBand,dbe.jFrogz (“iFrogz”), and the owners of iFrogzesed into a Stock Purchase Agreement
pursuant to which ZAGG acquired 100% of the outditagn shares of iFrogz. The combination of ZAGG #dgz represented an opportunity to cr

a market leader in the mobile device accessorahssiny by building on complementary brands anddasing overall market share by growing product
lines and expanding distribution.

iFrogz was headquartered in Logan, Utah, prioh&dcquisition. iFrogz designs, produces, andibliges cases, Near-Field Audio™ amplifying
speakers, earbuds, traditional headphones, andchgdreadphones for mobile devices under the fanfillfrogz brands in the value-priced lifestyle
sector. Within the iFrogz brand are products solden the following brand names: iFrogz™, Earpotiof™, Caliber™, and Animatone™.

iFrogz Cases

iFrogz began in 2006 by initially creating protgeticases for Apple iPods with a unique combinatibfashion and quality that was received well by
the marketplace. Initially, all sales were onliR@wever, in early 2007, iFrogz began distributitggdase products through large retailers and began
more firmly establishing itself as a youth- andhiags-oriented brand. Since 2007, the iFrogz caeriofjs have expanded to include a wide array of
sleek and stylish cases for each new generatidpple iPod, iPhone, and iPad. During 2012, iFrogges became available for the Samsung Galaxy
ls.

In November 2012, ZAGG launched the iFrogz Vue Gast¢he Apple iPhone linélhe iFrogz Vue is a customizable case for the iHbat lets usel
combine their favorite pictures, prints or desigmsreate a unique, personalized, scraplsigle case. Its clear, durable case will not cokkrst or lint
going in and out of a purse or pocket. The Vueudesk the case itself, a camera hole-punch and &enjolr creating individual designs, and sample
patterns to help creative iPhone owners show eif ihdividual styles.

In December 2012, ZAGG launched the iFrogz GlazeeGar the Apple iPhone 5. The iFrogz Glaze isaqutive case for iPhone that combines
stylish color and design with a handy mirror, whéaving the camera and ports open and accesSibhdar to a compact, this new case is ideal for a
quick hair or makeup check. The mirror of the Glazkcated on a slim, hinged door that locks ®dhse, for a streamlined look when not in use.

iFrogz Audio

In the summer of 2007, iFrogz released its firg lof audio products under the Earpollution brarek eclectic selection of Earpollution™ earbuds
headphones specifically targets a younger audidntestill appeals to a wide demographic of congsn@ince the initial launch of the Earpollution™
audio products, iFrogz has continued to innovateexpanded its headphone and earbud product briesltde a large number of product offerings
for all ages under both the Earpollution and iFrbgends.

In February 2012, ZAGG launched the iFrogz Boost&pr under the iFrogz brand. The iFrogz Boostlggregllows users to amplify their device's
sound by simply placing their smartphone, or otterice equipped with an external speaker, on taheBoost. The Boost features patent-pending
audio technology to sync the external audio sigmal then amplify the sound through two high-qually x 2RMS speakers. No wires, cords,
Bluetooth or pairing configuration is needed.

In October 2012, ZAGG introduced the Boost Plusaurible iFrogz brand, a new iteration of its portaleixternal wireless speaker for smartphones anc
MP3 players. The Boost Plus allows consumers lttviihg spaces and outdoor entertainment areas mitsic by simply placing a sound-producing
mobile device on top of the speaker. Powered by{Redd Audio Technology™, the Boost Plus picksthe audio from a consumer's mobile device
and pumps it out of three high-quality 2W x 2RM&alers, eliminating the need for wires, cords @iimmaconfigurations. The Boost Plus was an
Innovations Design and Engineering Awards Honotekea2013 International Consumer Electronics Show.

In November 2012, ZAGG introduced the Animatone lof accessories designed for young children. fiti@li Animatone line offering includes
headphones and earbuds with playful styling andiodlirditing to protect developing ears. The Animgdine features child-friendly designs, and
animal-inspired images in a variety of bright celorcluding blue, red and green. Both versiondhese first Animatone audio accessories feature-buil
in volume boundaries to prevent the sound fromdainned louder than 85 decibels, which is equivate the level of an average telephone dial tone.

iFrogz Gaming

In August 2012, ZAGG released the Caliber brankdezfdset for gamers under the iFrogz brand at IFI® 20 Berlin, Germany. The Caliber line
provides outstanding design and sound quality foremium mobile, desktop or console gaming expegefhe Caliber Stealth gaming headset was
created specifically for mobile devices, while thaliber Axiom works with the most popular systems|uding Xbox®, PC, Mac, and PS3. Both
include in-line controls and accessories neededdme connections. Last in the Caliber seriehés\Manguard, which has been designed to include 7.1
channel audio, a retractable microphone, and aorggitbass vibration feature for fully immersivengjag. Viewing movies with Vanguard's 7.1
channel audio and bass vibration feature providésners with an authentic theater experience.
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iFrogz continues to innovate its audio and casduywrblines allowing it to remain ahead of the cuirvéhe electronic device accessory fashion market.

In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2012, empany made an important brand strategy adjusttoquiace greater emphasis on the promotion of
our core brands, ZAGG and iFrogz.

2013 International Consumer Electronics Show

The annual International Consumer Electronics S(O&S) provides the Company the opportunity to ihtice new creative product solutions to
market. At the 2013 CES, the Company introducedmaber of new case, earbud, headphone, and ganmidggis under the ZAGG and iFrogz brai
The Company considers the following to be new k&gpct offerings:

« iFrogz Caliber Advantage The Caliber Advantage is the first open developngamhing controller for the Apple iPhone or iPod douli
provides gamers with an enhanced constfe gaming experience that attaches directlyh&ir tApple iPhone 5 or iPod touch. The Cal
Advantage controls the action via the device's Bloth® connection, providing the lightnirfgst response needed for today's mobile gal
The dual slidesut analog controls of the gaming handset featactle, responsive keys, for a tight and accuramigg experience. Tl
Caliber Advantage incorporates the accelerometgufes of the iPhone while adding all of the begedf a traditional gaming controller. T
Caliber Advantage will also feature an integratiédium polymer battery offering 102 hours of continuous play without the need f
charge. The Caliber Advantage utilizes technoldgy ts specifically optimized for games developgdraustry leaders such as Epic Ga
and Epic's ChAIR Entertainment for the ultimatening experience. Industigading developers will have the ability to eagiliegrate ne
and existing game titles with the Caliber Advantageoprietary SDK. It is expected the Caliber Adtegge will be available in the secc
quarter of 2013

« ZAGG Origin Desktop SpeakerThe Origin desktop speaker is an innovative 2-ohesktop and portable Bluetoottgpeaker system, the fi
of its kind on the market. The small, portable &eegrovides users with crisp, high fidelity sowthe go and seamlessly transfers mus
the large desktop speaker when docked. The coniyinef the two speakers produces big, rofifimg sound with prominent bass. The sn
portable speaker also receives a charge to iteratthen docked in the desktop speaker. Powerfdioadrivers lets listeners turn up
volume as loud as they like without losing souratity or quality. It is expected the Origin will laailable in the spring of 201

« iFrogz Animatone Product SeriesThe Animatone product series is highlighted bildefriendly designs and animatspired images in
variety of bright colors. Both versions of the fisnimatone audio accessories — earbuds and headphofeature builta volume boundarie
to prevent the sound from being turned louder ®&mecibels, the equivalent of an average telepki@ieone. One of the newest additi
unveiled at CES 2013 is the Animatone Snug ™, Wwhicludes soft, durable, plush toys with front kets designed for the Apie
iPhone®, iPod®ouch and other handheld media devices. The AningaBnug line has a revolutionary and innovativeeless system call
NearFA technology, first introduced with the iFrdgaost™ line. Gadget users amplify a device's sdungimply placing a smartphone, V
player or other device equipped with an externabkpr into the front pocket of the Animatone Srgiging kids a fun and interactive way
listen to music or watch videos. At CES 2013, ikr@dso introduced the Animatone Tumble, a protectiase for the Apple iPad®he
Tumble holds the iPad in a strong, but lightweigtdtective case to provide peace of mind for parertien kids are using the family tak
The Tumble features a handle that allows easy icarfpr hands of all sizes and snaps out to becamadijustable stand for media view
from multiple angles

Strategy

At ZAGG, our focus is to (1) design creative prodsalutions for users of mobile devices, (2) dedise products to end-users through global
distribution partners and online, and (3) to becdneepreferred brand through the innovation andityuaf our products. The focus of our corporate,
team, and individual goals is to accomplish thisrall corporate strategy.

We will continue to expand our current product dffgs, including entering new product categoriesl entering new domestic and global markets
we believe will be consistent with our overall corate strategy.
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Design and Packaging

We design theinvisibleSHIELD product for application on thousamf specific electronic devices. We acquire raaterials from third party sourc
that are delivered to our facilities and assemdegackaging. In addition, we out-source the higume precision-cutting of the materials, which we
consider to be more cost effective. We then pagltag configured materials together with an inatalh kit consisting of a moisture adhesive-
activating solution, a squeegee, and instructiongpplication on specific electronic devices. #l& outsource some of these packaging processes t
independent third parties. We have establishedioelships with package assembly, shipping, anidtiog companies that allow us to expand our
production and shipping capacity as we continugr¢ov.

We also custom design each cutout for each eldctdmvice and currently have over 5,900 uniquegiesi The cutout designs are developed
internally and are owned exclusively by us. Wendbown the patent for the base materials, whidteld by the supplier. Our supplier has verbally
agreed to not sell the base materials to any otompetitors. We believe that our relationshighviite manufacturer of the raw material is on exct
terms and anticipate no interruption in our abitiyacquire adequate supplies of raw materialspaoduce products.

For all ZAGG and iFrogz products, we design thekpging to ensure it is consistent with the overarketing strategy and, as noted above, we
outsource the production of packaging to indepentherd parties.

We manufacture our other mobile device access(ecaeses, audio, keyboards, power solutions, and atteessories) using third party manufacturers.
We have established relationships with third-pamgnufacturers, package assembly, warehousing,isgipgnd logistics companies that allow us to
expand our production and shipping capacity asamtirgue to grow.

We developed our retail packaging with the inputnafor retailers to appeal to the consumer. Weltsigned the hard plastic and cardboard box
packaging to be informative and attractive for paifisale displays.

Market for Products

The portable electronic device market, notably atd devices, is continuing to see advancemergsriformance and functionality in existing
models. Furthermore, the market is expanding &eaeed by continued innovative new product releggarticularly in tablets and

smartphones. Correspondingly, the aestheticsalf davices are increasingly important as buyersdyly consider the look and feel of such devices,
as much as performance, in making their purchadéugsions.

As a result, an industry and significant market éxaerged for (1) protecting portable electronicides, notably the “high end” tablet and smartphone
devices — both in terms of price, and design/fumetiity, and (2) enhancing the consumer experignteaccessories for mobile electronic devices.

We sell each of our product lines directly via augbsites, and through our distributors and retitrgers, to consumers of electronic household and
hand-held devices. We sell a significant amourgrofiuct for use on Apple’s iPad, iPhone, and iBedces, though we have experienced continued
diversification as other manufacturers’ presendilémarket has increased. Market sources indibatehe tablet, smartphone, and overall mobile
device market will continue to increase in the acagrnyears. As this market continues to expand, ZAS@sitioned to grow as we execute our
corporate strategy.

In addition to Apple, the handheld electronics sty has continued to market and develop devicés twuch screen interfaces, and several major
manufacturers, including Samsung, Motorola, Micfgdoell, Lenovo, RIM and HTC continue to releasadvative products each year. The
invisibleSHIELD is the ideal device protection affey for all types of gadgets, in particular toustreen devices, as it does not interfere with the
functionality of the device while offering completeratchproof protection. Our keyboard produa imideal for tablet and smartphone users as the
product line includes keyboards that are both desjecific and device agnostic, which are compatith many tablet and smart phone devices. In
addition our ZAGGaudio and iFrogz Audio producebnoffer excellent enhancement to any mobile deWée will continue to focus our marketing
and innovation efforts around these types of prbdalutions that protect and enhance mobile devices

On April 7, 2011, we partnered with Logitech on B®@GGmate product and renamed it the Logitech Keyd&Case by ZAGG. Under the partnership
with Logitech, we receive a royalty payment forwlits sold. Currently, we have not entered intp similar arrangements for any other products.

As of the date of this report, we have not partdevith any manufacturers of electronic devicesundie our products with such devices on initiaés
or to include as part of the device, the applicatibour products. In the future, we may seek @archrrangement or an alternative co-marketing
agreement, but we have not entered into definitegotiations for such an arrangement at this time.
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Market Segments

With over 5,900 invisibleSHIELD products/producinéigurations available, we have a protective cavgfor all major market segments of handheld
electronic devices, including: iPods and othentri®IP3 players; tablets and notebook computersrtgshanes and cell phones; laptops; GPS de\
watch faces; and similar devices and surfaces.nféad to continue to configure the invisibleSHIEpE®duct for use in newly developed consumer
devices. The invisibleSHIELD can be quickly configd, packaged, and shipped to customers for neigatesas they enter the consumer marketplace,
making the invisibleSHIELD available for purchaseree time of or within days of the launch of neleatronic devices.

One of the fastest growing market segments isahlet and smartphone segment. Most often, smargphnd tablet buyers are drawn to these devices
by their elegant design, as well as their easys®{unctionality. However, everyday use often ntlaesfinish of the devices’ screen and other areas
that receive wear and tear. The invisibleSHIELE #frogz cases offer excellent device protectionilevnot impeding the form or functionality of the
smart phones and tablets, and do not inhibit thehtsensitivity for smartphones and tablets witittoscreen technology. Further, our keyboard line
provides an innovative solution to effectively irgtet with tablets and smartphones.

As sales of electronics continue to grow, we apéte that sales of our complementary accessoryptedvill continue to grow, as well. Four of the
largest areas of our market opportunities relatates of tablets, smart phones, MP3 players, @ihldcameras. According to public filings, over
32.4 million iPods, 135.8 million iPhones, and 6&iflion iPads were sold by Apple during 2012. akidition, industry sources project that the
worldwide global accessories market will increasenf an estimated $25.0 billion revenue industryirgu2012 to an estimated $50.0 billion industr
2016. Management believes that ZAGG is positiooesketve market needs within this industry with owitiple products lines that include protection,
audio, mobile power, and keyboard products.

Marketing and Distribution

We sell our products directly on our websites, itpbiox electronics retailers, to distributors, @amnbugh kiosk vendors in shopping malls and retail
centers. In addition, our products are availabtestle worldwide via our website and through tetaiand distributers we have partnered with fram
subsidiary in Shannon, Ireland. Currently we atiserour products primarily on the Internet, thrbugagazine adds, through print advertisements in
conjunction with our retail partners, and througlinp of sale displays at retail locations. We asoertise our products on television and radid bot
locally and nationally. We intend to strategicadlypand our advertising activities in 2013, paftdy at the time of a new product launch, although
there is no guarantee we will be able to achieeh sxpansion. We are also seeking to create gicgtartnerships with makers of cellular phone
devices and electronic accessories.

Indirect Channels

We sell our products through indirect channelsudiig big box retailers, domestic and internatiatisiributors, independent Apple retailers,
university bookstores, and small independently ahecensumer electronics stores. For the year eDéedmber 31, 2012, we sold approximately
$216.0 million of product through these indirecanhels, or approximately 82% of our overall negsdbr 2012. We require indirect channel partners
to enter into a reseller agreement with us.

We continue to sell directly to retailers or throuwgjstributors to market and place our productsséde in the United States and abroad. We have
entered into distribution agreements for many gaplgic locations including the United States, CanduaUnited Kingdom, Ireland, Spain, France,
Australia, Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia, South KoreaxiMe, Japan, Germany, Sweden, the NetherlandsSanth America for the marketing,
distribution and sale of our products.

Website Sales

We sell our products worldwide directly to consugnen our websites at www.ZAGG.caand_ www.iFrogz.com For the year ended December 31,
2012, we sold approximately $33.4 million of protian our website, or approximately 13% of our ollerat sales for 2012. The URL is included h
as an inactive textual reference. Information ciotd on, or accessible through, our website igaat of, and is not incorporated by reference it
Report

Mall Kiosk Vendors

We sell our products to kiosk vendors in shopping malls andireenters. We enter into agreements with sucliees who purchase the products
resell them to consumers. For the year ended DeeeBl, 2012, we sold approximately $15.0 millidprduct, or approximately 5% of our overall
net sales for 2012, through our corporate owned caats and to licensed cart owners. The thirdyp&ensed cart owners are required to enteranto
standard license and resale agreement with us imhgescharge an upfront license fee that is reaaghinto revenue over the life of the license. For
the year ended December 31, 2012, we recogniz@dn§illion related to these license agreements.
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Company Organization

Our operations are divided into two operating gooudAGG and iFrogz. Within ZAGG and iFrogz, we arganized as follows: sales and marketing,
which includes the development and maintenanceioivebsites; customer service; operations; prodeeelopment and management; and genere
administration functions.

Warranties

We offer a lifetime guaranty of the durability afiro invisibleSHIELD products. If the invisibleSHIELB iever scratched or damaged (in the course of
normal use), a customer simply needs to send tec&ltl product and we will replace it for free. elproducts that the invisibleSHIELD is applied to,
typically have relatively short lives which helgslimit our exposure for warranty claims. For puots that contain electronic components, the
Company offers a one-year manufacturer’s warrantykl the product cease to function properly duthegfirst year.

Intellectual Property Rights

ZAGG [through its wholly-owned subsidiary, ZAGG dfiectual Property Holding Company, Inc. (“ZAGG )Pdwns utility and design patents in the
U.S. and in various foreign countries which cormegpto a number of its products, including patevita claims focused on certain features of ZAGG’
invisibleSHIELD® protective films for electronic diees and patents. ZAGG continues to actively peifsirther protection for its invisibleSHIELD®
protective films and associated methods in theddinBtates and in foreign countries, having filettpiapplications for (i) durable transparent films
that cover and protect all of the outer surfacesooisumer electronic devices; (ii) both wet andajvplication processes for securing protectivedito
consumer electronic devices; and (iii) dry-applmatprotective films. In addition, ZAGG has fileghplications, and in some instances secured patent:
for a variety of its protective cases and keybgaatiucts. ZAGG has additional patents pendingpénU.S and internationally for a variety of current
and expected products.

ZAGG owns more than 5,900 invisibleSHIELD proteetfilm designs for protecting a variety of consurakectronic devices. New designs are
routinely added to ZAGG'’s portfolio to accommodtte newest electronic devices on the market. ZA@&filed design applications in the United
States and in many foreign countries to protectesohits most popular designs, and has receiveidml@sotection form a number of jurisdictions.

Additionally and as described in detail below, ZA@&Ghe owner of numerous trademarks for use imeotion with its goods and services. ZAGG
has filed formal applications for a variety of teadarks, and has further secured trademark registsaor many of its trademarks in both the U.S1 an
in foreign countries.

ZAGG has strategically developed relationships @fiteh exclusive agreements with a number of thadypvendors and suppliers. ZAGG’s long-
standing relationship with its raw material supgiand its manufacturers expands the scope of filtertellectual property protection available to
ZAGG, including development of innovative solutidios protective films. These exclusive relationshiiso provide ZAGG with a reasonable
expectation that it will be able to supply custosneith products long into the future.

ZAGG regularly files patent and trademark applimasi to protect its inventions, designs and tradksakhile ZAGG believes that the ownership of
intellectual property is important to its businemsd that its success is based in part upon theiship of intellectual property rights, ZAGG'’s sass
is also based upon creative product solutionsphsiténg the preferred brand amount both retaiders consumers, and targeted global distribution.

Patents
ZAGG is the owner of the following U.S. Patents.

« U.S. Pat. No. 7,957,524, titleProtective Covering for an Electronic Devi. This patent provides ZAGG with exclusive pateghts in the
field of protective coverings and systems and naghfor covering mobile electronic devices with thgrotective films. (This patent
currently the subject of a reexamination proceedtiefpre the United States Patent and Trademark&)ffi

« U.S. Pat. No. 7,389,869 titlddisplay Protective Film Application Kitand U.S. Patent No. 7,784,610 titlebtective Film Application K
and Method These patents provide ZAGG with exclusive patigtits in the field of kits and methods for applyiprotective films to mobi
electronic devices.

« U.S. Patent No. D607,875 titléteadset with Earphones Configured for Connectioklextronic Device

« U.S. Patent No. D676,031, titi&totective Cover for a Mobile Computing Device.
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« U.S. Patent No.

« U.S. Patent No.

U.S. Patent No.

U.S. Patent No.

U.S. Patent No.

»« U.S. Patent No.

D656,134, titlddtenna Insulator for Mobile Telephone Edges

D659,139, titl€totective Cover, Including Keyboard, for Mobiler@puting Device
D672,352, titl&lpport Element of a Protective Cover for a Mokitamputing Device.
D671,541, titléekeyboard for Portable Electronic Device.

D673,574, titl&brtable Keyboard.

D676,853, titl&lpport for Portable Electronic Device.

ZAGG is also the owner of certain issued desigfsteggions in one or more of the following foreigmisdictions. Argentina, Australia, Brazil,
Canada, China, European Community, Hong Kong, |nldipan, Mexico, Russian Federation and South Korea

ZAGG has additional pending U.S. and foreign desiga utility patent applications with subject matt&#ected toward a variety of its innovations,
including protective film products, keyboard protijspeaker products and mobile electronic gameaters. Many of these applications have not

yet published.

Trademarks

ZAGG is the owner of the following U.S. trademanksich are registered in the U.S. Patent and Tradle®ffice.

« Shield Design, Reg. No. 3,923,393

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Reg. No. 3,825,458
« ZAGG, Reg. No. 3,838,237

« EARPOLLUTION, Reg. No. 3,744,4C

« MYFROGZ, Reg. No. 3,813,7:

« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 3,309,3:

« SHIELDZONE, Reg. No. 4,096,4:2

« ZAGGMATE, Reg. No. 4,128,442

« ZAGGFOLIO, Reg. No. 4,128,444

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 4,137,585

« INVISIBLE SHIELD, Reg. No. 4,140,986
« IFROGZ, Reg. No. 4,122,465

« IFROGZ (and design), Reg. No. 4,126,192
« EARPOLLUTION, Reg. No. 4,122,478

. LUXE, Reg. No.

4,129,356

o ZAGGKEYS, Reg. No. 4,193,647

« FLEX, Reg. No.

4,193,657

« ZAGGKEYS FLEX, Reg. No. 4,193,661

« MILITARY GRADE (and design), Reg. No. 4,197,512
« NANO-MEMORY TECHNOLOGY (and design), Reg. No. 4,197,517
« SHIELDZONE, Reg. No. 4,197,8(

« STICKIT TO YOUR DEVICE, Reg. No. 4,203,7:

« ZAGGSPARQ, Reg. No. 4,217,9°

« ZAGG, Reg. No. 4,258,130

« ZAGG (and design), Reg. No. 4,264,984

« EARPOLLUTION (and design), Reg. No. 4,267,232
« Frog Design, Reg. No. 4,122,466

« Soundwave Design, Reg. No. 4,139,738

ZAGG has filed the following U.S. Trademark Applicas, which are pending in the U.S. Patent andi@meark Office.

« ORIGIN, App. No. 85/762,571
« 360° SCREEN SECURITY (and design), App. No. 85/818,
« ANIMATONE, App. No. 85/687,979

. CALIBER, App.

No. 85/734,814

« Z (and design), App. No. 85/111,785
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Many of the U.S. registered trademarks listed alareealso pending or registered in one or moré®fallowing foreign jurisdictions. Argentina,
Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Colomiiiaropean Community, Hong Kong, India, Indonesiegdk Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, Norway,
Russian Federation, South Korea, Switzerland, &hdil Turkey and Venezuela.

ZAGG also claims common law trademark rights inth8. to each of the trademarks listed above akaséb the following marks: SHIELD SPRA
ZAGGFOAM, ZAGGWIPES, ZEALOUS ABOUT GREAT GADGETS AGGSKINS, ZAGGAUDIO, ZAGGSPARQ, ZAGGSMARTBUDS,
ZAGGAQUABUDS, SPORTLEATHER, ZAGGBAG DIVIDE, IN-EARBLISS, ZAGG ZEALOTS, ENHANCING AND PROTECTING THE
MOBILE EXPERIENCE, REFLECTIVE ACOUSTICS, ZR-SIX, ZRC, ZR-T, and ZR-LE.

Government Regulations

Our operations are subject to various federalestad local employee workplace protection regutetiocluding those of the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration (“OSHA”"). We believe that cpirance with federal OSHA regulations, as well desand local work-place protection
regulations, will not have a material adverse eféecour capital expenditures, earnings and conipetand financial position. Although we believe
that our worker and employee safety procedureadeguate and in compliance with law, we cannot detaly eliminate the risk of injury to our
employees, or the possibility that we may occasipnanintentionally, be out of compliance with djggble law. In such event, we could be liable for
damages or fines or both.

Employees

We have 237 full-time employees and 36 part-timpleyees, including our management team. We ha@eeg®loyees in the United States and
Ireland that support the ZAGG operating segmewtuiting 24 employees employed on an hourly or paré-basis at our retail cart/kiosk locations
addition, we have 37 employees in the Logan, Utibeothat support our iFrogz operating segmendluding 12 hourly or part-time employees. No
employee is represented by a labor union, and we haver suffered an interruption of business ahbydabor disputes. We believe our relationship
with our employees is good.

Our Corporate History

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Ap2a®4, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterprise$'BE"). On February 8, 2007, AKE
executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Blefgrreement”) by and between AKE and its whollyned subsidiary, SZC Acquisition, Inc., a
Nevada corporatior‘Subsidiary”) on the one hand, and ShieldZone Capon, a Utah corporation (“ShieldZone”) on theethand. Pursuant to the
Merger Agreement, ShieldZone merged with Subsidiaith ShieldZone surviving the merger and Subsid@easing to exist (the “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateNevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 2@heldZone was merged into AKE and
AKE changed its name to ZAGG Incorporated. As altesf these transactions, the historical finanstatements of ZAGG Incorporated are the
historical financial statements of ShieldZone. Tikeal year end of the Company is December 31.

We changed our name from ShieldZone CorporatidAGG Incorporated (later to ZAGG Inc) to better jios the company to become a large
enterprise in the electronics’ accessories indubligyugh organic growth and through making targeteglisitions. The ShieldZone name was very
specific to the invisibleSHIELD product line, anithaugh the invisibleSHIELD® is a core product, themme change has brought us the opportunity to
easily add new products to our product offeringriby 2011, we changed our name from ZAGG Incorpatdad ZAGG Inc.

On June 21, 2011, ZAGG acquired 100% of the oudétgnshares of iFrogz, which further diversifie@ #ixisting ZAGG product line, particularly for
audio and protective case accessories under tipolitdion and Frogz brand names.

ZAGG will continue to search out other complimegtaroven products and companies that fit the ZAG@&wgh strategy.
Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced increastdales in its fourth fiscal quarter comparedtter quarters in its fiscal year due to increased
holiday seasonal demand. This historical patteaukhnot be considered a reliable indicator of@menpany’s future sales or financial performance.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Because of the following factors, as well as ofaetors affecting the Company’s financial conditemmd operating results, past financial performance
should not be considered to be a reliable indicatduture performance, and investors should nethistorical trends to anticipate results or treinds
future periods.

Risks Related to our Financial Conditio

If we are unable to maintain our term loan and lineof credit facility, we could face a deficiency irour short term cash needs that would
negatively impact our business.

On December 7, 2012, the Company and Wells Fargd,Béational Association (“Wells Fargo”), enterexda a two-year, $84.0 million credit facility
(“Credit Agreement”) consisting of a $24.0 millicerm loan (“Term Loan”) and a $60.0 million revaigiline of credit (“Line of Credit”), which Line
of Credit includes a letter of credit sub-featurattallows the Company to issue standby commeedias of credit against the Line of Credit, rmt t
exceed at any time an aggregate of $10.0 milliamoADecember 31, 2012, the Company had an ouis@gbdlance of $24.0 million on the Term
Loan and an outstanding balance of $22.2 milliothenLine of Credit.

The Term Loan requires quarterly payments of $21om payable on the first day of each quarter coemcing on April 1, 2013, and continuing up to
and including October 1, 2014. A final installmgatyment consisting of the remaining unpaid balascikie on December 1, 2014. A mandatory
principal payment of $0.5 million is required faah fiscal quarter in which total liabilities taggible net worth (as those terms are defined in the
Credit Agreement) exceeds 1.50 to 1.00, commengitigthe Company’s fiscal quarter ending Decemider2®12. At December 31, 2012, no
mandatory principal payment was required.

Borrowings and repayments under the Line of Crediy occur from time to time in the Company’s orajneourse of business from December 7,
2012, through December 1, 2014. Any outstandirrgovongs under the Line of Credit mature and are da December 1, 2014.

Attached to the Credit Agreement are a numbemafiftial and non-financial debt covenants. If weramecompliant with the covenants, Wells Fargo
may decide to limit our ability to access the renmd credit facility. In such event, our shaeetrm cash requirements may exceed available cablarwl
resulting in material adverse consequences to asiness.

The restrictive covenants contained in our Credit Rcility may limit our activities.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreement wereisgt by all or substantially all of the Companyssets and the majority of the equity in foreign
subsidiaries Under the Credit Agreement we are subject toifipda@ffirmative covenants customary for loangho$ type, including but not limited
the obligations to maintain adequate accountingraerin accordance with US generally accepted atewyprinciples (“US GAAP”); preserve and
maintain all licensees, permits, and other govemaieompliance; maintain adequate insurance; erfswilities are kept in good repair; maintain our
principal depository bank account with Wells Fargmvide various notices to the Wells Fargo; anivdefinancial statements to Wells Fargo. We
also subject to certain negative covenants custpiatoans of this type, including but not limitéal prohibitions against certain mergers and
acquisitions, pledging assets collateralized utideCredit Agreement, making financial or otherrgméees, certain management and ownership
changes, the imposition of additional liens onateltal or other of our assets, and prohibitionsregadditional indebtedness.

Failure to comply with the restrictive covenant®ir term loan could accelerate the repayment pidabt outstanding under the Credit Agreement.
Additionally, as a result of these restrictive coaets, we may be at a disadvantage compared twooypetitors that have greater operating and
financing flexibility than we do.

Our level of indebtedness reduces our financial fiebility and could impede our ability to operate.

The Credit Agreement requires us to pay a variedike of interest, which will increase or decreaasdol on variations in certain financial indexes.
Additionally, fluctuations in interest rates cagrsficantly decrease our profits. We do not have laedge or similar contracts that would protect us
against changes in interest rates.

The amount of our indebtedness could have impodaméequences for us, including the following:

* requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion wf cash flow from operations to make payments ondamlbt, thereby reducing fur
available for operations, future business oppotiesand other purpose

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the industihioh we operate

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our detibligations, as any failure to comply with sucHigditions, including financial and ott
restrictive covenants, could result in an eventdefault under the Credit Agreement, which coulddléa, among other things,
acceleration of our indebtedness or foreclosurthefcollateral, which could have a material advef§ect on our business or finant
condition;

limiting our ability to borrow additional funds, do sell assets to raise funds, if needed, for wgrlcapital, capital expenditur
acquisitions or other purposes; ¢

increasing our vulnerability to general adverseneooic and industry conditions, including changemiarest rates
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We may not generate sufficient cash flow from oplens to service and repay our debt and relateidatibns and have sufficient funds left over to
achieve or sustain profitability in our operationget our working capital and capital expenditigeds or compete successfully in our industry, which
would have a material adverse effect on our oparati

Risks Related to our Company and Busine¢

Because sales of consumer electronic accessories @éependent on new products, product development drconsumer acceptance, we could
experience sharp decreases in our sales and prdfitargin if we are unable to continually introduce nev products and achieve consumer
acceptance.

The consumer and mobile electronics accessory frnidsisire subject to constantly and rapidly chaggionsumer preferences based on performance
features and industry trends. We generate alupSales from our consumer and mobile electronécessories business. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to continue to grow the revenueswfbusiness or maintain profitability. Our comsr accessories business depends, to a large ¢
on the introduction and availability of innovatipeoducts and technologies. Significant sales ofppaducts in the niche consumer electronic
accessories market have fueled the recent grontirbusiness. We believe that our future succéssl@pend in large part upon our ability to
enhance our existing products and to develop, dioire, and market new products and improvementartexisting products.

However, if we are not able to continually innovatel introduce new products that achieve consuntaptance, our sales and profit margins may
decline. Our revenues and profitability will depesrdour ability to maintain existing and generaldiional customers and develop new products. A
reduction in demand for our existing products wcdidee a material adverse effect on our business stibtainability of current levels of our business
and the future growth of such revenues, if anyl #épend on, among other factors:

the overall performance of the economy and dismnetly consumer spendir
competition within key market

continued customer acceptable of our prodt

customer acceptance of newly developed productk

the demand for other products and servi

We cannot provide assurance that we will maintaimarease our current level of revenues or prdfdm sales from the consumer and mobile
electronics accessories in future periods.

While we are pursuing and will continue to pursuedoict development opportunities, there can bessarance that such products will come to frui

or become successful. Furthermore, while a numbtirose products are being tested, we cannot pecsity definite date by which they will be
commercially available. We cannot provide assurdhatthese products will prove to be commercigible. We may experience operational
problems with such products after commercial intidtbn that could delay or defeat the ability oflsyproducts to generate revenue or operating
profits. Future operational problems could increasecosts, delay our plans or adversely affectreputation or our sales of other products whigh, i
turn, could have a material adverse effect on nocess and our ability to satisfy our obligationg cannot predict which of the many possible future
products will meet evolving industry standards andsumer demands. We cannot provide assurance¢hatl!l be able to adapt to such technological
changes, offer such products on a timely basistabéish or maintain a competitive position.

Because we face intense competition, including comiition from companies with significantly greater resources than ours, if we are unable to
compete effectively with these companies, our marksehare may decline and our business could be harme

Our market is highly competitive with numerous ceatifprs. Some of our competitors may have substiytjreater financial, technical, marketing,
and other resources than we possess, which mayl dffem competitive advantages over us. As atesul competitors may introduce products that
have advantages over our products in terms of fesitfunctionality, ease of use, and revenue piaduymtential. They may also have more fully
developed sales channels for consumer sales ingludige retail seller arrangements and internatidistribution capabilities. In addition, new
companies may enter the markets in which we compatier increasing competition in the consumecebnics accessories industry. Increased
competition may result in price reductions, redupsegfit margins, loss of market share and an ifighib generate cash flows that are sufficient to
maintain or expand our development and marketingeaf products, which would adversely impact ouafiicial performance.

Because we are dependent on third party sources &zquire sufficient quantities of raw materials to poduce our products, any interruption in
those relationships could harm our results of opergons and our revenues.
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We acquire substantially all of our raw materialattwe use in our products from a limited numbesugpliers. Accordingly, we can give no assurance
that:

our supplier relationships will continue as prebeint effect,

our suppliers will not become competitc

our suppliers will be able to obtain the componemtisessary to produce h-quality, technologicall-advanced products for L

we will be able to obtain adequate alternativesuiosupply sources should they be interrup

if obtained, alternatively sourced products of Hatitory quality would be delivered on a timely isagompetitively priced, comparal
featured or acceptable to our customers,

L] our suppliers have sufficient financial resourcefutfill their obligations.

Our inability to supply sufficient quality and gqudies of products that are in demand could redugeprofitability and have a material adverse dffec
on our relationships with our customers. If ourpdigy relationship was terminated or interrupteé, @ould experience an immediate or long-term
supply shortage, which could have a material a@veffect on our business.

Because we do not internally develop the technolodgr a number of our key products, including the irvisibleSHIELD, the impact of
technological advancements may cause price erosiand adversely impact our profitability and inventory value.

Because we do not internally develop the technofoga number of our key products, including theisibleSHIELD, we cannot provide assurance
that we will be able to source technologically athed products in order to remain competitive. Fenrtiore, the introduction or expected introduction
of new products or technologies may depress sélesisting products and technologies. This may lteswdeclining prices and inventory
obsolescence. Because we maintain a substantegdtiment in product inventory, declining prices anantory obsolescence could have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial result

Our estimates of excess and obsolete inventorypmawe to be inaccurate, in which case the netzablé value for excess and obsolete inventory may
be understated or overstated. Although we makeyeféort to ensure the accuracy of our forecaéfsitore product demand, any significant
unanticipated changes in demand or technologicaldpments could have a significant impact on thiee of our inventory and operating results.

There can be no guarantee that we will be able tocpand into additional complementary product lines o to continue to configure our products
to match new products or devices.

Although we anticipate expanding into additionaingdementary product lines to provide support tositaitegy to provide creative product solutior
mobile device users, there can be no guaranteevthatill be successful in innovating and expandirtg additional product lines. Numerous factors,
including market acceptance, finding and retairdagtract partners that are acceptable to ZAGG gameéral market and economic conditions, could
prevent us from participating in these complemsnpeioduct lines, which could limit our ability tsmplement our business strategy.

Similarly, although we intend to continue to config the invisibleSHIELD, keyboards, cases, andrgiheduct lines for new products and devices,
there can be no guarantee that we will be abl@herematch the demand for our products as newcdsvand products are introduced, or that
purchasers of such devices and products will waputchase our products for use in connection thig#m. Any limitation in our ability to match
demand or gain market acceptance of our produasrinection with new devices and products coulcetematerial adverse effect on our business.

If we fail to maintain proper inventory levels, our business could be harmed.

We produce our key products prior to the time weeiee customers’ purchase orders. We do this tanmige purchasing costs, the time necessary to
fill customer orders, and the risk of non-delivedpwever, we may be unable to sell the producthaxes produced in advance. Inventory levels in
excess of customer demand may result in inventoiteswlowns, and the sale of excess inventory afodisted prices could significantly impair our
brand image and have a material adverse effecuppperating results and financial condition. Casedy, if we underestimate demand for our
products or if we fail to produce the quality protiuthat we require at the time we need them, weenperience inventory shortages. Inventory
shortages might delay shipments to customers, imegiaimpact distributor relationships, and dimimigrand loyalty.

Mobile electronic devices typically have relativelyort life cycles. We may be left with obsoleteantory if we do not accurately project the lifele

of different mobile electronic devices. The chargssociated with reserving slow-moving or obsdletentory as a result of not accurately estimating
the useful life of mobile electronics could negalwimpact the value of our inventory and operatiesults.
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As we continue to grow our business, increased sal® indirect customers may put pressure on our giss profit margins.

Sales of products through indirect customers tyflyicasult in increased sales volume, but at lomeargins than sales directly to end customers made
on our websites. As the Company expands and ca#itougrow existing relationships with indirecttrunsers, increases in sales to our indirect
customers likely will adversely impact our grossffirmargins. Accordingly, there is no assurarie tve will continue to recognize similar gross
profit margins in the future to those currentlyrizggrealized.

As we continue to grow our business, entrance inttew and complimentary product lines may put pressug on our gross profit margins.

We anticipate expanding into additional complemegnpaoduct lines to provide support to our strategyprovide creative product solutions to mobile
device users. However, there can be no guararaéedles of products through new product lines egtiur at or above the gross profit margins we
have historically realized. Accordingly, there s assurance that we will continue to recognizelaingiross profit margins in the future to those
currently being realized.

The Company has contractual rights customary in théndustry to use its Internet addresses, but if thee rights were lost, the loss could have a
material effect on the Company’s financial positiorand results from operations.

The Company has protected the right to use itsriateaddresses to the extent possible, and the @oyrgpes not expect to lose its rights to use the
Internet addresses. However, there can be noaas=in this regard, and such loss could have arfabadverse effect on the Company’s financial
position and results of operations.

Because we are dependent for our success on key@r@ve officers, our inability to retain these offcers would impede our business plan and
growth strategies, which would have a negative imm& on our business and the value of your investment

Our success depends on the skills, experience enficrmance of key members of our management tealmdimg Randy Hales, our President and
CEO; and Brandon T. O'Brien, our CFO. Although vearéd employment agreements with Mr. Hales and MBrigh, were we to lose one or more of
these key executive officers, we would be forcedxpend significant time and money in the pursbid ceplacement, which would result in both a
delay in the implementation of our business plashthe diversion of working capital. We can give yauassurance that we could find satisfactory
replacements for these key executive officerslababn terms that would not be unduly expensivbwdensome to the Company. Although we
routinely issue equity-based compensation to dttmagd retain employees, such incentives may nsulficient to attract and retain key personnel.

Two of our retailers, Best Buy and Walmart, accounfor a significant amount of our net sales, and théoss of, or reduced purchases from, the:
or other retailers could have a material adverse é&ct on our operating results.

In 2012, Best Buy and Walmart accounted for 32% Ht#b, respectively of our net sales. We do noeHamgierm contracts with any of our retaile
including Best Buy and Walmart, and all of our flet® generally purchase from us on a purchaser tvakss. As a result, these retailers generally,
with little or no notice or penalty, cease orderéngl selling our products, or materially reducertbeders. If certain retailers, including BestyBar
Walmart, ceased to sell our products, to slow tree of purchase of our products, or to decrdas@tamber of products they purchase, our results of
operations would be adversely affected.

We may be adversely affected by the financial contitbn of our retailers and distributors.

Some of our retailers and distributors have expegd financial difficulties in the past. A retailerdistributor experiencing such difficulties will
generally not purchase and sell as many of ourymtsdas it would under normal circumstances and caagel orders. In addition, a retailer or
distributor experiencing financial difficulties gemally increases our exposure to uncollectibleiveddes. We extend credit to our retailers and
distributors based on our assessment of their ¢iahnondition, generally without requiring colleaé While such credit losses have historicallyrbee
within our estimated reserves for allowances fat #abts, we cannot assure that this will contirueet the case. Financial difficulties on the padur
retailers or distributors could have a materialeade effect on our results of operations and fiigmondition. As of December 31, 2012, Best Buy
accounted for 56% of accounts receivable, whicloactis presently being paid on terms satisfactonys.

If we fail to attract, train and retain sufficient numbers of our qualified personnel, our prospectshusiness, financial condition and results of
operations will be materially and adversely affecte.

Our success depends to a significant degree upoability to attract, retain and motivate skillenidaqualified personnel. Failure to attract andireta
necessary technical personnel, sales and markatirspnnel and skilled management could adverstdgtadur business. If we fail to attract, train and
retain sufficient numbers of these highly qualiffggbple, our prospects, business, financial cam@ind results of operations will be materially and
adversely affected.
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If our products contain defects, our reputation cold be harmed and our results of operations adversglaffected.

Some of our products may contain undetected deflertgo imperfections in the underlying base malgised in production or manufacturing defe
The occurrence of defects or malfunctions couldltés financial losses for our customers and imtucrease warranty claims from our customers
diversion of our resources. Any of these occurrsrcrild also result in the loss of or delay in reddcceptance of our products and loss of sales.

Because we experience seasonal and quarterly fluetions in demand for our products, no one quarters indicative of our results of operations
for the entire fiscal year.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate quarter to tpraas a result of market acceptance of our pradtive sales mix, changes in pricing, the timing of
inventory write downs, changes in the cost of malgrthe use of airfreight to transport produtis, incurrence of other operating costs and factors
beyond our control, such as general economic dondiand actions of competitors. We are also &by seasonal buying cycles of consumers, such
as the holiday season, and the introduction of pemonsumer electronics, such as a new introdaatfgroducts from Apple, HTC, Samsung, RIM,
and others. Accordingly, the results of operatiornsny quarter will not necessarily be indicatofehe results that may be achieved for a fulldisc

year or any future quarter.

Because we have limited protection on the intellea&l property underlying our products, we may not beable to protect our products from the
infringement of others or may be prevented from maketing our products.

We do not own proprietary rights with respect te fim we use in our invisibleSHIELD products. Howee, we have protected key proprietary design
and utility elements of other products through pegeln addition, we own and keep confidentialdlesign configurations of the film and the product
cut designs which are our copyrights. We seek ¢tept our intellectual property rights through ddehtiality agreements with our employees,
consultants and partners, and domestic and fopggnNt prosecution and similar means. Howeverssarance can be given that such measures will
be sufficient to protect our intellectual properights or that the intellectual property rightsttixee have are sufficient to protect other persoosif
creating and marketing substantially similar pradutf we cannot protect our rights, we may lose@mpetitive advantage. Moreover, if it is
determined that our products infringe on the ietdlial property rights of third parties, we maypbevented from marketing our products.

Claims relating to the infringement of third-papsoprietary rights, even if not meritorious, coutdult in costly litigation, divert management'’s
attention and resources, or require us to eithierémto royalty or license agreements which areaglvantageous to us or pay material amounts of
damages. In addition, parties making these clamag be able to obtain an injunction, which coulevent us from selling our products.

We face potential class action and derivative lawsts and other potential liabilities that could mateially adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We have been, are currently, and may in the futerthe subject of various lawsuits and proceedimgsSeptember 2012, we and certain of our cu
and former officers and directors were named aerdizints in two putative class action lawsuitEhe plaintiffs in the putative class action laws
claim that as a result of Mr. Pedersen's allegeckBéer 2011 margin account sales, the defendaititgeéd a succession plan to replace Mr. Ped:
as our CEO with Mr. Hales, but failed to disclogtber the succession plan or Mr. Pedersen's magiount sales, in violation of Sections 10(b), 1,
and 20(a), and SEC Rules 10b-5 and 94ander the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Aaldlly, in December 2012, the first of three steide
derivative actions was filed against several of ourrent and former officers and directors. Theselplaints make allegations similar to th
presented in the putative class action lawsuitstHRy also assert various state law causes afmgdticluding claims for breach of fiduciary dutyaste
of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, and indideting. In the fourth quarter of 2012, we reeéivrequests to provide documentation
information to the staff of the SEC in connectioithwa non-public investigation being conducted by SECS Salt Lake City office. The Compe
believes the investigation includes a review of filiets and circumstances surrounding some of three Sasues raised by the plaintiffs in the at
lawsuits; specifically, whether the Company faiteddisclose Mr. Pedersen's margin account saléseoalleged existence of a plan to have Mr.
succeed Mr. Pedersen as our CEO. The Companynésgdo these requests and is cooperating fully thi¢é staff. See "ltem Begal Proceeding
for more information about these matters. Givenstage of these lawsuits and the SEC investigatienare unable to assess or quantify with
certainty their outcome, timing or potential costsdefending and ultimately resolving these mattere may be required to pay amounts in exce
any insurance, divert management's attention froendperation of our business or change our busipesgices, any of which could materi
adversely affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations, liquidity and, consequeritig trading price of our common stock.

The lawsuits and SEC investigation are in theityestages, and, therefore, we are unable to préuécbutcome of the lawsuits or the SEC investim
and the possible loss or range of loss, if anyg@ated with their resolution or any potential effethey may have on our operations. Moreover, the
outcome and amount of resources needed to deferdae the lawsuits and the investigation areeaiptable and may remain unknown for long
periods of time. In addition, the plaintiffs magek recovery of very large damage awards that cexdded any insurance that may be available to us.
Our exposure under these matters will also inclugeindemnification obligations, to the extent wavé any, to current and former officers and
directors against losses incurred in connectiosdhmatters, including reimbursement of legal fAéthough we maintain insurance for claims of this
nature, our insurance coverage may be denied officient to cover the costs related to the puatilass action lawsuits or the investigation. In
addition, these matters or future lawsuits or itigesions involving us may increase our insuraneerpums, deductibles or co-insurance requirements
or otherwise make it more difficult for us to maiimt or obtain adequate insurance coverage on atdegerms, if at all. Moreover, adverse publicity
associated with these lawsuits or the investigadiwh negative developments in these proceedindd dearease customer demand for our products.
As a result, the pending lawsuits and investigasind any future lawsuits or investigations invotyims or our officers or directors could have a
material adverse effect on our business, reputgfileancial condition, results of operations, ahd trading price of our common stock.

The current economy is affecting consumer spendingatterns, which could adversely affect our business

Consumer spending patterns, especially discretyosending for products such as mobile, consumeiaanessory electronics, are affected by, among
other things, prevailing economic conditions, egergsts, raw material costs, wage rates, inflatiierest rates, consumer debt, consumer confidence
and consumer perception of economic conditionseegal slowdown in the U.S. and certain internati@ronomies, or an uncertain economic
outlook could have a material adverse effect onsales and operating resu



The disruptions in the national and internatioreremmies and financial markets since 2008 anddlaged increases in unemployment are depressing
consumer confidence and spending. If such conditpmrsist, consumer spending will likely declingtier and this would have an adverse effect on
our business and our results of operations.

If we are unable to effectively manage our growthour operating results and financial condition willbe adversely affected.

We intend to grow our business by expanding owssaldministrative, and marketing organizationsy &rowth in or expansion of our business is
likely to continue to place a strain on our managenand administrative resources, infrastructund,information systems. As with other growing
businesses, we expect that we will need to refimeexpand our business development capabilitigssy@iems and processes, and our access to
financing sources. We also will need to hire, traimpervise, and manage new employees. These pesca® time consuming and expensive, will
increase management responsibilities and will diwemagement attention. We provide assurance thatillvbe able to:

expand our systems effectively or efficiently omitimely manner

allocate our human resources optima

meet our capital need

identify and hire qualified employees or retainuesl employees; ¢

incorporate effectively the components of any besénor product line that we may acquire in ourretfmachieve growtt
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If our competitors misappropriate our proprietary k now-how and trade secrets, it could have a materiadverse effect on our business.

We depend heavily on the expertise of our prodadgam. If any of our competitors copies or otheeagains access to similar products
independently, we might not be able to competdfastévely. The measures we take to protect ouigissmay not be adequate to prevent their
unauthorized use. Further, the laws of foreign tdesmay provide inadequate protection of sucélliettual property rights. We have brought and in
the future may need to bring legal claims to erdarcprotect such intellectual property rights. Aitigation, whether successful or unsuccessfulil@
result in substantial costs and diversions of recsesi

If any of our facilities were to experience catastphic loss, our operations would be seriously harnte

Our facilities could be subject to a catastrophgslfrom fire, flood, earthquake, or terrorist@tyi Our activities, including sales and markgtin
customer service, finance, and other critical bessnoperations are in three locations. Our mahwuiag activities are conducted at other facilities
separate from our corporate headquarters. Angirafhic loss at these facilities could disrupt operations, delay production and revenue, andtr
in large expenses to repair or replace the faciyhile we have obtained insurance to cover mostrgial losses, we cannot provide assurance tir
existing insurance coverage will be adequate agalhsther possible losses.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of intenal control over financial reporting, we may not beable to accurately report our financial
results, and current and potential stockholders mayose confidence in our financial reporting.

We are required by the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 200&stablish and maintain adequate internal cootret financial reporting that provides reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahoégorting and the preparation of financial stagets in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). We are likewise reqdi on an annual basis, to evaluate the effeas®&nf our internal controls and to disclose on a
guarterly basis any material changes in thoseriaterontrols.

As described in Item 9A — Controls and Procedutesvehere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, wentifeed a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 3110, resulting from the lack of a sufficient nienlof accounting professionals with the necessary
experience and training. Additionally, our pringligxecutive officer and principal financial officeoncluded that a material weakness in internal
control over financial reporting existed as of Dmber 31, 2011, resulting from the lack of a suéfitinumber of accounting and IT professionals with
the necessary experience and training due to tingp@ny’s significant and continued growth. Giveis tinaterial weakness, management concluded
that we did not maintain effective internal contoekr financial reporting as of December 31, 2011.

During 2012, we devoted significant resources &orémediation and improvement of our internal aadrdwer financial reporting and our principal
executive officer and principal financial officesricluded that internal controls over financial nejpg were effective as of December 31, 2012.
However, any failure to maintain and continue tptiave our internal controls could adversely impaat ability to report our financial results on a
timely and accurate basis. If our financial statete@re not accurate, investors may not have a lebenpnderstanding of our operations or may lose
confidence in our reported financial informatiorikewise, if our financial statements are not fiteda timely basis as required by the SEC and The
Nasdaq Global Market, we could face severe consegssfrom those authorities. In either case, itccoesult in a material adverse effect on
business or have a negative effect on the tradiicg pf our common stock.

Because we distribute products internationally, eawomic, political and, other risks associated with or international sales and operations could
adversely affect our operating results.

Because we sell our products worldwide, our busimesubject to risks associated with doing busineternationally. Our sales to customers outside
the United States accounted for approximately 18&uonet sales in fiscal 2012, including sustaigealvth at ZAGG International in Shannon,
Ireland. Accordingly, our future results couldhmEmed by a variety of factors, including:

changes in foreign currency exchange re

exchange control:

changes in regulatory requiremer

changes in a specific country's or region's p@litar economic condition:

tariffs, other trade protection measures and impoexport licensing requiremen
potentially negative consequences from changesxifatvs or application of such tax lav
difficulty in staffing and managing widespread agemns;

changing labor regulation

requirements relating to withholding taxes on réanites and other payments by subsidia
different regimes controlling the protection of dotellectual property

restrictions on our ability to own or operate sdizies, make investments or acquire new businésglsse jurisdictions; ar
restrictions on our ability to repatriate divideridsm our subsidiaries
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Our international operations are affected by gl@zainomic and political conditions, only some ofiehhare described above. Changes in econonr
political conditions in any of the countries in whiwe operate could result in exchange rate movemew currency or exchange controls or other
restrictions being imposed on our operations. Af@ot provide assurance that such changes wihae an adverse effect on our foreign operations
and our financial results.

There can be no guarantee that additional amountspgnt on marketing or advertising will result in additional sales or revenue to the Compan:

In 2013, management intends to expand our adwegtand to continue our marketing efforts relatiogxisting products and potential new product
introductions. However, there can be no guaratht@esuch increased advertising or marketing effantd strategies will result in increased sales.

Risks Related to the Compa's Securities

Because the price of our common stock has been, anthy continue to be, volatile, our shareholders mapot be able to resell shares of ol
common stock at or above the price paid for such sies.

The price for shares of our common stock has etddbiigh levels of volatility with significant voloe and price fluctuations, which may make our
common stock unsuitable for some investors. Fomge, for the two years ended December 31, 20Elthsing price of our common stock ranged
from a high of $16.62 to a low of $6.31 per shatetimes, the fluctuations in the price of our commstock may have been unrelated to our operating
performance. The price of our common stock may latse@ been influenced by:

fluctuations in our results of operations or themions of our competitors or custome

the aggregate amount of our outstanding debt armtptons about our ability to make debt servicgnpents;
failure of our results of operations and sales meres to meet the expectations of stock market atsafind investor:
perceived reductions in demand or expectationgdégafuture demand by our custome

changes in stock market analyst recommendatiormsdany us, our competitors or our custom

the timing and announcements of product innovatioes products or financial results by us or ounpetitors;
the acquisition of the debt facilitie

the departure of ZAGG directors or executiv

increases in the number of shares of our commark stotstanding; an

changes in our industr

Based on the above, our stock price may continexperience volatility. Therefore, we cannot gugarthat our investors will be able to resell our
common stock at or above the price at which theglmsed it.

Because we may, at some time in the future, issudditional securities, shareholders are subject toithtion of their ownership.

Although we have no immediate plans to raise aaiukii capital, we may at some time in the futuresdoAny such issuance would likely dilute
shareholders’ ownership interest in our companyraag have an adverse impact on the price of oumoamstock. In addition, from time to time we
may issue shares of common stock in connection egjthity financing activities or as incentives ta employees and business partners. We may
expand the number of shares available under stmetive and option plans, or create new plansisaillances of common stock would be dilutive to
an existing investor’s holdings in the Companarifinvestor’s holdings are diluted, the overalueabf the shares may be diminished and the albdlity
influence shareholder voting will also be harmed.

Because we do not expect to pay dividends for theréseeable future, investors seeking cash dividendsll not purchase our common stock.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsupport the development and expansion of ounkasiand do not anticipate paying cash dividends
in the foreseeable future. Our payment of any utlividends will be at the discretion of our boefdlirectors after taking into account various fast
including but not limited to our financial conditipoperating results, cash needs, growth plansrenterms of any credit agreements that we may be a
party to at the time. In addition, our ability taypdividends on our common stock may be limitedstaye law. Accordingly, investors must rely on s

of their common stock after price appreciation,akhinay not occur in the future, as the only wasetize their investment.
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We may not be able to successfully integrate busisges we have acquired or which we may acquire indgHuture, and we may not be able to
realize anticipated cost savings, revenue enhancents, or other synergies from such acquisitions.

Our ability to successfully implement our businps1 and achieve targeted financial results is déget on our ability to successfully integrate the
iFrogz business we acquired in 2011 and other kases we may acquire in the future. The procesgegfrating an acquired business involves risks,
including but not limited to:

. demands on management related to tinéfis&nt increase in the size of our business;

. diversion of management's attention ftbmmmanagement of daily operations;

. difficulties in the assimilation of déffent corporate cultures and business practices;

. difficulties in conforming the acquiredmpany's accounting policies to ours;

. retaining the loyalty and business @f thistomers of acquired businesses;

. retaining employees that may be vitah®integration of acquired businesses or touheé  prospects of the combined businesses;
. difficulties and unanticipated expensaated to the integration of departments, infofarat technology systems, including

accounting systems, technologies, books and recands procedures, and maintaining uniform standautsh as internal accounting controls,
procedures, and policies;

. costs and expenses associated with mgigelosed or potential liabilities;
. the use of more cash or other finan@aburces on integration and implementation a@ithan  we expect; and
. our ability to avoid labor disruptiomsgéonnection with any integration, particularlyconnection  with any headcount reduction.

Failure to successfully integrate the iFrogz bussnar other acquired businesses in the future eeltrin reduced levels of anticipated revenue,
earnings, or operating efficiency than might hagerbachieved if we had not acquired such businesses

In addition, any future acquisitions could resnlthe incurrence of additional debt and relatedrigt expense, contingent liabilities, and amaditna
expenses related to intangible assets, which dualé a material adverse effect on our financiatlit@n, operating results, and cash flow.

Techniques employed by short sellers may drive dowtme market price of the Company’s common stock.

Short selling is the practice of selling securitieat the seller does not own, but rather has lggdofrom a third party with the intention of buying
identical securities back at a later date to retarthe lender. The short seller hopes to profitrfra decline in the value of the securities betwhen

sale of the borrowed securities and the purchaieeafeplacement shares, as the short seller exfmepay less in that purchase than it receivetien
sale. As it is in the short seller’s best interdgtghe price of the stock to decline, many sisetters publish, or arrange for the publicationnefgative
opinions regarding the relevant issuer and itsriass prospects in order to create negative mar&etentum and generate profits for themselves after
selling a stock short. These short attacks haviaeipast, led to selling of shares in the market.

In the past several years, our securities have theesubject of short selling. Reports and infofarahave been published about ZAGG which the
Company believes are mischaracterized or incoragxt,which have occasionally been followed by didedn our stock price.

It is not clear what additional effects the negafpublicity will have on the Company, if any, othiean potentially affecting the market price of our
common stock. If the Company continues to be tlgesti of unfavorable allegations, the Company meyehto expend a significant amount of
resources to investigate such allegations andfendétself. While the Company would strongly defeagainst any such short seller attacks, the
Company may be constrained in the manner in whichn proceed against the relevant short sellg@rimgiples of freedom of speech, applicable state
law, or issues of commercial confidentiality. Suchkituation could be costly and time-consuming, @ndd distract the Company’s management from
growing the Company. Additionally, such allegati@gainst the Company could negatively impact isifess operations and stockholders equity, and
the value of any investment in the Company’s stmkld be reduced.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Real Property

Our principal executive offices facilities are emtly located in approximately 57,000 square féeffiice and warehouse space located at 3855 South
500 West, Suites B, C, D, |, J, K, L, M, N, O, PaRd S, Salt Lake City, Utah 84115. In 2012, weereed a master lease agreement covering all «
suites that expires July 31, 2017, at a straigiet fhonthly lease rate of $35,647. We also leasskKacilities located at seven mall locations in
California, office and warehouse space in LogamhUor the office of iFrogz, and office space iraBhon, Ireland for the office of ZAGG
International. We believe these facilities arecadde for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Commercial Litigation

Ricks v. Scott Huskinson et al., Third Judicialtbdis Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, CNid. 12090769. On November 15, 2012, Craig
Ricks (“Ricks”) filed a lawsuit in Utah state coagainst the Company, its wholly owned subsidi&rpgz, Inc., formerly known as Reminderband,
Inc. (“iFrogz”), Scott Huskinson (“Huskinson”), Gl&roadbent (“Broadbent”), and Reminderband, Ifarxmerly known as Two Ten Squared, Inc.
(“Reminderband”). In this lawsuit, Ricks allegésit Huskinson and Broadbent maliciously denied &mequitable ownership interest in iFrogz. The
complaint asserts claims for conversion, constvedtiust, civil conspiracy, fraud and fraudulerduicement, breach of contract and breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealingn December 31, 2012, the Company and iFrogz fitedreswer denying liability. The other
defendants have done the same. The Company beliaiatiff's claims to be without merit and intentb vigorously defend against them. The
Company is indemnified by Huskinson and Broadbenthy losses that may occur related to this ¢askiding legal fees.

Lorence A. Harmer, et al v ZAGG Inc et al, Thirdlitial District Court, Salt Lake County, State ofall, Civil No. 11091768. On September 2
2011, Lorence A. Harmer, a former director of ZA@@d two of his affiliates, Harmer Holdings, LLC,dafeleportal, LLC, filed a lawsuit in Ut
state court against the Company, Robert G. PedelseBrandon T. OBrien and KPMG LLP. KPMG has subsequently been dised from th
lawsuit. This case is discussed in greater detaNote 11, Note Receivable. In their lawsuit, thaimiffs allege that the defendants defamed
Harmer, breached a Settlement Agreement and otjreemments between the plaintiffs and the Compangl, iaterfered with other rights of t
plaintiffs. The Company has responded to the fifésh claims, denying all of the material allegations mdgy the plaintiffs, and asserting affirma
defenses. On October 29, 2012, the Company fil€duanterclaim and Third-Party Complaint againstrier, Holdings, Teleportall and thighrty
Global Industrial Services Limited asserting claifosbreach of contract, deficiency, indemnity attbrneys'fees, breach of the implied covenar
good faith and fair dealing, quasi contract, ungrgichment, quantum meruit and declaratory judgm&he Company believes the plaintiftdaims tc
be without merit and intends to continue to vigatguefend against them. The plaintiffs have reitrpade a specific damages claim.

ZAGG Inc v. Nicholas Pardini, Third Judicial DisttiCourt, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil 20903147 On May 9, 2012, ZAGG filed a
lawsuit in Utah State Court against Nicholas Parain internet author and purported manager ofaldmdge fund. The complaint alleged causes of
action for defamation and false light, based on Réndini's actions of authoring and causing to be publightdse and defamatory article on a wek
with the domain name seekingalpha.codAGG and the defendant engaged in settlemerdtiaipns, and agreed to a dismissal of all claims
exchange for information about the defendant’s arajon of the article and its removal from the gigh The case has been dismissed with prejudice

ZAGG Inc v. Anthony H. Catanach Jr. and J. EdwaetizKUnited States District Court, Eastern DistétPennsylvania, Philadelphia Division, Case
No. 2:12-cv-04399-HB On May 9, 2012, ZAGG filed a lawsuit in Utah 8t€ourt against Anthony H. Catanach Jr. and J.g@dWetz, professors at
universities in Pennsylvania who write for and awister a financial blog. The complaint allegeds=aiof action for defamation and false light, based
on the defendants’ co-authoring and publicatioarofrticle that contains false and defamatory statgs. The defendants removed the case to federa
court in Utah and the Company then stipulatedttarsfer of venue to the Eastern District of Pefvasya. The defendants moved to dismiss the
Company'’s claims, but this motion was denied. ZA&®@ the defendants engaged in settlement negoisatand agreed to a dismissal of all claims in
exchange for information about the defendants’ arajon of the article and its removal from thegbld'he case has been dismissed with prejudice.

ZAGG Inc v. Joseph Ramelli, Third Judicial Distr@burt, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil 120903188 On May 10, 2012, ZAGG filed a
lawsuit in Utah State Court against Joseph Rameélie complaint alleges causes of action for defamand false light, based on Ramelli's authoring
and causing to be published at least 15 articlatimg to ZAGG that contain false and defamatoatesnents. Ramelli, who appeared in the lawsui
se, moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisditct The Company opposed the motion, and the ammied the motion to dismiss. Fact discovery
has commenced. The Company intends to pursuasts\dgorously against Mr. Ramelli.

Patent Litigation

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRdoducts et al, U.S. District Court, District of &i, 2:11-cv-00517 The Company is the plaint

in patent infringement litigation pending in Utdfat seeks to enforce rights under United StatesnPhto. 7,957,524. The defendants in this case have
raised defenses and, in some cases, asserted retainie against the Company, that seek declaratibnsenforceability or non-infringement of the
patent. These counterclaims do not assert any slmaffirmative relief, including claims for dages, against the Company, apart from a request for
an award of costs and attorney’s fees to the pieggiarty. Several of the defendants have settligl the Company. Litigation of this action has bee
stayed pending a reexamination of United StatesrP&to. 7,957,524 by the United States Patent aademark Office. This reexamination has led to
the rejection of the claims of the patent, but thésision is currently on appeal. In the opinidmanagement, the ultimate disposition of thesengat
infringement claims, including disposition of theunterclaims, will not have a material adverseafée the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations, or liquidity.

ZAGG v. Trekstor, Regional Court, Dusseldorf, Gemnahe Company brought suit in Dusseldorf, Germanyregd rekstor for infringement of
ZAGG design registrations for ZAGGmate and the ket Keyboard Case by ZAGG. The Company also birocigims for unfair competition. As
of the date of this Report, all briefing had beempleted and a hearing was held. The Court hagatatled on the claims of infringement and has
indicated that it may not issue its decision uatier TrekStc's challenges to the registrations have been caesidérekStor has challenged 1



Company'’s ownership of the design registrationstaslfiled an application for a declaration of ity of the Company’s design registrations, but
this application has been denied and is not penalingppeal. The Company believes these allegabibinsvalidity and ownership to be without merit
and intends to vigorously defend against them.
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Patent Acquisitior

On August 31, 2010, Andrew Mason (“Masoffiled a complaint against the Company claimingiimgement of United States Patent Nos. 7,38¢
and 7,784,610 as a result of the CompangvisibleSHIELD installation kits. On NovemberZ)10, the Company, Mason and his company, eS|
LLC (“eShields”) entered into an Asset Purchaseekgrent (“Purchase Agreementilder which a wholly owned subsidiary of the CompaAGG
Intellectual Property Holding Company, Inc. (“ZAG8"), acquired all of the rights of Mason in (i) the pdate(United States Patent Nos. 7,389
and 7,784,610) which were the subject of the ltiaggg (i) the patent application filed on Augus, 2010 (the “CIP Application"and (iii) rights to su
for infringement of the patents.

In consideration for the conveyance of Mason’s @ssescribed above, the Company agreed to paynweydo Mason the following:

(a)
(b)

(©)
(d)

a first payment of $200 by November 11, 2010, ardand payment of $150 after December 31, 2

issue to Mason fiv-year warrants (th“Warran”) to purchase 750 shares of the Com|'s restricted Common Stock at an exercise
equal to the closing bid price on November 9, 2(H853); provided that 500 of the 750 warrant shame exercisable only upon the issui
of a patent from the CIP Application with at leage claim that satisfies the Claim Conditions (ene:d below)

issue to Mason 70 shares of the Com|'s restricted Common Stock; a

grant eShields a fully pe-up, perpetual, nc-exclusive license, with limited rights to transéersublicense, for the patents and ¢
Applications.

The Company also agreed to dismiss the claimstaslsagainst Mason and eShields, and to make additgayments to Mason if the US Patent
Trademark Office (“USPTQO") issues a U.S. patentt@CIP Application that includes certain claintg tClaim Conditions”)If the Claim Condition
are met, the Company will:

(a)
(b)

If the Claim Conditions are not met, the Company ha obligation to make the payment or issue tlheeshdescribed in the preceding paragraph and
Mason will not be able to exercise 500 of the WiatisaThere can be no assurance that the USPTGssuk a patent on the CIP Application that meets

pay Mason the sum of $500; a
issue to Mason 430 shares of the Com''s restricted Common Stoc

the requirements of the Claim Conditions. As of @aber 31, 2012, no applicable patent had beenddspthe USPTO.
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Class Action Lawsuits

James H. Apple, et al. v. ZAGG Inc, et al., U.Stiit Court, District of Utah, 2:1-cv-00852; Ryan Draayer, et al. v. Zagg Inc, et dlS. District

Court, District of Utah, 2:12-cv-00859 On September 6 and 10, 2012, two punitive cdasisn lawsuits were filed by purported Company
shareholders against the Company, Randall Halesyd®n OBrien, Edward Ekstrom, and Cheryl Larabee, as a®Robert G. Pedersen I, our forr
Chairman and CEO, and Shuichiro Ueyama, a formeninee of our Board of Directors. In each case plaatiffs seek certification of a class of
purchasers of our stock between February 28, 26d22agust 17, 2012. The plaintiffs claim that agsult of Mr. Pedersen's alleged December 2011
margin account sales, the defendants initiatedceession plan to replace Mr. Pedersen as our CHONMvi Hales, but failed to disclose either the
succession plan or Mr. Pedersen's margin accoles, sa violation of Sections 10(b), 14(a), and&0and SEC Rules 10b-5 and 14a-9, under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Ac©n March 7, 2013, the U.S. District Court foe District of Utah consolidated tigpleand
Draayeractions and assigned the captiome Zagg, Inc. Securities LitigatianThe Company has not yet responded to the contplairhe Company
intends to vigorously defend against them.

Arthur Morganstern v. Robert G. Pedersen |l et @hird Judicial District Court, Salt Lake Countyta8 of Utah, Civil No. 1209084:; Albert Pikk v.
Robert G. Pedersen Il et al., U.S. District Colistrict of Utah, Case No. 2:-cv-1188; Rosenberg v. Robert G. Pedersen Il et al., U.SribDis
Court, District of Utah, Case No. 2:12-cv-12160n December 14, 2012, the first of three shddsnalerivative complaints were filed against saver
of our current and former officers and directoffiese complaints make allegations similar to thpyesented in the putative class action lawsuits, bu
they also assert various state law causes of adticluding claims for breach of fiduciary duty, sta of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, andieir
trading. Each of these derivative complaints seedpecified damages on behalf of the Company, wikiclamed solely as a nominal defendant ag
whom no recovery is sought. On February 27, 2€%3U.S. District Court for the District of Utahrmolidated théikk andRosenbergctions and
assigned the captidn re ZAGG Inc. Shareholder Derivative LitigationThe Company has not yet responded to these edml

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company recenesfliests to provide documentation and informatche staff of the SEC in connection with a non-
public investigation being conducted by the SEGik Bake City office. The Company believes thedstigation includes a review of the facts and
circumstances surrounding some of the same isaigegirby the plaintiffs in the above lawsuits; sfieally, whether the Company failed to disclose
Mr. Pedersen's margin account sales or the allegistence of a plan to have Mr. Hales succeed BileRsen as our CEO. The Company respond
these requests and is cooperating fully with th#.sWe have chosen to disclose this non-publiestigation due to the highly public nature of the
lawsuits described above, which the Company intémdiefend vigorously.

The Company is not a party to any other litigatimrother claims at this time. While the Companyrently believes that the amount of any ultimate
potential loss for known matters would not be mateo the Company’s financial condition, the outeof these actions is inherently difficult to
predict. In the event of an adverse outcome, ttimate potential loss could have a material adveffget on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations in a particular period.

We establish liabilities when a particular contingg is probable and estimable. We have not acdiareghy loss at December 31, 2012 in our
condensed consolidated financial statements aowetconsider a loss to be probable nor estimable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock is currently quoted on The NASD@&IQbal Market of The NASDAQ Market under the symBaIGG. The following table sets

forth, for each full quarterly period within the @wmost recent fiscal years, the high and low sale®s (in dollars per share) of our common stack a
reported or quoted on The NASDAQ Capital Market.

2012 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201: $ 11.0¢ $ 7.1
June 30, 201 $ 13.0: $ 9.94
September 30, 201 $ 114 % 7.0C
December 31, 201 $ 897 $ 6.54

2011 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31, 201: $ 1037 $ 6.31
June 30, 201 $ 1502 $ 7.4t
September 30, 201 $ 16.6z $ 9.97
December 31, 201 $ 13.9¢  $ 6.65
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Holders of Common stock

At February 19, 2013, there were approximatelye®fistered holders or persons otherwise entitldwtd our common shares pursuant to a
shareholders’ list provided by our transfer agempire Stock Transfer. The number of registeredediolders excludes any estimate by us of the
number of beneficial owners of common shares hektreet name.

Dividends

There are no restrictions in our articles of inavgtion or bylaws that restrict us from declaringdends. The Nevada Revised Statutes, however, do
prohibit us from declaring dividends where, aftesirgg effect to the distribution of the dividend:

. we would not be able to pay our debts as they beatune in the usual course of busines:

L] our total assets would be less than the sum ofatar liabilities, plus the amount that would beeded to satisfy the rights of shareholders
have preferential rights superior to those recgjvire distribution

We have not declared or paid cash dividends orra@umon stock since our inception, and our BoarBicéctors currently intends to retain all
earnings for use in the business for the foresedahlre. Any future payment or dividends to hoédef common stock will depend upon our results of
operations, financial condition, cash requiremeautsl other factors deemed relevant by our Boamirefttors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans (share amounts in thousands)

Number of
securities
remaining
Number of available for
securities to future
be issued issuances
upon exercise under equity
of Weighted- compensatior
outstanding average plans
options and exercise price (excluding
vesting of of securities
restricted outstanding reflected in
Plan Category stock options first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security érg 1,12 $ 3.7C 6,02(
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechatgers — — —
Total 1,12: % 3.7C 6,02(

In 2007, the Company’s board of directors adoptetlia 2008 the Company’s shareholders approved A®&G Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive
Plan which provided for the issuance of up to 2 6B@res of common stock to the company’s direcergloyees, consultants and advisors (2697
Plan”). On July 16, 2009, the Company’s sharehsldpproved an amendment to the 2007 Plan to iserts@ number of shares issuable under the
2007 Incentive Plan to 5,000. On June 23, 201&,Gbmpany’s shareholders approved an amendmem 2007 Incentive Plan to increase the
number of shares issuable under the 2007 Plan,@®Q0As of December 31, 2012, there were 6,02feshavailable for grant under the 2007 Plan.

On January 15, 2013, the Company’s Board of Discadopted a new equity incentive award plan, name@AGG Inc 2013 Equity Incentive
Award Plan (the “2013 Plan”) and directed thatdgtdubmitted to shareholders for their approvah@at@ompany’s annual meeting in 2013. The new
plan is an “omnibus planinder which stock options, stock appreciation sgherformance share awards, restricted stockrestdcted stock units ci
be awarded. The 2013 Plan’s initial share resematill be 5,000 shares. The term of the plafoislO years from the date of its adoption.

In addition, the Company’s Board of Directors detered that the Company will cease to issue anytaail awards pursuant to the Company’s
existing equity award plan, the 2007 Plan. All edgathat are outstanding under the 2007 Plan wiltioue to vest, be exercisable, and expire
according to their respective terms.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities (amountstinousands)

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we isteefbllowing securities:

We issued 210 shares of common stock upon theisgestwarrants to purchase 256 shares. We rat@rezeeds of $0 related to the exercise of the
warrants as the exercise was executed throughshaeg settlement.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, we istheefbllowing securities:
We issued 10 shares of common stock valued at $&@0¢onsultant in exchange for consulting ses/m®vided.

We issued 194 shares of common stock in exercigeaofants to purchase 198 shares. We received gutead $700 related to the exercise of the
warrants.

We also issued 4,444 shares of common stock ineziom with the purchase of iFrogz with a fair \@hf $46,200.

We issued warrants to purchase 50 shares of oumoonstock in exchange for consulting services. Wagants are exercisable at $9.05 per share,
expire in five years from the date of grant, ansted upon issuance.

In each of the transactions listed above, the #&iwere issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of teusities Act of 1933, as amended, and rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder. None of tiesgictions involved a public offering.

Stock Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related infotima shall not be deemed "soliciting material” dile¢d" with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, nor shall such information be incorgedaby reference into any future filing under tee@ities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, each as amended, except to the exterpeudisally incorporate it by reference into sudmg.

The following graph compares the cumulative totedreholder return on our common stock over theye& period ended December 31, 2012, with
the cumulative total return during such periodraf NASDAQ Stock Market (U.S. Companies) and a geeup index composed of consumer
electronics accessory companies, the members chvene identified below (the “Peer Group”) for g@me period. The following graph assumes an

initial investment of $100.00 with dividends reisted. The stock performance shown on the grapwbepresents historical stock performance ai
not necessarily indicative of future stock pricefpamance.

COMPARISON OF & YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®

Among £LAGGE Inc, the Russell 3000 Index, the MASDAR Composite Index,
and a Peer Group

$4,200 -
4,000 - £
$800 -

$600 -

$400 - /

$0 -  —
12007 12108
—B8— ZAGG, Inc. —-2a—-Russell 3000 ------ HASDAQ Composite —#— Peer Group

*F1 00 invested on 1203107 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal year ending December 31.

Copyright® 2013 Russell Investment Group. Al rights reserved.

12/31/0' 12/31/0¢ 12/31/0¢ 12/31/1( 12/31/1: 12/31/1:
ZAGG Inc 100.0( 124.0( 522.67 1016.0( 942.67 981.3:
Russell 300( 100.0( 62.6¢ 80.4¢ 94.0¢ 95.0¢ 110.6¢
NASDAQ Composite 100.0( 59.0: 82.2¢ 97.32 98.6¢ 110.7¢

Peer Grouj 100.0( 43.9¢ 56.0( 67.1( 39.6¢ 41.7i



The Peer Group consists of consumer electroniassaocy companies that have securities traded oNdkdaq Stock Market. The members of the
Peer Group are: iGo, Inc.; Plantronics Inc.; Comahac.; Logitech International, S.A.; and Univdr&éectronics Inc.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (in thousands, except per share amounts)

The selected historical financial data presentéavbare derived from our consolidated financiatestaents. The selected financial data should e rea
in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s DiscussiBnd Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuft®perations,” and our consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsewhé#res report.

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
DATA:
Net sales $ 264,42' $ 179,12! $ 76,13 % 38,36: $ 19,79:
Operating income (los! 33,491 28,131 16,81« 5,71C 2,37¢
Net income (loss) attributable to stockhold 14,50 18,24¢ 9,96¢ 3,381 2,09¢
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to stocldrsti

Basic $ 0.4¢ % 0.67 $ 044 $ 0.1€ $ 0.11

Diluted 0.4¢€ 0.6% 0.41 0.1t 0.11
Weighted average shar¢

Basic 30,33¢ 27,13: 22,51¢ 20,63¢ 18,97:

Diluted 31,65¢ 29,08: 24,26 22,98¢ 19,26t
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total asset $ 206,08' $ 202,32t $ 57,43: $ 18,89¢ $ 8,45¢
Current assel 131,18 108,23( 46,70¢ 17,43¢ 7,844
Current liabilities 41,81¢ 33,74( 23,09( 5,012 2,63¢
Total equity 124,09¢ 102,62¢ 32,78: 13,881 5,817

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements, other than purely historidalrination, including estimates, projections, staata relating to our business plans, objectived, an
expected operating results, and the assumptions wpich those statements are based, are “forwankiflg statements” within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 199%cHon 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Setf#4E of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934. These forward-looking statements geneeallyidentified by the words “believes,” “projectéxpects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “forecasts,”
“intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Additionally, statersen
relating to implementation of business strategyyrifinancial performance, acquisition strategoegital raising transactions, performance of
contractual obligations, and similar statements o@yain forward-looking statements. We intendhsiaeward-looking statements to be covered by
the safe-harbor provisions for forward-looking staents contained in the Private Securities LitayaiReform Act of 1995, and are including this
statement for purposes of complying with those-safidor provisions. Forward-looking statementske®ed on current expectations and assumptions
that are subject to risks and uncertainties whialy sause actual results to differ materially frdma forward-looking statements. Our ability to poedi
results or the actual effect of future plans oatefgies is inherently uncertain. Factors whichdbave a material adverse affect on our operatmms
future prospects include, but are not limited trarmges in economic conditions, legislative/reguiathanges, availability of capital, interest rates
competition, and generally accepted accountingcfpies. These risks and uncertainties should asoobsidered in evaluating forward-looking
statements and undue reliance should not be ptatedch statements. We undertake no obligatiaptiate or revise publicly any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidore events or otherwise. Further information@erning our business, including additional fag
that could materially affect our financial resulitsincluded herein and in our other filings willetSEC.

Overview
At ZAGG, our focus is to (1) design creative prodsmiutions for users of mobile devices, (2) sedise products to end-users through global
distribution partners and online, and (3) to becdneepreferred brand through the innovation andityuaf our products, providing excellent customer

service, and focusing on the end-users’ knowledgkexperience with our products. The focus of auporate, team, and individual goals is to
accomplish this overall corporate strategy.
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We believe that hand-held devices and gadgets e&est enjoyed with the right mix of (1) protectiorprevent the device from getting scratched or
damaged and (2) accessories that enhance the cers@axperience with their electronic device. Th& of our full product offering, which includes
the invisibleSHIELD, ZAGGskins, iFrogz protectivases, ZAGG and iFrogz audio accessories, ZAGGspad|®ther power products, and our
keyboard lines, provides the end consumers witlataligled device protection and enhanced enjoymwiethiteir mobile electronic device.

We plan to continue to expand our current prodéferrimgs, including entering new product categareesd entering new domestic and global markets
that we believe will be consistent with our overatporate strategy. Our products are availabtaitocustomers through our websites at
www.ZAGG.comand www.iFrogz.comand through our retail distribution channels, whimtiudes major retailers like Best Buy, WalmardyJet,
AT&T, Sprint, Verizon, T-Mobile, Radio Shack, Stap| and The Carphone Warehouse; independent elestresellers; college bookstores;
independent Mac stores; mall kiosks, and othemenigtailers. During 2012, we had two customeas @lscounted for more than 10% of our net
sales. We continue to increase our product liaesfer additional electronic accessories and ses/to our tech-savvy customer base.

To recap results for 2012 (in thousands):

« Our revenue grew 48% from $179,125 in 2011 to $288l,in 2012. iFrogz, which was acquired by ZAGGJame 21, 2011, contribut
$36,046 to the 2011 and $68,411 to the 2012 revbalamces

« In addition to a full year of sales from iFrogz,raales growth in 2012 was the result of continegdng demand from customers in
indirect channel category from existing and newritigtion partners, and the continued growth of ithasibleSHIELD product line, coupl
with strong growth of the Compars/’keyboard, audio, and case product lines. SafeghwsibleSHIELD products accounted
approximately 58% of total sales in 2011 and apipnately 46% of total sales in 2012, which represet increase in total dollar sales !
over year. Sales of keyboard products accountedgproximately 17% of our total sales in 2011 apdraximately 24% of total sales
2012. Our 2012 sales through our website and throwg mall kiosk program also increased over 2

« Our gross profit grew 47% from $81,924 in 2011 12®545 in 2012. Gross profit as a percent of reeeremained relatively flat at 46%
2011 and 2012. Our consistent gross profit pergenis primarily the result of year-ovgear changes in acquisition related charges, a
operational decisions made to meet customer newtlgr@w our business. During 2011, management iaducharges through cost of si
related to the writetp of iFrogz inventory at acquisition. These chargkt occurred in 2011, and thus decreased 201ssgnofit compared
2012. This was offset by the following items thatdeased gross profit during 2012 compared to 2Q1)Lan increase airfreight shipp
costs incurred during 2012 primarily linked to puctireleases; (2) the continued product sales fifk, &s a higher percentage of our t
sales were generated by lower margin products sscbur keyboard, audio, and case products compargdior years where a higt
percentage of sales were generated by our invi&illELD products, our highest margin products; aBdtfie continued channel sales
shift as sales through indirect channels contiougrow, which are at lower margins than websitesdirectly to the consume

« Our operating income increased by 19% from $28jh32011 to $33,491 in 2012. Our operating margincpntage decreased from 169
2011 to 13% in 2012. The decrease in operating imavgs due primarily to (1) an $11,497 ncash charge for the impairment of good
and an intangible trademark asset recorded duhiadgdurth quarter of 2012; (2) charges incurreatesl to the departure of former ClI
Robert Pedersen II; and (3) an increase in compiensaxpense related to increased headcount angeamusation adjustments for |
executives. These 2012 charges were partially bffgecharges incurred during 2011 that did not récw2012 including (1) $1,947 in ct
incurred related to the acquisition of iFrogz; §2fan impairment of $1,489 recorded on a noteivabée.

« Our full year 2012 fully diluted earnings per shattibutable to stockholders decreased by 27% 80&d. The decrease is primarily rele

to the $11,497 nonash charge recorded during the fourth quarte©&22o impair goodwill and an intangible trademasiset. From 2011
2012, the number of shares used in the fully diearnings per share calculation increased by 8% #9,082 in 2011 to 31,656 in 20:
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Our strategic business objectives for 2013 inclinéefollowing:
« Continue to design creative product solutions f&era of mobile device
« expand the distribution of our products througlyésed, global distribution partners;
« become the preferred brand through the innovatmhcaiality of our products;

« focus on our international sales opportunities ulgio our distribution facility in Ireland that wi#nable us to better serve our worldv
customer bast¢

« increase the number of SKUs with our existing comis from products under both the ZAGG and iFragmds; anc

« continue to grow our traffic and sales through wabsites www.ZAGG.corand_www.iFrogz.com

We intend for the following discussion of our fircéel condition and results of operations to provitfermation that will assist in understanding our
consolidated financial statements, the changesriaia key items in those financial statements fpariod to period, and the primary factors that
accounted for those changes, as well as how cextaiounting principles, policies and estimatescaferr consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies (in thousands)

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiand results of operations are based on oundiahstatements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). The prajpam of these financial statements requires
make estimates and judgments that affect the regp@rnounts of assets, liabilities, revenues andresgs, and related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluateestimates based on historical experience andnous other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulthioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actusiliits may differ from these estimates under difieesssumptions or conditions. Significant estireate
include the allowance for doubtful accounts, ineentreserve, sales returns liability, the usefi@ &f property and equipment, the useful life of
intangible assets, the recoverability of goodwild andefinite-lived intangible assets, the fairuabf the investment in HzO, stock-based
compensation, and income taxes.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical iféguires an accounting estimate to be made basedsumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time the estimate is made, iedéfit estimates reasonably may have been usdd;t@riges in the estimate that are reasonablyylikel
to occur may materially impact the financial stadets. Management believes the following critiaalaunting policies affect our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparationrofonsolidated financial statemer

Revenue recognitiol

The Company records revenue when persuasive ewddgran arrangement exists, product delivery hasroed, the sales price to the customer is !
or determinable, and collectability is reasonalssused. The Company’s revenue is derived fromss&leur products through our indirect channel,
including retailers and distributors; through oiredt channel including www.ZAGG.comwww.iFrogz.com and our corporate-owned and third-
party-owned mall kiosks; and from the fees derived frbe dale of exclusive independent distributor liesn®lated to the kiosk program. For sale
product, our standard shipping terms are FOB shippbint, and we record revenue when the prodwstifgped, net of estimated returns and
discounts. For some customers, the contractuppstg terms are FOB destination. For these shipenere record revenue when the product is
delivered, net of estimated returns and discouRts. license fees, we recognize revenue on a btrliite basis over the life of the license termeTh
Company records revenue from royalty agreementseiperiod in which the royalty is earned.

Promotional products given to customers or potentiatomers are recognized as a cost of sales. i@eshtives provided to our customers are
recognized as a reduction of the related sale paiv@, therefore, are a reduction in sales.

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabili

For product sales, the Company records revenuafrestimated returns and discounts, when prodaretshipped and the customer takes ownership
and assumes risk of loss, collection of the relevaeeivable is probable, persuasive evidence @freangement exists and the sales price is fixed or
determinable. Our return policy generally allovgsehd users and retailers to return purchased gimdin addition, the Company generally provides
the ultimate consumer a warranty with each prodiete to the nature of the invisibleSHIELD prodlicg, returns for the invisibleSHIELD are
generally not salvageable and are not includedviertory. We estimate a reserve for sales remdsvarranty and record the estimated reserve
amount as a reduction of sales, and as a sales regerve liability. The estimate for sales netuand warranty requires management to make
significant estimates regarding return rates ftessand warranty returns. Historical experiencéyal claims, and customer return rights are the ke
factors used in determining the estimated salesrr@ind warranty reserve.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We provide customary credit terms to our customéfs perform ongoing credit evaluations of the ficiahcondition of our customers and maintair
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon histbgollections experience and judgments as to égdemllectability of accounts. Our actual bad
debts may differ from our estimates.

Valuation of Note Receivable

We engaged independent third-party appraisal fiovessist us in determining the fair values ofatellal of the note receivable. Such valuations
require significant estimates and assumptions. lgament determined the value of the 80 shares of@&G@mmon stock held by Mr. Harmer based

on quoted market prices. The real estate holdiagsrgg the note receivable were valued primarigdal on the sales comparison approach as sales c
comparable properties were utilized. The investsenteal estate companies were valued utilizimgparable market sales, a discounted cash flow
analysis, and other appropriate valuation methagieto

Management's estimates of fair value are based apsumptions believed to be reasonable, but whiecinherently uncertain and unpredictable and,
as a result, actual results may differ from estgaat

Inventories

In assessing the realization of inventories, weraggired to make judgments as to future demandginements and to compare these with current
inventory levels. When the market value of invewtisrless than the carrying value, the inventorst é® written down to the estimated net realizable
value thereby establishing a new cost basis. Quamitory requirements may change based on our pedi@ustomer demand, market conditions,
technological and product life cycle changes, lorggeshorter than expected usage periods, and fabers that could affect the valuation of our
inventories.

Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets are reviewed for reatmiléy, and valuation allowances are provided, whecessary, to reduce deferred income tax ¢
to the amounts that are more likely than not todadized based on our estimate of future taxalderire. Should our expectations of taxable income
change in future periods, it may be necessarytabbsh a valuation allowance, which could affegt cesults of operations in the period such a
determination is made. We record income tax promisir benefit during interim periods at a rate fhdiased on expected results for the full year. If
future changes in market conditions cause actgaltsefor the year to be more or less favorable thase expected, adjustments to the effective
income tax rate could be required.

The Company recognizes the effect of income taiipas only if those positions are more likely thaat of being sustained. Recognized income tax
positions are measured at the largest amountsigaeater than 50% likely of being realized. Thiedeination of the realization of certain income ta
positions is subject to significant estimates bagmuh the facts and circumstances of each position.

Long-lived Assets

We have significant long-lived tangible and intdolgiassets consisting of property and equipmefifitelived intangibles, indefinite-lived

intangibles, an investment in HzO (an entity engaigethe development of water-blocking technolod@sconsumer and industrial applications), and
goodwill. We review these assets for impairmentmgwer events or changes in circumstances indibatdtie carrying amount of such assets may not
be recoverable. In addition, we perform an impairhiest related to indefinite-lived intangibles agubdwill at least annually. Our goodwill and
intangible assets are largely attributable to aguésition of iFrogz.

At least annually and when events and circumstawegsant an evaluation, we perform our impairmessessment of goodwill. This assessment
initially permits an entity to make a qualitativesassment of whether it is more likely than not éheeporting unit’s fair value is less than itsrgang
amount before applying the two-step goodwill impeent test. If an entity can support the conclusiat it is not more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carryaimgount, it would not need to perform the two-stepairment test for the reporting unit.
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However, if it is determined that it is more likdlyan not that the fair value of a reporting usitdss than its carrying amount, the two step aislg
performed, which incorporated a fair-value baseat@gch. We determine the fair value of our repgrtinit based on discounted cash flows and
market approach analyses as considered necessdrgoasider factors such as a weakened economyceddxpectations for future cash flows
coupled with a decline in the market price of aiack and market capitalization for a sustainedqakés indicators for potential goodwill impairment.

If the reporting unit's carrying amount exceedsgtimated fair value, a second step must be peefdto measure the amount of the goodwill
impairment loss, if any. The second step compéredplied fair value of the reporting unit's goatwdetermined in the same manner as the amount
of goodwill recognized in a business combinatioithwthe carrying amount of such goodwill. If therggng amount of the reporting unit's goodwill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,iapairment loss is recognized in an amount equ#iat excess.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested fiopairment annually, or, more frequently upon theuoence of a triggering event. The Company
evaluates the recoverability of indefinite-livedangible assets by comparing the indefitited intangible assets book value to its estiméaadvalue.
The fair value for indefinite-lived intangible assés determined by performing cash flow analysid ather market evaluations. If the fair valuelod t
indefinite-lived intangible assets is less thankbwealue, the difference is recognized as an impaitnioss.

We test our investment in HzO each reporting petdodetermine whether HzO’s operations or othetoiacindicate that the investment in HzO is
impaired. When indicators of impairment exist, weasure the fair value of our investments in HzO @dpare the fair value to the carrying value.
The determination of the amount of impairmentnij ais based upon the difference between the assafttying value and estimated fair value. Fair
value is determined through various valuation tégpies, including market and income approaches asidered necessary.

We assess other long-lived assets, specificallyieflived intangibles and property, plant and ipguent, for potential impairment based on similar
impairment indicators. When indicators of impairrexist related to our long-lived tangible assetd definite-lived intangible assets, we use an
estimate of the undiscounted net cash flows in omé&ag whether the carrying amount of the assetsdeverable. Measurement of the amount of
impairment, if any, is based upon the differencevieen the asset’s carrying value and estimated/&hire. Fair value is determined through various
valuation techniques, including market and incomgreaches as considered necessary.

If forecasts and assumptions used to support tizability of our goodwill and other long-lived sets change in the future, significant impairment
charges could result that would adversely affectresults of operations and financial condition.

Stoclk-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsapn its consolidated financial statements fards granted to employees and non-
employees under its stock incentive plan, whichuite restricted stock and stock options. Equigssified awards are measured at the grant date fair
value of the award. The fair value of stock opticnsieasured on the grant date using the Blacki8stuption pricing model (BSM), which involves
the use of assumptions such as expected volaghkiyected term, dividend rate, and risk-free rafelatility is a key factor used to determine thé f
value of stock options in the BSM. Based on theeeked term of the award, if the Company does aw¢ [sufficient historical data or implied

volatility information to determine volatility badeipon its own information, the Company uses sigaift judgment to identify a peer group and
determine the appropriate weighting in order tineste a volatility rate for use in the BSM.

On March 30, 2012, the Company implemented a neenitive program for non-executive employees thatiges for the issuance of a fixed amount
of restricted stock to eligible employees if certannual financial targets are reached. Thesettavggre reached for the 2012 fiscal year, thusethes
restricted shares will be transferred to employkesig March 2013.

Business Combination

We allocate the purchase price of acquired compani¢éhe tangible and intangible assets acquirddiahbilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values. The excess of the purchase price over tagselues is recorded as goodwill. We engagependent third-party appraisal firms to assist us
in determining the fair values of assets acquiredilabilities assumed. Such valuations requireagament to make significant estimates and
assumptions, especially with respect to intangiisleets. The significant purchased classes of iititiengssets recorded by us include customer
relationships, trademarks, non-compete agreemaengloped technology, patents, and backlog. Therédiles assigned to the identified intangible
assets are discussed in Note 2 to the condensedliated financial statements.

Critical estimates in valuing certain intangibleets include but are not limited to: future expeatash flows related to each individual asset, etark
position of the trademarks, as well as assumptdsosit cash flow savings from the trademarks, asdadint rates. Management'’s estimates of fair
value are based upon assumptions believed to berrehle, but which are inherently uncertain andentiptable and, as a result, actual results may
differ from estimates.
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Results of Operations (in thousands)
The following table sets forth our results of opienas expressed as a percentage of net salesefpettinds indicated (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net sales $ 264,42" 100.% $ 179,12! 100.% $ 76,13¢ 100.(%
Cost of sale: 143,88( 54. 97,20: 54.% 38,73¢ 50.€
Gross profit 120,54! 45.¢ 81,92 457 37,39 49.1
Advertising and marketin 12,49t 4.7 10,24¢ 5.7 5,067 6.7
Selling, general and administrati 53,33( 20.2 39,59: 22.1 15,50+ 20.4
Impairment of goodwill & intangible 11,49% 4.3 - 0.C - 0.C
Amortization of definite-lived intangible 9,73 3.7 3,94¢ 2.2 12 0.C
Operating incom: 33,49: 12.7 28,13% 15.7 16,81+ 22.1
Interest expens (6,32)) (2.4) (3,027 2.7) (243%) (0.3
Loss on equit-method investment in Hz (2,86€) (1.7 - 0.C - 0.C
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz - 0.C 1,90¢ 1.1 - 0.C
Other income and (expense) (40€) (0.2) (19) 0.C 7 0.C
Income before income tax 23,89¢ 9.C 27,00: 15.1 16,57¢ 21.¢
Income tax provision (9,397) (3.6) (9,41%) (5.3 (6,650) (8.7)
Net income 14,50t 5.5 17,58¢ 9.8 9,92¢ 13.C
Net loss attributable to noncontrollil

interest - 0.C 664 0.4 35 0.C
Net income attributable to stockhold:  $ 14,50t 55% $ 18,24¢ 10.2% $ 9,96° 13.1%

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, AS COMPARED TO THE YR ENDED DECMEBER 31, 2011 (in thousands, except ghare data)
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2012 $264,425 compared to net sales of $179,125 éoyelar ended December 31, 2011, an incr
of $85,300 or 48%.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, sales ahweigibleSHIELD product line accounted for apprositely 46% of our revenues, compared to 58%
in 2011, which represents an increase in totahdshles increased year over year. Sales in 20@@rdfeyboard line accounted for approximately 24%
of our revenues, compared to 17% in 2011. We kaperienced significant growth in our indirect chahto retailers including Best Buy, Walmart,
Target, Radio Shack, and Staples; wireless camsigrk as AT&T, Sprint, Verizon, T-Mobile, Crick&incinnati Bell, and The Carphone Warehouse;
and both domestic and foreign electronics accestistsibutors. We are still focused on distribatitirough our mall kiosk program and through our
websites, www.ZAGG.cormand www.iFrogz.com but the significant growth for 2012 was througlt mdirect channel as we began selling through
additional customers and expanded our SKU coutht @it current customers. For the year ended Deeeth 2012, approximately 82% of our
overall net sales were through our indirect chant% were through our website, and 5% were thraughmall cart and kiosk programs.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, finished ggmarchased from manufacturers, packing mategals,shipping and fulfilment costs. For the year
ended December 31, 2012, cost of sales amountt4®,880 or approximately 54% of net sales comptredst of sales of $97,201 or 54% of net
sales for the year ended December 31, 2011. Qusistent cost of sales percentage is primarilyréisalt of year-over-year changes in acquisition
related charges, and in operational decisions radeet customer needs and grow our business. @afihl, management incurred charges through
cost of sales related to the write-up of iFrogzimery at acquisition. These charges all occume2Dil 1, and thus increased 2011 cost of sales
compared to 2012. This was offset by the followitegns that increased cost of sales during 2012 eoeapto 2011: (1) an increase airfreight shipping
costs incurred during 2012 primarily linked to puatireleases; (2) the continued product sales hifk s a higher percentage of our total saleswer
generated by lower margin products such as ourdaayh audio, and case products compared to premsyehere a higher percentage of sales were
generated by our invisibleSHIELD products, our leigihmargin products; and (3) the continued chasedeks mix shift as sales through indirect
channels continued to grow, which are at lower-rimagr¢ghan website sales directly to the consumer.
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Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2048, $120,545 or approximately 46% of net sale®agared to $81,924 or approximately 46% of
net sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 cahsistent gross profit percentage is primalily tesult of year-over-year changes in acquisition
related charges, and in operational decisions radeet customer needs and grow our business. @R€ifhl, management incurred charges through
cost of sales related to the write-up of iFrogzmery at acquisition. As noted, these chargescailirred in 2011 and thus decreased 2011 grosis prof
compared to 2012. This was offset by the followitegns that decreased gross profit during 2012 coetp 2011: (1) an increase airfreight shipping
costs incurred during 2012 primarily linked to puctireleases; (2) the continued product sales hifk s a higher percentage of our total salegwer
generated by lower margin products such as ourdaayh audio, and case products compared to premsyehere a higher percentage of sales were
generated by our invisibleSHIELD products, our leigihmargin products; and (3) the continued chasedeks mix shift as sales through indirect
channels continue to grow, which are at lower-nregd¢inan website sales directly to the consumer.

As we continue to grow our business, we anticipizée we will have increased sales through indickeinnel partners and that our sales of keyboard,
audio, case, and products in new categories vdtkimse more quickly than our invisibleSHIELD prodsales. Thus, we expect these factors to put
pressure on our gross profit percentage in futereogs. There are no assurances that we will coatia recognize similar gross profit margins in the
future.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&t032, were $87,054, an increase of $33,267 faial bperating expenses for year ended
December 31, 2011, of $53,787. The increasesrarmaply attributable to the following:

« For the year ended December 31, 2012, marketingraising and promotion expenses were $12,495narease of $2,249, as compare
$10,246, for the year ended December 31, 2011.iWested heavily in advertising for key 2012 prodid&unches including tt
invisibleSHIELD HD, invisibleSHIELD EXTREME, ZAGGHkes PRO, the ZAGGkeys Pro Plus, the ZAGGkeys MINZAGGkeys MINI 9
ZAGGkeys PROfolio, ZAGGkeys PROfolio+, the ZAGGspeamily of mobile power options, the iFrogz BodstBoost Plus, Calibe
gaming headsets, and the Animatone line of audaessories for young children. We expect our manketind advertising expenses
continue to be a significant expenditure as ouenees increase and expect to spend increased fumddvertising and promotion of ¢
products as well as sales training. During fis€dll® we intend to continue to expand our markegiffigrts related to our existing products
for our new product introduction

« During the fourth quarter of 2012, we made a sigaift adjustment in brand strategy by placing grefiicus on promoting our core brar
ZAGG and iFrogz, in an effort to improve brand itlawith consumers. As a result of this adjustmierttrand focus and lower stock price,
Company conducted an impairment analysis thattegbinh a norcash impairment charge of $11,497 related to th@&htion trademark ar
goodwill from the iFrogz acquisition. No impairmesitarges were incurred during 20

« For the year ended December 31, 2012, amortizaipense was $9,732, an increase of $5,783 as cethpai$3,949 for the year enc
December 31, 2011. The increase is directly aitaible to amortization expense on intangibles aeduas part of the acquisition of iFrog:
the second quarter of 2011, which are being aneaftian an accelerated basis. As the acquisition roetuon June 21, 2011, o
approximately six months of amortization was reeorth 2011, while twelve months of amortization wesorded in 2012

« For the year ended December 31, 2012, salariesedaiedd taxes, including shapased payment expense, increased by $10,480 td14
from $14,931 for the year ended December 31, 2Uh#. increases in this category from 2011 to 201fewelated to the following: (
increase in stock compensation expense from $3r22811 to $6,018 in 2012, from executive stock pensation awards and a Company-
wide grant of stock compensation awards; (2) omsotidated company headcount increased from 26 logwegs to 273 (though 49 of the .
employees at the beginning of 2012 were part offhegz acquisition and thus were only part of @@mpany for approximately half of 20:

— this increase and a fuflear with the iFrogz employees caused the ovenallease in this expense category; (3) $910 in gmpo
termination expenses incurred in the third quasfe2012 related to the departure of former CEO,&bPBedersen Il; (4) a new companide
bonus program that commenced in March 2012; an@@%® executive compensation salary adjustm

« For the year ended December 31, 2012, other sgliiegeral and administrative expenses, net ofisaland related taxes described ak
were $27,919 compared to $24,661 for the year ebdegmber 31, 2011. The changes by category atmatized in the table beloy
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Year Year

Ended Ended
December 30 December 30

2012 2011
Professional fee $ 395 % 3,54¢
iFrogz transaction fee - 1,947
Rent 1,61¢ 1,001
Credit card and bank fe 1,87¢ 1,451
Commissions 6,28 4,14¢
Depreciatior 1,76( 98t
Other 12,43( 11,58t
Total $ 2791¢ $ 24,66

The increase in professional fees is due to lega¢reses incurred related to the defense of ountsmteegal fees associated with the class action
lawsuits, and increased accounting fees incurr@®ir?. Rents increased due primarily to expandiegiumber of suites occupied at the corporate
offices in Salt Lake City, Utah. Commissions aneldir card and bank fees increased consistent hwtloverall increase in sales. Depreciation
increased due to the addition of equipment anddhnepletion of certain leasehold improvements attimporate offices in Salt Lake City. The incre
in “Other” relates to additional expenses incurasd result of the overall increase in headcoumioperations, including increases in health instgan
costs, employee costs, bad debt expense, sugpbsisige and delivery, utilities, investor relatiamsl the fact that 2012 includes a full-year obiz
expenses while 2011 only includes approximatelymsinths. These increases were offset by $1,48%parese incurred in 2011 related to the
impairment on the note receivable where no singifearge was incurred in 2012.

Income from operations

We reported income from operations of $33,491 lierytear ended December 31, 2012, compared to infromeoperations of $28,137 for the year
ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $5,3%4udked in 2012 income from operations is a non-eaglairment charge of $11,497 recorded in the
fourth quarter of 2012. Excluding this non-cashrgkeaincome from operations would have been $44,8@881crease of $16,851 compared to 2011.
The increased income from operations for the yaded December 31, 2012, as compared to the yeaddhekcember 31, 2011, is primarily
attributable to the overall increase in net safesuo invisibleSHIELD, keyboard, audio, and casedarct lines; expanded distribution through our
indirect channel partners, online, and throughaaut owners; a full year of iFrogz operations dgr2912 (only six months of operations in 2011),
which was partially offset by a decrease in grasdipdue to the continued shift in our product aténnel sales mix.

Other income (expense)

For the year ended December 31, 2012, total otheeresse was $9,593 compared to total other expen$é, 35 for the year ended December
2011. The increase is primarily due to (1) appratety a fullyear of interest expense under our previous dateeagent with PNC and Cerberus
was incurred at the time of the iFrogz acquisittonJune 21, 2011, while 2011 only had approximagelymonths of interest expense, (2) a chart
$430 paid to PNC and Cerberus to terminate thedtcagdeement when the Company refinanced with Wedlgyjo, which is classified as a compol
of interest expense in the consolidated financi@y,a non-cash charge of $1,509 related to théewff of debt issuance costs when the Com,
terminated its credit agreement with PNC and Cerband entered into a new credit agreement witHs/#ealrgo, which is classified as part of inte
expense, and (4) a loss from our equity methodsimvent in HzO of $2,866.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $9,39h&yeéar ended December 31, 2012, compared to intarexpense of $9,418 for the year ended
December 31, 2011. From 2011 to 2012, our effedéx rate increased from 34.9% to 39.3%. Duedadduction in income before tax during the
year, which was primarily related to the $11.5 iimpant charge, the impact of applying a valuatiboveance to the loss on equity method investment
in HzO and a decrease in the domestic manufactdexgction percentage were much more pronouncendgdire year than they would have
otherwise been.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireattributable to stockholders of $14,505 or $@d6diluted share for the year ended December 31,
2012, compared to net income attributable to stolcldrs of $18,248 or $0.63 per diluted share fenjthar ended December 31, 2011.
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, AS COMPARED TO THE WR ENDED DECMEBER 31, 2010 (in thousands, except ghare data)
Net sales

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2011 $4t@,125 compared to net sales of $76,135 foyée ended December 31, 2010, an increa
$102,990 or 135%.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, sales oheisibleSHIELD product line accounted for approzitaly 58% of our revenues. We have
experienced significant growth in our indirect chahto Big Box retailers including Best Buy, Walmararget and Radio Shack; wireless carriers such
as AT&T, Verizon, T-Mobile, Sprint, The Carphone house and Cricket; and both domestic and foreligetronics accessory distributors. We are
still focused on distribution through our mall Kiogrogram and through our websites www.ZAGG.caimd_www.iFrogz.com but the significant

growth for 2011 was through our indirect channelvashegan selling through additional customerseaqmanded our SKU count with our current
customers. For the year ended December 31, 2ppigxmately 78% of our overall net sales were tigtoour indirect channel, 15% were through
our website, 6% were through our mall cart andjm®grams and 1% were from shipping and handleyges.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes raw materials, packing maseand shipping and fulfillment costs. For tleayended December 31, 2011, cost of sales
amounted to $97,201 or approximately 54% of netssabmpared to cost of sales of $38,738 or 51%$ales for the year ended December 31,
2010. The increase in cost of sales as a peraeofaget revenues for the year ended December031l,, 2s compared to the year ended December 31
2010, is due to the write-up of inventory relatedrte iFrogz acquisition of $4,506, which was relear through cost of sales when the inventory was
sold during 2011, and a continued sales mix sifia higher percentage of our total sales was déseapof sales through our indirect channels, which
are at lower-margins than website sales directihéoconsumer.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2044 $81,924 or approximately 46% of net sales apaosd to $37,397 or approximately 49% of
sales for the year ended December 31, 2010. Téreake in gross profit percentage is due to thiewp of inventory related to the iFrogz acquisitio
of $4,506, which was recorded through cost of salesn the inventory was sold during 2011, and dicoad sales mix shift, as a higher percentage of
our total sales was comprised of sales throughmalirect channels, which are at lower margins thabsite sales directly to the consumer. As we
continue to grow our business, we anticipate tretw¥l have increased sales to our indirect custsmdnich will continue to put pressure on our gross
profit margins. There are no assurances that Wearitinue to recognize similar gross profit magyin the future.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses for year ended Decemhe&t031, were $53,787, an increase of $33,204 faial bperating expenses for year ended
December 31, 2010, of $20,583. The increasesramaply attributable to the following:

« For the year ended December 31, 2011, marketingsrasing and promotion expenses were $10,246narease of $5,179, as compare
$5,067, for the year ended December 31, 2010. niested heavily in advertising for the keyboardduat line, in online advertising, and
print and radio advertisements during the year. eifsect our marketing and advertising expensesmtirue to be a significant expendit
as our revenues increase and expect to spend secréands on advertising and promotion of our petelas well as sales training. Dut
fiscal 2012, we intend to continue to expand ourketing efforts related to our existing products dor our new product introduction

« For the year ended December 31, 2011, salarieseteted taxes increased by $8,542 to $14,931 fréy88P for the year ended Decembet
2010, which includes $3,258 in expenses relatetheoissuance of common stock and options to ourl@mps. From 2010 to 2011, «
consolidated company headcount increased from b@llogees to 261, which significantly impacted theemll increase in this exper
category. In addition, the Company incurred $1,568harebased payment expense recorded in Q2 2011 relatdtetmodification of
previously granted stock optio

« For the year ended December 31, 2011, other sgliiegeral and administrative expenses, net ofisaland related taxes described ak
were $28,610 compared to $9,127 for the year ebaegmber 31, 2010. The changes by category armatized in the table beloy
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Year Year

Ended Ended
December 30 December 31

2011 2010
Professional fee $ 3,54¢ $ 1,214
iFrogz transaction fee 1,94 -
Rent 1,001 911
Credit card and bank fe: 1,451 78¢
Commissions 4,14¢ 1,751
Depreciation & amortizatio 4,934 36E
Other 11,58t 4,09¢
Total $ 28,61( $ 9,127

The increase in professional fees is due to lega¢reses incurred related to the defense of ountsmtiegal work incurred in connection with
negotiating the Logitech agreement, legal feescatem with the valuation and repossession of ashat collateralize the note receivable, and
accounting fees incurred related to our changeiditers. Commissions were also up on a compatissis due to the strong sales of the ZAGGmate
product online, continued growth through indirect@unts for which we utilize a third-party salesngany, and commissions incurred related to sales
at the iFrogz segment. Depreciation and amortindticreased significantly due to the amortizatbmtangible assets related to the acquisition of
iFrogz and the depreciation of iFrogz assets. hheease in “Other” relates to additional expensearred as a result of (1) the ZAGG segment’s
overall increase in headcount and operations, dwetuincreases in health insurance costs, emplogses, bad debt expense, supplies, postage and
delivery, utilities, and investor relations; (2),489 in expense incurred in connection with andimmpent recorded on the note receivable; (3) six
months of expenses at the iFrogz segment; anch(dyerall increase in operations and loss at th@ Bzgment compared to the prior year, including
amortization of intangibles of $972.

Income from operations

We reported income from operations of $28,137 lierytear ended December 31, 2011, compared to infromeoperations of $16,814 for the year
ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $11,3@8.intreased income from operations for the yede@mecember 31, 2011, as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2010, is primarily atteiblg to the overall increase in net sales of ouisibleSHIELD product line, the addition of the
keyboard product line, increases in sales acrdss sbnsumer electronics accessory lines, anddtigi@n of iFrogz operations during 2011, which
was partially offset by a decrease in gross preitih the sales mix shift toward the indirect channe

Other income (expense)

For the year ended December 31, 2011, total otherese was $1,135 compared to other expense of f628te year ended December 31, 2010.
increase is primarily due to an increase in intsregpense from debt entered into to acquire iEradiich was partially offset by the gain recogni
on the deconsolidation of HzO.

Income taxes

We recognized an income tax expense of $9,41&&oyear ended December 31, 2011, compared to intapnexpense of $6,650 for the year ended
December 31, 2010. From 2010 to 2011, our effedtixeate decreased from 40.1% to 34.9% due toggdsim permanent items included in our 2011
income tax provision compared to 2010. The sigaiftcchange include the following: (1) impact ofrgan deconsolidation of HzO, (2) an increase in
the domestic production activities deduction, (Bgduction in return to provision adjustments,rid)interest and penalties recorded in the 2011
provision, (5) no federal rate surcharge in 201t @) a number of other items that favorably inipddhe 2011 tax rate on a net basis.

Net income

As a result of these factors, we reported net ireattributable to stockholders of $18,248 or $@éBdiluted share for the year ended December 31,
2011, compared to net income attributable to stoltidrs of $9,963 or $0.41 per diluted share forys@ ended December 31, 2010.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources (in thousands)

At December 31, 2012, our principle sources ofillijy were cash generated by operations, cash ad;tend the issuance of a Term Loan and Line of
Credit with Wells Fargo. Our principle uses of caslve been to fund working capital requirementstaedccontinued growth of the business.

Cash and cash equivalents on-hand decreased tb7$28) December 31, 2012, from $26,433 on DeceBibe2011, a decrease of $6,256. The
decrease in cash is largely the result of positagh from operations during 2012, offset by $27 jaQ@ayments on debt during the first quarter of
2012. Earnings from foreign operations are considi@ermanently re-invested and of the $20,177 bakince on December 31, 2012, cash from
foreign entities totaled $3,531, which constitut@ss% of the total cash and cash equivalents balanc

At December 31, 2012, we had an income tax payzdience of $3,062.
At December 31, 2012, we had working capital of, 389 compared to $74,490 as of December 31, 2011.

Based on our current level of operations, we beligat cash generated from operations, cash on haddavailable borrowings under our existing
credit arrangements will be adequate to meet ouently expected capital expenditures and workiagital needs for the next 12 months and beyond.

Debt and Letters of Crec

On December 7, 2012, the Company and Wells Fargezhinto a tworear, $84.0 million Credit Agreement, consistingad$24.0 million Term Loa
and a $60.0 million Line of Credit, which Line ofeglit includes a letter of credit sub-feature tidws the Company to issue standby commercial
letters of credit against the Line of Credit, nmekceed at any time an aggregate of $10.0 milAsnof December 31, 2012, the Company had an
outstanding balance of $24.0 million on the Ternah@and an outstanding balance of $22.2 millionhenLtine of Credit.

The Term Loan requires quarterly payments of $2@@payable on the first day of each quarter conuimg on April 1, 2013, and continuing up to
and including October 1, 2014. A final installm@atyment consisting of the remaining unpaid balasckie on December 1, 2014. A mandatory
principal payment of $500,000 is required for efistal quarter in which total liabilities to tand¢gbnet worth (as those terms are defined in theiCre
Agreement) exceeds 1.50 to 1.00, commencing wélCthmpany’s fiscal quarter ending December 31, 281 Pecember 31, 2012, no mandatory
principal payment was required.

Borrowings and repayments under the Line of Crediy occur from time to time in the Company’s ordjneourse of business from December 7,
2012, through December 1, 2014. Any outstandirrgovangs under the Line of Credit mature and are da December 1, 2014.

The outstanding principal balance of the Term Livgtially bears interest (computed on the basia 860-day year, actual days elapsed) at a
fluctuating rate per annum determined to be suthe@{1) LIBOR margin (with the initial LIBOR margimeing set at 1.25%) and (2) Daily Three
Month LIBOR (as defined above) in effect from tinoetime. Pursuant to the Term Loan, each changeeimate of interest will become effective on
each business day on which a change in Daily Thieath LIBOR is announced by Wells Fargo. Commegdrecember 31, 2012, the outstanding
principal balance of the Term Note will bear instrecomputed on the basis of a 360-day year, adua elapsed) at a fixed rate per annum
determined by the Bank to be the sum of the (1)@RBmargin (with the initial LIBOR margin being s#t1.25%) and (2) LIBOR in effect on the first
day of each Fixed Rate Term (as defined in the iCAggteement).

The outstanding principal balance under the Lin€&fdit bears interest (computed on the basis3@laday year, actual days elapsed) at a fluctuating
rate per annum determined to be the sum of thEIBPR margin (with the initial LIBOR margin beingesat 1.25%) and (2) Daily Three Month
LIBOR (as defined below) in effect from time to #mPursuant to the Line of Credit Note, each changhe rate of interest will become effective on
each business day on which a change in Daily Threeth LIBOR is announced by Wells Fargo.

At December 31, 2012, the weighted average inteagston all outstanding borrowings under the Teoan and Line of Credit was 1.63%. At
December 31, 2012, the effective interest rate 2v8%%.

At December 31, 2012, the Company was in compliavitte covenants associated with the Credit Agredmen

On December 7, 2012, with the proceeds from theliCAgreement, the Company paid off the outstandielgt with Cerberus Business Finance, LLC
(“Cerberus”) and PNC Bank National Association (‘P and the previous debt agreement with CerbangsPNC was terminated.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments (in thousals)

The following table provides information on our ¢@ttual obligations as of December 31, 2012:

Total
Payments on Interest on Operating contractual
Debt Debt Leases obligations )
2013 $ 6,00C $ 715 $ 1,22 $ 7,93
2014 40,17: 59¢ 911 41,68:
2015 - - 62¢ 62¢
2016 - - 582 582
Thereaftel - - 281 281
Total $ 46,17 3 131 3,62¢ $ 51,11(

(1) Unrecognized uncertain tax benefits of $61 areémmuded in the table above as we are not sure wieeamount will be paic

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012, there were no off balahemt arrangements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks in the arglisourse of our business. These risks resutigrily from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates. In addition, our intéonal operations are subject to risks relatedifferihg economic conditions, changes in political

climate, differing tax structures and other regolzd and restrictions.

To date we have not utilized derivative financretruments or derivative commodity instruments. denot expect to employ these or other strate
to hedge market risk in the foreseeable future. iWest our cash in money market funds, which algext to minimal credit and market risk. We
believe that the market risks associated with tfiesecial instruments are immaterial, althoughré¢hean be no guarantee that these market risks will

be immaterial to us.

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for furthéadission of our financing facilities and capitalisture. Market risk, calculated as the potential
change in fair value of our cash equivalents amel dif credit resulting from a hypothetical 1.0%@tasis point) change in interest rates, was not

material at December 31, 2012.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements and footnthteseto are set forth beginning on page F-1 of Report.

ITEM 9.
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

1. Disclosure Controls and Procedure:

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON A CCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure contats procedures, as such term is defined under Ralel5(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchang§ A of December 31, 2012. Based on this etialuaour principal executive officer and
principal financial officer concluded that as oéthnd of the period covered by this Report, owrldssire controls and procedures are effective and
were designed to provide reasonable assurancenfbahation required to be included in our repditesd or submitted under the Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summhaaize reported as specified in the SEC’s rulesfammds.
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2. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2011, management deteed that we lacked a sufficient number of accimgnand IT professionals with the necessary
experience and training, which resulted in the Canyphaving a material weakness in internal contals financial reporting at December 31, 2011.

However, during the year ended December 31, 20@2mplemented the following changes in our intecwitrol over financial reporting that have
materially affected our internal control over ficéad reporting:

* We have hired additional accounting and IT profassis with the necessary experience and trail

* We have reviewed key accounting, IT, and operatipmacesses to ensure that controls within the ggses are designed and impleme
considering the continued growth of the Comp:

* We reviewed our information systems and relatedrotsto provide assurance that they effectivelg afiiciently capture and process d:¢

* We have completed our internal testing of the dpegeeffectiveness of internal controls and conellidhat controls were effective at Decen
31, 2012,

Due to the remedial actions described above, managehas concluded the material weakness at Dece3db@011, has been remediated and
internal controls over financial reporting wereeetive at the reasonable assurance level at Dece3th2012.

3. Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting as defined in Rule 13&(f) under th
Exchange Act. Our internal control over financigborting is a process designed to provide reaseredslurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. Internal control
over financial reporting includes those policiesl @nocedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in reaisie detail accurately and fairly reflect the s@ctions and dispositions of our assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoceded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements in accordance \
generally accepted accounting princip!

« provide reasonable assurance that our receiptexpehditures are being made only in accordance authorization of our management
directors; anc

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of assets that could ha
material effect on our consolidated financial steats.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofiternal control over financial reporting based thre framework in "Internal Control—Integrated
Framework" issued by the Committee of Sponsoringg@izations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on this evaluation, our management deterniregcbur disclosure controls and procedures deetdfe and designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be includeslr reports filed or submitted under the Exa®Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported as specifibe IBEC's rules and forms.

Our independent registered public accounting fkiAMG LLP, has issued an attestation report on ot@rnal control over financial reporting, whicl
included at 9A.5 below.

4. Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designprbvide reasonable assurance of achieving tigéctives. Nevertheless, an internal control
system, no matter how well conceived and operaiu provide only reasonable, not absolute, assardwat the objectives of the control system are
met. Further, the design of a control system régldte fact that there are resource constraintstl@benefits of controls are considered relative
their costs. Because of the inherent limitationalirtontrol systems, no evaluation of controls pasvide absolute assurance that all control isanes
instances of fraud, if any, within the Company hbeen detected. These inherent limitations incthéeealities that judgments in decisioraking cal
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur becausengie error or mistake. Additionally, controlsndae circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, ontanagement override of the internal control. Theigteof any system of controls also is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihofftiture events, and there can be no assurantartfialesign will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. Overet, control may become inadequate because of esangonditions, or the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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5. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
ZAGG Inc:

We have audited ZAGG Inc’s internal control overaficial reporting as of December, 31, 2012 basedriteria established internal Control—
Integrated Frameworlissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizationthe Treadway Commission (COSO). ZAGG Bichanagement

responsible for maintaining effective internal cohbver financial reporting and for its assessn@rihe effectiveness of internal control over fingl
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagenseR&port on Internal Control Over Financial Repayt{ltem 9A.3). Our responsibility is

express an opinion on the Company’s internal cootrer financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight lld@nited States). Those standards re«
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtassurance about whether effective internatabover financial reporting was maintained ir
material respects. Our audit included obtainingiaderstanding of internal control over financigdoging, assessing the risk that a material wea
exists, and testing and evaluating the design gretating effectiveness of internal control basedtlw assessed risk. Our audit also incl
performing such other procedures as we consideeedssary in the circumstances. We believe thataadit provides a reasonable basis for
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is eopess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregahe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaaicepted accounting principles. A company’
internal control over financial reporting includid®se policies and procedures that (1) pertaiméonaintenance of records that, in reasonablel
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions ampositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideveasonable assurance that transactior
recorded as necessary to permit preparation oféiahstatements in accordance with generally @eceaccounting principles, and that receipts
expenditures of the company are being made onpceordance with authorizations of management arettdirs of the company; and (3) pro\
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opatition of the compang’assets that could hav
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etmisstatements. Also, projections of any evatin
of effectiveness to future periods are subjecth®risk that controls may become inadequate beoafuskanges in conditions, or that the degre
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate.

In our opinion, ZAGG Inc maintained, in all maténaspects, effective internal control over finadeeporting as of December 31, 2012, based on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolidated bal:
sheets of ZAGG Inc and subsidiaries as of Decer@beP012 and 2011, and the related consolidatéenséats of operations, comprehensive inci
equity, and cash flows for each of the years inttireeyear period ended December 31, 2012, and our rejsoed March 18, 2013 expresset
unqualified opinion on those consolidated finanstaktements.

/sl KPMG

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 18, 2013
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable
PART Il
Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 in Part IIl of this Be@re incorporated herein by reference to ouindefe proxy statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting

of Shareholders. We intend to file our definitprexy statement with the SEC not later than 12Gddier December 31, 2012, pursuant to Regulation
14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as atedn

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERN ANCE
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

15(a)(1). Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statements] aglated notes and Report of Independent Registeublic Accounting Firm are filed as part of t
Annual Report:

Page

Report of KPMG LLP Independent Registered Publicdmting Firm F-2

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&012011 F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yer@ded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomthéoyears ended December 31, 2(2011 and 201 F-5

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the yeargdrmdecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2 F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaied December 31, 2012, 2011 and F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-9

15(a)(2). Financial Statement Schedules.

None.

15(a)(3). Exhibits.

Exhibit Number Description

3.1* Articles of Incorporation of Registrant as filedtivihe State of Nevac

3.1.1* Certificate of Correction as filed with the StafeNevada

3.2* Bylaws of Registran

10.1* Separation and Release of Claims Agreement (prelyidiled as an exhibit to a Current Report on F&-K filed with the
Commission on October 4, 201

10. 2* Executive Consulting Agreement (previously filedsasexhibit to a Current Report on Form 8-K filetthathe Commission on
October 4, 2012

10.3* Credit Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Wells Fargal8 National Association (previously filed as ahibit to a Curren
Report on Form-K filed with the Commission on December 13, 20:

10.4* Revolving Line of Credit Note & Addendum to RevalgiLine of Credit Note between ZAGG Inc and Welisgo Bank,
National Association (previously filed as an exhtbia Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on December
2012).

10.5* Term Note & Addendum to Term Note between ZAGGdnd Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (preslgdiled as an
exhibit to a Current Report on Forr-K filed with the Commission on December 13, 20:

10.6* Security Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Wells F&8gok, National Association (previously filed aseadhibit to a Curren
Report on Form-K filed with the Commission on December 13, 20:

10.7* General Pledge Agreement between ZAGG Inc and \Wellgo Bank, National Association (previously fileslan exhibit to a
Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Commission on December 13, 20:

10.8* Employment Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Banddri®h (previously filed as an exhibit to a Curr&®sport on Form 8-

K filed with the Commission on December 13, 20:

*
109 Employment Agreement between ZAGG Inc and Randgsigreviously filed as an exhibit to a Current ®&pn Form -K



14*

211
23.1
311

31.2
32.1
32.2

EX-101.INS

EX-101.SCH
EX-101.CAL
EX-101.DEF
EX-101.LAB
EX-101.PRE

filed with the Commission on December 13, 20:

Code of Ethic

List of subsidiarie:

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing— KPMG LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Secufiiehange Act of 1934, as
Amended.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawnt Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Seculiiehange Act of 1934, as
Amended.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuargdtdd 906 of the Sarbar-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuarg¢td® 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkba

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba:

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkba

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkb:

* previously filed with the Securities and Exchar@emmission
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyi¢ has duly caused this Report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly argbkd.

ZAGG INC

Dated: March 18, 2013 By: /s/ RANDALL L. HALES
Randall L. Hale:
President, CEO, & Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Dated: March 18, 20: By: /s/ RANDALL L. HALES
Randall L. Hales
President, CEO, & Director
(Principal Executive Officer

Dated: March 18, 2013 By: /s/ BRANDON T. O'BRIEN
Brandon T. O'Brien
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Office

Dated: March 18, 20: By: /s/ CHERYL LARABEE

Cheryl Larabe:t
Chairman

Dated: March 18, 2013 By: /s/ ED EKSTROM
Ed Ekstrom
Director

Dated: March 18, 2013 By: /s/ DAN MAURER

Dan Maurer
Director

Dated: March 18, 2013 By: /s/ TODD HEINER
Todd Heiner
Director

Dated: March 18, 20: By : /s/BRAD HOLIDAY

Brad Holiday
Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
ZAGG Inc:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of ZAGG Inc and subsidiaries as of Deee®b, 2012 and 2011, and the rel:
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemstome, equity, and cash flows for each of treryén the thregear period ended December
2012. These consolidated financial statementshareetsponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on thes
consolidated financial statements based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standards re:
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabEnassurance about whether the financial statisneea free of material misstatement. An &
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgathe amounts and disclosures in the finansiatements. An audit also includes assessir
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfieancial statement presentation. We bel
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of ZAGG Inc
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011thlendesults of their operations and their cash $ldor each of the years in the thrgsar perio
ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.Sagally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), ZAGG Ing’interna
control over financial reporting as of December 3012, based on criteria establishediniternal Control — Integrated Framewoiiksued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred®ommission (COSO), and our report dated Marc2083 expressed an unqualified opir
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal mdmver financial reporting.

(signed) KPMG LLP
Salt Lake City, Utah

March 18, 2013
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value)

2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel 20,171 26,43
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,9720h2 and $2,070 in 20: 54,56 45,45(
Inventories 39,98¢ 29,62
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 9,547 1,59:
Deferred income tax asse¢ 6,917 5,132
Total current assets 131,18! 108,23(
Investment in HzO 2,01z 4.87¢
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation at $3,317 in 2012%4,857 in 201 4,862 4,162
Goodwill 1,48¢ 6,92¢
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization at $13,790 in2&dd $3,989 in 201 57,90¢ 73,69:
Deferred income tax asset 6,59¢ 82
Note receivable 582 1,34¢
Other assets 1,457 3,01(
Total assets 206,08! 202,32¢
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl 19,02} 16,01:
Income taxes payab 3,062 4,297
Accrued liabilities 3,75¢ 3,88¢
Accrued wages and wage related expe 2,554 1,46¢
Deferred revenu 722 32C
Current portion of note payak 6,00( 2,372
Sales returns liabilit 6,697 5,387
Total current liabilities 41,81¢ 33,74(
Revolving line of credit 22,17: 23,33:
Noncurrent portion of note payable 18,00( 42,62¢
Total liabilities 81,98¢ 99,70(
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 share®anéd,;

31,215 and 29,782 shares issued and outstanesugctively 31 30
Additional paic¢in capital 77,23¢ 70,24¢
Cumulative translation adjustme (57) (33)
Note receivable collateralized by stc (56€) (56€)
Retained earning 47,45« 32,94¢

Total stockholders' equity 124,09¢ 102,62¢
Noncontrolling interest - -
Total equity 124,09¢ 102,62¢
Total liabilities and equity 206,08! 202,32¢




See accompanying notes to consolidated financgstents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Net sales $ 264,42¢ $ 179,12! 76,13t
Cost of sales 143,88( 97,20 38,73¢
Gross profit 120,54! 81,92« 37,39’
Operating expenses

Advertising and marketin 12,49 10,24¢ 5,067

Selling, general and administrati 53,33( 39,59: 15,50¢

Impairment of goodwill and intangible 11,49 - -

Amortization of definit-lived intangibles 9,73: 3,94¢ 12
Total operating expense: 87,05¢ 53,787 20,58:
Income from operations 33,491 28,131 16,81«
Other income (expense)

Interest expens (6,32]) (3,022 (243%)

Loss from equity method investment in H (2,86€) - -

Gain on deconsolidation of Hz - 1,90¢ -

Other income and (expens (40€) (19 7
Total other expense (9,597 (1,13%) (23€)
Income before provision for income taxe: 23,89¢ 27,00 16,57¢
Income tax provision (9,399 (9,419 (6,650)
Net income 14,50¢ 17,58 9,92¢
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest - 664 35
Net income attributable to stockholders $ 1450 $ 18,24t 9,96:
Earnings per share attributable to stockholders:

Basic earnings per share $ 04¢ $ 0.67 0.44

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.4€ $ 0.6: 0.41

F-4

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsstents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)

2012 2011 2010

Net income $ 14,508 $ 17,58 $ 9,92¢
Other comprehenseive income (loss), net of ta

Foreign currency translation gain (lo: (24) 27 52
Total other comprehensive income (loss (24) 27 52
Comprehensive income $ 14,48. $ 17,61 $ 9,98(
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrollingriterest - 664 35
Comprehensive income attributable to stockholder $ 14,48. $ 18,27F $ 10,01¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsents.
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Balances,
December 31,
2009

Purchase of Hz(
technology and
equipmen

Net income (los:
Other
comprehensive
income

Issuance of
common stock t
employee:
Option exercise
Warrant
exercise:
Warrant gran
expense

Patent acquisitic
Option expens
Excess ta
benefits related
to share-based
payments
Balance,
December 31,
2010

Addition to
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest
Acquisition of
noncontrolling
interest
Noncontrolling
interest at fair
value
Adjustments to
redemption valu
Reversal tc
adjustments to
redemption valu
prior to
deconsolidatior
Deconsolidation
of HzO

Net income (los:
Other
comprehensive
income

Issuance of
common stock t
purchase iFrog

Issuance o

ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(in thousands)

Note

Additional Receivable Cumulative Total Redeemable
Common Stock Paid-in  Collateralized Retainec Translation Stockholders Noncontrolling Total Noncontrolling

Shares Amount Capital By Stock  Earnings Adjustment Equity Interest Equity Interest
21,71: $ 22% 9,23¢ - 4,73¢ (112) 13,887 - 13,881 -
- - - - - - - 2,65¢ 2,65¢ -
- - - - 9,96: - 9,96: (35  9,92¢ -
- - - - - 52 52 - 52 -
20 - 42 - - - 42 - 42 -
524 - 70¢ - - - 70¢ - 70¢ -
1,60( 2 2,07¢ - - - 2,08( - 2,08( -
- - 29z - - - 29z - 29z -
70 - 1,60t - - - 1,60¢ - 1,60t -
- - 957 - - - 952 - 957 -
- - 577 - - - 577 - 577 -
23,92¢ $ 24$ 1549t $ - $ 14,70. $ (60) $ 30,16( $ 2,621 $ 32,78. $ -
- - (165) - - - (165) - (165) 5,50(
- - - - - - - (392 (392) -
- - (36) - - - (3€) (2,017 (2,059 1,60¢
- - (22 - (319 - (341 - (341 341
- - 22 - 31¢ - 341 - 341 (341
- - - - - - - 64 64 (6,720
- - - - 18,24¢ - 18,24¢ (27¢) 17,97: (38¢)
- - - - - 27 27 - 27 -
4,444 4 46,19¢ - - - 46,20( - 46,20( -



common stock t
consultan
Issuance of
common stock
related to
contract
termination
Option exercise
Warrant
exercise
Warrant grant
expense
Restricted stoc
expense

Option expens
Excess ta
benefits related
to share-based
payments
Reclassificatior
of note
receivable
collateralized by
stock

Balances
December 31,
2011

Net income
Other
comprehensive
loss

Option exercise
Warrant
exercise:
Restricted stoc
release

Option expens
Warrant grant
expense
Restricted stock
expense
Excess ta
benefits related
to share-based
payments

Balances,
December 31,
2012

10 - 10C - - - 10( - 10C

90 - 89¢ - - - 89¢ - 89¢

951 1 1,55¢ - - - 1,55¢ - 155¢

361 1 917 - - - 914 - 914

- - 377 - - - 371 - 377

- - 61¢ - - - 61¢ - 61¢

- - 2,64( - - - 2,64( - 2,64

- - 1,65¢ - - - 1,65¢ - 1,65¢

- - - (56€) - - (56€) - (56€)
29,78: 30 $ 70,24 (566) $ 32,94¢ $ (33)$ 102,62 $ - $102,62¢ $

- - - - 14,508 - 14,50 - 14,508

- - - - - (24) (24) - (24)

49t - 59¢ - - - 59¢ - 59¢

55€ 1 29t - - - 29¢ - 29¢

382 - - - - - - - -

- - 1,00¢ - - - 1,00¢ - 1,00¢

- - 311 - - - 311 - 311

] ) 4,191 - - - 4,191 - 4,191

- - 582 - - - 582 - 582
3121'$  31$ 7723 $ (56€) $ 47,45 $ (57)$ 124,09 $ - $124,00 $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgstents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

For the Years Ended
December 31

2012 2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 1450 $ 17,58 $ 9,92¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net ¢
provided by (used in) operating activitit
Stocl-based compensatic 5,70% 3,25¢ 994
Impairment of goodwill and intangible 11,49 - -
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen (707) (1,670 (620)
Depreciation and amortizatic 11,55¢ 5,92¢ 34¢
Deferred income taxe (8,297 (3,909) (1,487
Amortization of deferred loan cos 70¢ 32¢ -
Write-off of deferred loan cos 1,50¢ - -
Expense related to issuance of warri 311 377 29¢
Expense related to issuance of stock for consu - 10C -
Expense related to issuance of stock for roya - 33€ -
Impairment on notes receivalt - 1,48¢ -
Loss on disposal of property and equipmr 313 - -
Loss on investment in equity method investrr 2,86¢ - -
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz - (1,906) -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqgtisition
Accounts receivabl (9,099 (22,099 (12,219
Inventories (10,339 2,46¢ (14,25))
Related party other ass - - (2,747)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (7,600 1,607 (1,86))
Other asset (11 134 (54
Accounts payabl 3,04« 42 9,341
Income taxes payab (65€) (2,092) 6,802
Accrued liabilities (262) 3,36¢ 68€
Accrued wages and wage related expe 681 (959) 13¢€
Deferred revenue 40z (72 32
Sales return liability 1,29¢ 2,811 1,517
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 17,44¢ 7,131 (3,159
Cash flows from investing activities
Deposits on and purchase of intangible as (72 (96) (2,119
Purchase of property and equipm (2,769 (2,590 (819
Deconsolidation of HzO, net of ca - (4,277) -
Proceeds from investment in note receivé - 49¢€ -
Acquisition of iFrogz, net of cash acquir - (47,537) -
Net cash used in investing activiti (2,836) (52,999 (2,936)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of debt issuance cc (23¢) (2,539 -
Proceeds from issuance of term n 24,00( 45,00( -
Proceeds from revolving credit faciliti 26,23¢ 29,837 31
Payments on term no (45,000 - -
Payments on revolving credit faciliti (27,39¢) (11,54¢) -
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and opt 89t 2,467 2,79(C
Excess tax benefits related to sl-based paymen 707 1,67(C 61¢
Cash paid for investment in Hz - (392 -
Net HzO proceeds from issuance of Series B PrefeStack - 5,33 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (20,799 69,83 3,44(
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on casmd cash equivalents (72 95 52
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivake (6,25€) 24,06( (2,599)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the perdc 26,43: 2,37¢ 4,971




Cash and cash equivalents at end of the peric $ 20,177 $ 26,437 $ 2,37:
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid during the period for inter 4,47 260z $ 242
Cash paid during the period for ta 18,53¢ 13,09t 71C

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsents.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(Dollars and shares in thousands)
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaing activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012:

Foreclosure on real property valued at $250 thatskas collateral to a note receivable (Note fidrp€losed property recorded as a component of
other noncurrent assets in the consolidated balsineet).

Foreclosure on private company stock and warrdr§16 that served as collateral to a note recéav@iote 11) (foreclosed property recorded as
a component of other noncurrent assets in the tidased balance sheet).

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011:

Issued 90 shares of common stock with a fair vafug899 in connection with the acquisition of im¢etual property and payment of royalties.
Issued 4,444 shares of common stock with a fairevaf $46,200 in connection with the purchase migg (see Note 2).

Exchanged inventory for asset purchase creditg85$see Note 4).

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010:

Issued 100 warrants to consultants to purchase conmstock with a fair value of $31.

Issued 70 shares of common stock and 250 warnmactninection with the acquisition of patents.

Issued 8,418 shares of HzO Series A Preferred Stock imection with the acquisition of the HzO technology.

Issued 500 shares of HzO Series A Preferred Stocké purchase of equipment.

Issued 20 shares of common stock to employees.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

(1) ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING  POLICIES
The Company

We were formed as a Nevada corporation on Ap2a®4, under the name Amerasia Khan Enterprise$'BE"). On February 8, 2007, AKE
executed an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Blefgrreement”) by and between AKE and its whollyned subsidiary, SZC Acquisition, Inc., a
Nevada corporatior‘Subsidiary”) on the one hand, and ShieldZone Caation, a Utah corporation (“ShieldZone”) on thbathand. Pursuant to the
Merger Agreement, ShieldZone merged with Subsidiaith ShieldZone surviving the merger and Subsid@easing to exist (the “Merger”).

Following the Merger, ShieldZone was reincorporateevada as a subsidiary of AKE. On March 7, 2(&heldZone was merged into AKE and
AKE changed its name to ZAGG Incorporated. As altexf these transactions, the historical finanstatements of ZAGG Incorporated are the
historical financial statements of ShieldZone.

We changed our name from ShieldZone CorporatidAGG Incorporated to better position the companiggoome a large enterprise in the
electronics’ accessories industry through orgamevth and through making targeted acquisitionse $hieldZone name was very specific to the
invisibleSHIELD product line, and although the isibleSHIELD® is a core product, the name changebhasght us the opportunity to easily add new
products to our product offering. During 2011, vieeged our name from ZAGG Incorporated to ZAGG Inc.

On June 21, 2011, ZAGG acquired 100% of the oudétgnshares of iFrogz, which further diversifie@ #ixisting ZAGG product line, particularly for
audio and protective case accessories.

The Company designs, produces, and distributesivegaroduct solutions such as protective coverikggboards, keyboard cases, earbuds, mobile
power solutions, and device cleaning accessoriesfbile devices under the family of ZAGG brandsthiv the family of ZAGG brand are products
sold under the following brand names: invisibleEHD®, ZAGGskins™, ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsparq™, ZAGGfolio™, ZAG@ate™, ZAGGkeys™
ZAGGkeys PRO™, ZAGGkeys PRO Plus™, ZAGGkeys PROfAIAGGkeys PROfolio +, ZAGGkeys MINI 7, and ZAGGleMINI 9.

In addition, the Company designs, produces, artdlulises cases, Near-Field Audio™ amplifying speakearbuds, traditional headphones, and
gaming headphones for mobile devices under thelfashiFrogz brands in the value-priced lifestybctor. Within the iFrogz brand are products sold
under the following brand names: iFrogz™, Earp@hutV, Caliber™, and Animatone™.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acamgprinciples (“US GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiettthe reported amounts of assets and liaksligied disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the reported amounts of revamdiexgenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Sigaifit items subject to such estimates include tbevahce for doubtful accounts, inventory reserve,
sales returns liability, the useful life of propeand equipment, the useful life of intangible asskhe recoverability of goodwill and intangiblesats,
the fair value of the investment in HzO, Inc. (“H2Gstock-based compensation, and income taxdsesd estimates and assumptions are based on
management’s best estimates and judgment. Managevenates its estimates and assumptions on aviranfasis using historical experience and
other factors, including the economic environmerfitich management believes to be reasonable und@irtumstances. Management adjusts such
estimates and assumptions when facts and circuoegtatictate an adjustment is necessary.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

Principles of consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of ZAGG Inc and its wholly owned subsidiarZAGG International Distribution Limited
(“ZAGG International”), ZAGG Intellectual Propertyolding Co, Inc., ZAGG Retail, Inc., iFrogz, Inand iFrogz Europe SAS (“iFrogz Europe”). All
intercompany transactions and balances have bieeimaied in consolidation.

At December 31, 2010, HzO was consolidated by the@ny as a variable interest entity (VIE). On®&maber 22, 2011, HzO entered into an
Amended Series B Stock Purchase Agreement witlapgof third party investors. ZAGG considered thieconsideration event and concluded th

of December 22, 2011, HzO should no longer be densd a VIE under authoritative accounting literafiut was considered a voting interest entity.
Ultimately, management concluded that HzO shoultbnger be consolidated into the ZAGG financial®BBecember 31, 2011. This transaction and
the related accounting is discussed in detail aeSplnvestment in HzO and Noncontrolling Inter&nce December 22, 2011, management has
accounted for its investment in HzO as an equitthoe investment. HzO is a private company engagekd development of water-blocking
technologies for consumer and industrial applicetio

Cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instrumemischased with a maturity of three months or tedse cash equivalents. Amounts receivable
from credit card processors are also considerdud egqivalents because they are both short-terniighdy liquid in nature and are typically converted
to cash within three days of the sales transaciamounts receivable from credit card processoBemtember 31, 2012 and 2011 totaled $21 and $362
respectively. Cash equivalents as of December@12 2nd 2011, consisted primarily of money markatfinvestments and amounts receivable from
credit card processors.

Fair value measurements

The Company measures at fair value certain findracid nonfinancial assets by using a fair value hierarctat brioritizes the inputs to valuati
techniques used to measure fair value. Fair valtiee price that would be received to sell an asspaid to transfer a liability in an orderly temttior
between market participants at the measurement esgentially an exit price, based on the highedtkeest use of the asset or liability. The levé
the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotedes for similar items in active markets, quoteites for identical or similar items
markets that are not active, inputs other than efl@rices that are observable such as interestarateyield curves, and markesroborate
inputs); and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there igdibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.
Accounts receivabli

The Company sells its products to end users thrindjhect distribution channels and other reselehn® are extended credit terms after an analysis of
their financial condition and credit worthinesstedit terms to distributors and resellers, wheredéed, are based on evaluation of the customers'
financial condition. Accounts receivable are releat at invoiced amounts and do not bear interest.

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful ant®for estimated losses resulting from the ingbdf customers to make required

payments. Management regularly evaluates the atioe for doubtful accounts considering historioakes adjusted to take into account current
market conditions, customers’ financial conditicegeivables in dispute, receivables aging, anceatipayment patterns. Account balances are written
off against the allowance after all means of coitechave been exhausted and the potential fovergds considered remote. Payments subsequently
received on written off receivables are creditedad debt expense in the period of recovery.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

The following summarizes the activity in the Comparallowance for doubtful accounts for the yearded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

For the Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Balance at beginning of ye $ 2,07C $ 904 $ 68E
Additions charged to expen 2,101 1,657 21¢
Write-downs charged against the allowa (2,197 (497) —
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off — — —
Balance at end of ye: $ 2974 $ 207C $ 904
Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of finished goaasd raw materials, are valued at the lower of,@etermined on a first in, first out basis, or
market. Management performs periodic assessmenistérmine the existence of obsolete, slow mowang, non-saleable inventories, and records
necessary write downs in cost of sales to reduck swentories to net realizable value. Once eisladdl, the original cost of the inventory less the
related inventory write down represents the new bbasis of such products.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Dipien expense is computed using the straighttie¢hod over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. Leasehold improvements are amortizedtlogdesser of the useful life of the asset or énmtof the lease.

Major additions and improvements are capitalizelddjevcosts for minor replacements, maintenancerapdirs that do not increase the useful life of an
asset are expensed as incurred. Upon retiremether disposition of property and equipment, thet @and related accumulated depreciation or
amortization are removed from the accounts. Thaltieg gain or loss is reflected in selling, gel@nd administrative expense.

Intangibles asset

Intangible assets include internet addresses, {3aiatellectual property, and acquired intangibifesonnection with the acquisition of iFrogz, wic
include customer relationships, trademarks, nongaimagreements, and other miscellaneous intarasisks.

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized dheir estimated economic lives, using a straigte-br accelerated method consistent with the
underlying expected future cash flows related eogpecific intangible asset. Amortization expeassecorded within cost of sales or operating
expense depending on the underlying intangibletgisse

The sole indefinite-lived intangible asset at DebenB1, 2012 was the iFrogz trademark.
Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipmeninvestment in HzO, and definite-lived intangildlssets, are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdirying amount of an asset may not be recower#ldircumstances require a long-lived asset or
asset group be tested for possible impairmentyverability of long-lived assets is measured by carigon of its carrying amount to the undiscounted
cash flows that the asset or asset group is exghézigenerate over the remaining life in measuwhgther the assets are recoverable. If suchsasset
are considered to be impaired, the impairment teebegnized is measured by the amount by whiclcdine/ing amount of the assets exceeds its fair
value. Fair value is determined through variousation techniques including discounted cash flosdels, quoted market values and third-party
independent appraisals, as considered necessary.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

Impairment of goodwill and indefinit-lived intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assetsrggat on the balance sheet at December 31, 2012awverdred as part of the acquisition of iFrogz on
June 21, 2011. The Company does not amortize gdicaivd intangible assets with indefinite usefuklv

At least annually and when events and circumstawegsant an evaluation, we perform an impairmeseasment of goodwill. This assessment
initially permits an entity to make a qualitativesassment of whether it is more likely than not éheeporting unit’s fair value is less than itsrgang
amount before applying the two-step goodwill impeent test. If an entity can support the conclusiat it is not more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carryamgount, it would not need to perform the two-stepairment test for the reporting unit.

However, if it is determined that it is more likdlyan not that the fair value of a reporting usitdss than its carrying amount, the two step aimlg
performed, which incorporates a fair-value basqut@gch. We determine the fair value of our repgrtinits based on discounted cash flows and
market approach analyses as considered necessdrgoasider factors such as a weakened economyceddxpectations for future cash flows
coupled with a decline in the market price of aiack and market capitalization for a sustainedqakés indicators for potential goodwill impairment.

If the reporting unit's carrying amount exceedsgtimated fair value, a second step must be peefdto measure the amount of the goodwill
impairment loss, if any. The second step compéredplied fair value of the reporting unit's goatwdetermined in the same manner as the amount
of goodwill recognized in a business combinatioithwthe carrying amount of such goodwill. If therygng amount of the reporting unit's goodwiill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,iapairment loss is recognized in an amount equ#iat excess. During the fourth quarter of 2012,
management recorded a goodwill impairment of $5,Mimpairments were recorded in 2011 or 2010.

Indefinitedived intangible assets are tested for impairmentually, or, more frequently upon the occurrenca triggering event. Initially, a qualitati
analysis is performed to determine whether it isessary to perform the quantitative impairment fiasindefinite-lived intangible assets. A
quantitative assessment is only performed if ddtermined in the qualitative analysis that it isrenlikely than not that the asset is impaired.

If it is determined in the qualitative analysisttitas more likely than not that the asset is iing@d, the Company evaluates the recoverabilityrof a
indefinite-lived intangible asset by comparing theefinite-lived intangible asset’s book value toéstimated fair value. The fair value for indaén
lived intangible assets is determined by perforndagh flow analysis and other market evaluatidrthel fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible
assets is less than book value, the differencecisgnized as an impairment loss. During the foguidxter of 2012, the Company made an important
brand strategy adjustment to place greater empbadise promotion of our core brands, ZAGG and@Zrd\s a result of this decision, the Company
determined that future cash flows under the EauBoh trademark would be less than previously estiid and that the trademark should be consic
a definite-lived intangible asset. Management petém an impairment analysis and recorded an impatrof $5,917 related to the EarPollution
trademark. As the trademark is now considered mitkefived intangible, the Company will commenceatizing the trademark on an accelerated
basis over an eight-year life consistent with awjgrted future cash flows from the trademark. ildpairments were recorded in 2011 or 2010.

The Company performs its goodwill and intangiblsedsmpairment tests in the fourth quarter of disttal year. The Company established reporting
units based on its current reporting structure.gtoposes of testing goodwill for impairment, goditig assigned to a reporting unit. All goodwilias
assigned to the iFrogz reporting unit.

Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising fromicos, assessments, litigation, fines, and penadinesother sources are recorded when it is protihbte

a liability has been incurred and the amount carehsonably estimated. Legal costs incurred imection with loss contingencies are expensed as
incurred.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

Revenue recognitiol

We record revenue when persuasive evidence ofrangagment exists, product delivery has occurreglsétes price to the customer is fixed or
determinable, and collectability is reasonably es$u Our revenue is derived from sales of our petalthrough our indirect channel, including
retailers and distributors; through our direct aferincluding www.ZAGG.com www.iFrogz.com and our corporate-owned and third-party-owned
mall kiosks; and from the fees derived from the gdlexclusive independent distributor licenseateal to the kiosk program. For sales of produat, o
standard shipping terms are FOB shipping point,vaadecord revenue when the product is shippedpfrettimated returns and discounts. For some
customers, the contractual shipping terms are F&imhation. For these shipments, we record revemas the product is delivered, net of estimated
returns and discounts. For license fees, we rézegavenue on a straight-line basis over thedifthe license term. We record revenue from royalty
agreements in the period in which the royalty isied.

Promotional products given to customers or poteéntiatomers are recognized as a cost of sales. iG@eshtives provided to our customers are
recognized as a reduction of the related sale @rick therefore, are a reduction in sales.

Reserve for sales returns and warranty liabili

For product sales, the Company records revenuafmstimated returns and discounts, when prodaretshipped and the customer takes ownership
and assumes risk of loss, collection of the relevaceivable is probable, persuasive evidence afreangement exists and the sales price is fixed or
determinable. Our return policy generally allovssénhd users and retailers to return purchased gigdin addition, the Company generally provides
the ultimate consumer a warranty with each prodiie to the nature of the invisibleSHIELD prodlice, returns for the invisibleSHIELD are
generally not salvageable and are not includedvaritory. We estimate a reserve for sales remdsvarranty and record the estimated reserve
amount as a reduction of sales, and as a sales regerve liability. When product is returned @&dxpected to be resold, as is the case withnei
iFrogz products, the reserve is recorded as a tieduaf revenues and cost of sales, and as a sila® reserve liability. The estimate for saldsimes
and warranty requires management to make signifestimates regarding return rates for sales amchwy returns. Historical experience, actual
claims, and customer return rights are the keyfaaised in determining the estimated sales retadnwvarranty reserve.

The following summarizes the activity in the Comyparsales return and warranty liability for the y@anded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

For the Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Balance at beginning of ye $ 5387 $ 2,06¢ $ 55C
iFrogz sales reserve at acquisit — 524 —
Additions charged to sal 12,954 12,90¢ 7,04¢
Sales returns & warranty claims charged againstrves (11,644 (10,117) (5,530
Balance at end of year $ 6,697 $ 5387 $ 2,06¢

Income taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income tax asséthiities for expected future tax consequenaksvents that have been recognized in the
financial statements or tax returns. Under thithoe, deferred income tax assets or liabilitiesdermined based upon the difference between the
financial statement and income tax bases of aaset$iabilities using enacted tax rates expecteapfuly when differences are expected to be sattied
realized. Deferred income tax assets are revidoregcoverability and valuation allowances arevied when it is more likely than not that a
deferred tax asset will not be realizable in there. The effect on deferred tax assets and ii@silof a change in tax rates is recognized ioine in
the period that includes the enactment date.
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ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

The Company recognizes the effect of income taitipas only if those positions are more likely thaot of being sustained. Recognized income tax
positions are measured at the largest amountsigaeater than 50% likely of being realized. Charigeecognition or measurement are reflectede
period in which the change in judgment occurs. CThenpany records estimated interest and penalti@g®deto unrecognized tax benefits, if any, as a
component of income tax provision.

The Company has foreign subsidiaries formed oriaeduo conduct or support its business outsideJthiged States. The Company does not provide
for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earningstfoforeign subsidiaries as the foreign earnindsb& permanently reinvested in such foreign
jurisdictions.

Stocl-based compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsapn its consolidated financial statements fards granted to employees and non-
employees, which include restricted stock, stodkomg, and warrants. Equity-classified awardsmaeasured at the grant date fair value of the award.
The fair value of restricted stock is measuredhengrant date based on the quoted closing maricet pf the Company’s common stock. The fair
value of the stock options is measured on the grat& using the Black-Scholes option pricing mdideded on the underlying common stock closing
price as of the date of grant, the expected tetmekgprice volatility, and risk-free interest rate§he Company recognizes compensation expenss
estimated forfeitures on a straight-line basis alierrequisite service period of the award, whichenerally the vesting term of the award. No
compensation cost is ultimately recognized for asdor which employees do not render the requsstgice and are forfeited. Excess tax benefits of
awards that are recognized in equity related tokstption exercises are reflected as financing aaistws.

Advertising and marketing

General advertising is expensed as incurred. Acbwegtallowances provided to retailers are recom@edn expense at the time of the related sabe if t
Company receives an identifiable benefit in excleafog the consideration and has evidence of fdureséor the advertising; otherwise, the allowars
recorded as a reduction of revenue. Advertisingeasps for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2@12040 were $12,495, $10,246 and $5,067,
respectively.

Foreign currency translation and transactions

The Company’s primary operations are at the pdesel which uses the U.S. dollar (USD) as its fior@l currency. The Euro is the functional
currency of the Company’s ZAGG International ancb@z Europe subsidiaries. Accordingly, assetsliafdities for these subsidiaries are translated
into USD using exchange rates in effect at theafrehch period. Revenue and expenses for thes@lgultes are translated using rates that
approximate those in effect during the period. Gaind losses from these translations are recolacamponent of stockholders’ equity. Gains and
losses resulting from foreign currency transactiamsincluded in income as a component of othenreand (expense) in the consolidated statements
of operations and totaled ($17), $60 and ($16)Heryears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 284katively.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per common share excludes dilutiohicomputed by dividing net income attributatolstockholders by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock outstanding duhiageriod. Diluted earnings per common shalectf the potential dilution that could occur if

stock options or other common stock equivalent®evesercised or converted into common stock. Theidé effect of stock options or other common
stock equivalents is calculated using the treastogk method.
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The following is a reconciliation of the numerasord denominator used to calculate basic earningshage and diluted earnings per share for thes
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

2012 2011 2010

Net income attributable to stockhold: $ 14,50 $ 18,24¢ $ 9,96:
Weighted average shares outstanc 30,33¢ 27,13: 22.51¢
Dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stoekd warrants 1,317 1,94¢ 1,744
Diluted share: 31,65¢ 29,08: 24,26
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc

Basic $ 0.4t $ 0.67 $ 0.4/

Dilutive $ 0.4€ $ 0.6 $ 0.41

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, &t Bstricted stock, warrants and stock optiorputghase 169, 103, and 1,157 shares of con
stock, respectivelywere not considered in calculating diluted earnipgisshare because the warrant or stock optiorciseeprices or the total expec
proceeds under the treasury stock method for thieawis, restricted stock, or stock options wastgreaan the average market price of common sl
during the period and, therefore, the effect wdddanti-dilutive.

Recent accounting pronouncemer

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Starsl@dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdafsU”) No. 2011-11,Balance She
(Topic 210): Disclosures about Offsetting Assetd hrabilities . ASU 201111 requires an entity to disclose information abaffgetting and relate
arrangements to enable users of financial statemteninderstand the effect of those arrangementtsdimancial position, and to allow investors
better compare financial statements prepared udder GAAP with financial statements prepared undésrnational Financial Reporting Stande
(“IFRS"). The new standards are effective for annual peredgnning January 1, 2013, and interim periodsiwithose annual periods. Retrospec
application is required. The Company will impleméme provisions of ASU 20111 as of January 1, 2013, and is still evaluathmgimpact on tr
Company'’s financial statements.

(2) ACQUISITION OF IFROGZ

On June 21, 2011, the Company, Reminderband lreciFibgz (“iFrogz”), and the owners of iFrogz eetkinto a Stock Purchase Agreement pursuant
to which ZAGG acquired 100% of the outstanding shaf iFrogz. The combination of ZAGG and iFroggresented an opportunity to create a m:
leader in the mobile device accessories industriglilgling on complementary brands and increasirggal/market share by growing product lines and
expanding distribution.

The Company purchased iFrogz for total considemaafa$50,000 in cash and 4,444 shares of ZAGG comstimck. The value of the shares of the
Company’s common stock used in determining thelmse price was $12.60 per share, the closing pfitee Company’s common stock on June 21,
2011. 2,222 of the shares issued were subjeci®raonth “lock-up” transfer restriction followinge date of acquisition and, therefore, the faiugal

of these shares was determined considering thectest resulting in a discount of 20.0% from tHesing share price. This 12-month “lock-up”
transfer restriction following the date of acquitin accordance with SEC Rule 144 expired on Rine2012. The other 2,222 shares issued were
subject to a 6-month “lock-up” transfer restrictitvat expired on December 21, 2011. The fair valubese shares was determined considering the
restriction resulting in a discount of 15.0% frame tclosing share price. In addition, $5,000 ofdash consideration paid to the former owners of
iFrogz was placed in an escrow account to coverpatgntial tax, legal, or other contingencies ttatld potentially arise relating to pre-acquisition
events for which ZAGG is indemnified. If chargesead $5,000 (not to exceed $15,000), ZAGG couldwecthese amounts through cash payments
from the former owners of iFrogz or by cancellimgappropriate number of shares subject to the lgcte cover the charges. Subject to indemnity
claims which may be asserted by ZAGG, the cashihetddcrow was to be released to the former ownfeifsrogz 18 months after the acquisition date
(i.e. December 21, 2012). On December 21, 2013084in cash was released to the former ownersrofjifand $200 was retained in escrow to cover
legal fees related to a pre-acquisition lawsuiulgta by a former iFrogz employee during the fouytiarter of 2012. At the time of the release of the
$4,800, the former owners of iFrogz signed an agese to guarantee any legal fees that exceedebl@retained in escrow. A loss is not considered
probable related to this case and thus no liabilitindemnification asset has been recorded. Akeoflate of these financial statements, the Company
was not aware of any other contingencies or pakimilemnity claims.
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The following summarizes the components of the pase price (in thousands):

Value of ZAGG shares issued:

ZAGG shares issued wit-month restrictior $ 23,80(
ZAGG shares issued with 12-month restriction 22,40(
46,20(

Cash consideration 50,00(
Total $ 96,20(

The total purchase price of $96,200 was allocaiddrigible and intangible assets acquired anditiabiassumed based on their respective fair
values. The excess of the purchase price oveathealue of tangible and intangible assets aegliand liabilities assumed was recorded as
goodwill. Fair values assigned were based on redde methods applicable to the nature of the sis®efuired and liabilities assumed. The following
table summarizes the allocation of the purchassideration:

Cash and cash equivale! $ 2,46¢
Trade receivables ($5,880 contractual gross rebkds 5,832
Inventories 14,96:
Prepaid expenst 57¢
Property and equipme 2,07¢
Deposits 13¢€
Definite-lived identifiable intangible asse 49,90(
Indefinite-lived identifiable intangible asse 25,10(
Goodwill 6,92¢
Current liabilities (11,789
Total $ 96,20(

As part of the acquisition of iFrogz, the Compamguirred legal, accounting, and other due diligdaes that were expensed when incurred. Total fees
incurred related to the acquisition of iFrogz foe twelve months ended December 31, 2011, weré$lvéhich were included as a component of
selling, general, and administrative expenseserctinsolidated statement of operations. No expemeesincurred in 2012.

Identifiable Intangible Asse

Classes of acquired intangible assets include mestoelationships, trademarks, non-compete agresmamd other intangibles. The fair value of the
identifiable intangible assets was determined usargpus valuation methods, including the income ararket approaches. For assets valued und
income approach, the estimate of the present \dlagpected future cash flows for each identifisdset was based on discount rates which
incorporate a risk premium to take into accountritles inherent in those expected cash flows. @tpected cash flows were estimated using available
historical data adjusted based on the Companyterigal experience and the expectations of marketigpants. The market approach was utilized to
determine appropriate royalty rates applied tovéleation of the trademarks and patents. The ais@assigned to each class of intangible asset and
the related weighted average amortization perioglas follows:
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Intangible asset Weighted-average

class amortization period
Customer relationshi $ 41,50( 8.0 yeal
Trademarks (indefini-lived) 25,10( Indefinite
Trademarks (defini-lived) 3,50(C 9.7 year
Nonr-compete agreemer 4,10(C 4.8 year
Other 80C 3.8 year
Total $ 75,00(

As discussed in Note 7, the EarPollution trademaak originally recorded as an indefinite-lived igible asset as presented in the table above.
However, as of December 31, 2012, management abedlihat it should be considered a definite-livesea due to change in brand strategy.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the iFrogz pwelmice over the fair value of the assets acquanetliabilities assumed.
The Company believes that the acquisition of iFregkproduce the following significant benefits:
« Create Leading Mobile Device Accessories Compamiie combination of ZAGG and iFrogz has creatéshding mobile device accesso
company with diverse but complementary productsjramd a combined focus on creating both innovatie functional products in the ever-

evolving market of mobile device accessor

« Increased Market PresenceThe combination of ZAGG and iFrogz has created@podunity to capture additional market share ddicalty
and globally from both existing and new custom

The Company believes that these primary factorpa@uphe amount of goodwill recognized as a restthe purchase price paid for iFrogz, in relation
to the other acquired tangible and intangible asset

The goodwill acquired in the acquisition is dedbietifor income tax purposes and will be amortizeera period of 15 years.
Results of Operatior

For the year ended December 31, 2011, iFrogz daréd net sales of $36,046 and net loss beforeftd%,461 to the consolidated statement of
operations. In addition, iFrogz leases office sfaa® its former owners for monthly rent of $14.

Pro forma Results from Operatio

The following table contains unaudited pro-formsulés of operations for the year ended Decembe2@11 and 2010. The unaudited pro-forma
results from operations give effect as if the asijjioin had occurred on January 1, 2010, after gieffect to certain adjustments including the
amortization of intangible assets, interest expgetaseadjustments, specific transaction relatecagps incurred prior to the execution date, and
assumes the purchase price was allocated to thesgegchased and liabilities assumed based onvidleies at the date of purchase.

Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
Net sales $ 204,54( % 117,07:
Net income $ 17,78 % 9,43¢

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201@opna net income includes projected amortizatiopease of $9,038 and $6,491,

respectively. The unaudited pro forma informai®presented for illustrative purposes only andasnecessarily indicative of the operating results
that would have occurred had the transaction beeswnmated for the dates indicated. Furthermah anaudited pro forma information is not
necessarily indicative of future operating resaftthe combined companies, due to changes in dpgrattivities following the purchase, and should
not be construed as representative of the operegsgts of the combined companies for any futatesl or periods.
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(3) INVENTORIES
Inventory consisted of the following components:

December 31

2012 2011
Finished good $ 34,69C $ 19,87
Raw materials 5,29¢ 9,751
Total inventory $ 39,98¢ $ 29,62:

In addition, included in prepaid expenses and otherent assets were inventory deposits with thady manufacturers at December 31, 2012 and
20110f $8,034 and $625, respectively.

(4) ASSET PURCHASE CREDITS

The Company entered into a nonmonetary exchangsaction with Argent Trading Inc. (“Argent”) duririge second quarter of 2011 whereby the
Company transferred inventory with a carrying vadfi&986 to Argent in exchange for asset purchaséits with a face value of $1,350. The credits
could have been used for the purchase of goodsreices from certain vendors until March 1, 2016ew the unused asset purchase credits would
have expired.

The Company accounted for this nonmonetary traimsabaised on the fair value of the inventory trangfd, as the inventory’s fair value was more
clearly evident than fair value of the asset puseheredits. The Company determined that the iloveritad a fair value of $785 at the date of the
transfer and thus recorded an impairment loss eintrentory of $202, which was recorded as a corapbaf cost of sales in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations. The Compélged $2 in asset purchase credits through tiieaéthe second quarter of 2012,

On May 2, 2012, management assigned these creditsupplier in exchange for discounts on futuneipases of products from the supplier.
Management expects the discounts received to sttéeg@al the value of the asset purchase crediigresl and that the discounts will be realized over
approximately a three-year period. Management poat to classify these assets within prepaid exgsesusd other current assets, and noncurrent othe
assets on the consolidated balance sheet basedemthe discounts are expected to be realizednDtne year ended December 31, 2012,
management utilized $184 of the asset purchasé&gredich reduced the book value of the assetveemirecorded through cost of sales in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

(5) INVESTMENT IN HzO AND NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

Noncontrolling interests are classified in the aditkted statements of operations as part of cateted net income, and the accumulated amou
noncontrolling interests is included in the cordaled balance sheets as part of equity and redéematcontrolling interest. If a change in ownepshi
of a consolidated subsidiary results in loss oftcdrand deconsolidation, any retained ownershiprests are remeasured with the gain or loss reghort
in net earnings.

At December 31, 2010, HzO, Inc. (“HzQO”") was condated by the Company as a variable interest effttijfg”). On August 12, 2011, HzO entered
into a Series B Stock Purchase Agreement with fhéndy investors whereby HzO issued 9,869 sharés aewly designated Series B Preferred Stock
to new third party investors (collectively, the “Blanvestors”) for net cash of $2,335. ZAGG considiethis a reconsideration event and concluded
that HzO remained a VIE and should continue todresalidated as ZAGG was the primary beneficiariipO.
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On December 22, 2011, HzO, entered into an AmeBaeids B Stock Purchase Agreement with anothepgobthird party investors (collectively, t
“new HzO investors”) whereby HzO issued 10,768 sbaxf Series B Preferred Stock for net cash of(EB,AAGG considered this a reconsideration
event and concluded that as of December 22, 204Q, $thould no longer be considered a VIE under ait#tive accounting literature, but was
considered a voting interest entity. Managementlkoled that as ZAGG owned only 36.8% of HzO follogithe December 22, 2011 transaction and
could not control HzO through voting interests,tsem the HzO Board of Directors, or through artyeotcontractual agreement or method, HzO st
be deconsolidated as of December 22, 2011.

The noncontrolling interest included in the Compamynsolidated financial statements is a resuitafcontrolling interest investments in HzO up to
the date of deconsolidation of December 22, 2011.

Management applied deconsolidation accounting guiglawhich included analyzing ZAGG'’s investmenHirO at December 22, 2011 to determine
the fair value on the date of deconsolidation dwedrélated gain or loss upon deconsolidation. Mameent determined that the fair value of ZAGG's
investment in HzO at December 22, 2011 was $4 8ppropriate valuation techniques were employeduitiog the use of the market approach that
considered the recent equity transactions betwesh, the HzO Investors, and the new HzO investard,am option pricing model. Ultimately, the fair
value of ZAGG'’s investment in HzO of $4,879 wasareled as ZAGG'’s equity-method investment in HzO@atember 22, 2011. In addition, upon
deconsolidation, ZAGG recorded a gain of $1,906¢ctvivas recorded as a component of other incomee(ese) in the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.

On October 23, 2012, HzO and the HzO Investorseedas the second tranche of financing under thensiment to Series B Stock Purchase
Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated December 22, 20hter the terms of the Agreement, HzO issued®sBiares of Series B Preferred Stock to the
HzO investors for cash of $2,500. Neither ZAGG BAGG executives participated in this equity raigor to this transaction, ZAGG held an
ownership interest of 36.8% of the then-outstangimgres of HzO. Following this transaction, ZAGGdhen ownership interest of 30.7% of the
outstanding shares of HzO consisting of 18,361eSeki Preferred Shares. There were no other chamgesnership from the date of this transactio
December 31, 2012.

Management accounts for its investment in HzO uttdeequity method of accounting by recognizing ZX&share of the earnings or losses of HzO
in the periods in which they are reported by Hz@srseparate financial statements, adjusted ®athortization of the basis difference between the
Company'’s investment in HzO and the Company’s Ugiher share in the net assets of HzO. For the geded December 31, 2012, amortization of
$313 was recorded. This amortization reduced tiseslufifference from $1,389 at December 31, 201$1t076 at December 31, 2012. For the year
ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded drtoa investment in HzO of $2,866, which was rdeadras a component of other income
(expense) in the consolidated statement of operatio

HzO is a private company engaged in the developwfanater-blocking technologies for consumer artlsirial applications.
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(6) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31

2012 2011
Useful Lives

Computer equipment and softw: 3 to 5 year: $ 134 $ 1,18(C
Equipment 31010 year: 2,51: 1,73¢
Molds 3 years 47€ 77C
Furniture and fixture 7 years 73k 381
Automobiles 5 years 265 338
Leasehold improvements 1to 4.5 years 2,847 1,622
8,17¢ 6,01¢

Less accumulated depreciation (3,317 (1,857)
Net property and equipment $ 4862 $ 4,162

(7) GOODWILL & INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Ass

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Compaoyded an impairment of goodwill in the amoun$6§441 for its iFrogz reporting unit within
the iFrogz operating segment when it was determihatithe carrying value of goodwill exceeded #is Yalue, which was determined during an
impairment analysis performed during the fourthrtgraof 2012. In conjunction with the impairmensttethe Company considered factors such as the
overall decline in the market price of the comparstock and decline in market capitalization feuatained period as indicators for potential goddwi
impairment. In determining the amount of impairmeithin the analysis, we considered both the incamgroach, utilizing a discounted cash flow
analysis, and market approach, which considers athatr purchasers and sellers in the market haidefacompanies reasonably similar to the
reporting unit.

The goodwill impairment of $5,441 is included asomponent of impairment of goodwill and intangibileshe consolidated statement of operations.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfar year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, acdi@ss:

2012 2011
Balance as of January
Gross goodwil $ 6,928 $ =
Accumulated impairment loss — —
Net goodwill as of January 6,92t —
Goodwill acquired during the ye — 6,92¢
Impairment los: (5,447 —
Balance as of December
Gross goodwil 6,92¢ 6,92¢
Accumulated impairment loss (5,44)) —
Net goodwill as of December 31 $ 1,482 $ 6,92¢

In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2012, @e@mpany made an important brand strategy adjusttogitace greater emphasis on the promotion of
our core brands, ZAGG and iFrogz. As a result &f tkecision, we determined that future cash flondax the EarPollution trademark likely will be
less than previously estimated and that the tradesfeuld be considered a definite-lived intangéset. Management performed an impairment
analysis during the fourth quarter of 2012, relyamga discounted cash flow analysis and marketogmbr, and determined that the carrying amount of
the trademark exceeded the fair value and an immeait charge of $5,917 was recorded at Decemb&@P, as a component of the goodwill and
impairment line in the consolidated statement @rapons . As the trademark is now considered miteflived intangible, management will
commence amortizing the trademark over an eight{yedod on an accelerated basis consistent witlpmjected future cash flows from the
trademark. Future amortization of this trademarkdétuded in the estimated future amortization ¢dixtlow in this Note.

F-20




Table of Content

ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

December 31

2012 2011
EarPollution trademark prior to impairme $ 8,30 $ 8,30(
EarPollution trademark impairment (5,917 —
EarPollution trademark — definite-lived $ 2,38 % 8,30(

The Company wrote-off $139 in internally developedtware acquired in the iFrogz acquisition asaswbandoned in December 2012. The charge is
included as a component of the goodwill and impairtiine in the consolidated statement of operation

Definite-lived Intangibles
Definite-lived intangibles as of December 31, 2@h# 2011, were as follows:

As of December 31, 201

Transfers
Gross from

Carrying Accumulated Indefinite-life ~ Net Carrying Weighted Average

Amount Amortization Write -off Classification Amount Amortization Period
Customer relationshir $ 41,500 $ (10,29) $ — 3 — 8 31,20¢ 8.0 years
Non-compete agreemer 4,10 (1,389 — — 2,711 4.8 year
Other Trademark 3,50( (2,105 — — 2,39t 9.7 year
EarPollution Trademar — — — 2,38: 2,38: 8.0 year
Other 80C (44¢€) (139 — 21k 5.0 year
Acquired technolog' 564 (83 — — 481 7.0 year
Internet addres 124 (53 — — 71 10.0 year
Patents 2,06: (427) — — 1,64( 14.0 yeat
Total amortizable assets $ 52,65. $ (13,790 $ (139 $ 238 $ 41,10¢ 8.0 year

As of December 31, 201
Transfers
Gross from

Carrying Accumulated Indefinite-life ~ Net Carrying Weighted Average

Amount Amortization Write -off Classification Amount Amortization Period
Customer relationshir $ 41,500 $ (2.57%) $ — 3 — 8 38,92t 8.0 years
Non-compete agreemer 4,10 479 — — 3,621 4.8 year
Trademarks 3,50( (400 — — 3,10¢ 9.7 year
Other 80C (299) — — 507 5.0 year
Acquired technolog: 564 (14) — — 55C 7.0 year
Internet addres 124 (40 — — 84 10.0 year
Patents 1,992 (18€) — — 1,804 14.0 yeat
Total amortizable assets $ 5258 $ (3,989 $ — 3 —  $ 48,59: 8.0 year

Customer relationships, trademarks, and other gildes are amortized on an accelerated basis t¢ensisith their expected future cash flows over
their estimated useful life, which results in aecated amortization. The remaining definite-livethngible assets are amortized using the stréiight
method over their estimated useful life. For tkang ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 aat@ti expense was $9,801, $4,921, and $12,
respectively. Amortization expense was primarilgorgled as a component of operating expense, hoyawertization expense related to acquired
technology in 2012, 2011, and 2010 of $69, $97d,%0) respectively, was recorded as a componerusifof sales. In addition, up until December
2011 when HzO was deconsolidated (Note 5), theisedjtechnology intangible included HzO technolagy the associated amortization of $972
recorded through the ZAGG Inc consolidated statémEaperations. As the deconsolidation occurredenember 22, 2011, the HzO technology
asset is not included in the consolidated balaheetsof the Company at December 31, 2012 or 2011.
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2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereaftel

Total

Indefinite-lived Intangibles
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows

The gross carrying amount of indefinite-lived irgées as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were ksl

iFrogz trademar
EarPollution trademark

Total nor-amortizable asse

iFrogz trademar
EarPollution trademark

Total non-amortizable assets

(8) INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax (provision) benefittfe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2640,

Current (provision)
Federa
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred (provision) benefi
Federa
State
Total deferrec

Total (provision) benefit
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$ 9,59(
8,42
7,238
5,86¢
9,997
$ 41,10¢
December 31, 201
Gross Transfers to
Carrying Definite-life Net Carrying
Amount Impairment Classification Amount
$ 16,80 $ — 3% — 3 16,80(
8,30( (5,919 (2,389 —
$ 25,10C $ (5,917 $ (2,389 $ 16,80(
December 31, 201
Gross Transfers to
Carrying Definite-life Net Carrying
Amount Impairment Classification Amount
$ 16,80 $ — 3% — % 16,80(
8,30( — — 8,30(
$ 25,10C $ — $ — $ 25,10(
2012 2011 2010
$ (15,466 $ (11,487 $ (7,05¢)
(2,109 (1,767 (1,079
(116) (72) —
(17,68¢) (13,32¢) (8,132
7,20¢ 3,40z 1,28:
1,08/ 50€ 19¢
8,29: 3,90¢ 1,48
$ (9,399 $ (9,418 3 (6,650




Table of Content

ZAGG INC AND SUBISDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars, units, & shares in thousands, except peshare data)

The following is a reconciliation of the income é@xcomputed using the federal statutory rate t@tbeision for income taxes for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

2012 2011 2010

Tax at statutory rate (359 $ (8,369 $ (9,450 $ (5,63¢6)
State tax, net of federal tax bent (663%) (88¢) (55€)
Gain on deconsolidation of Hz — 31¢€ —
Nor-deductible expense and ott (34)) (130 (19¢)
Domestic production activities deducti 67€ 771 587
Return to provision adjustme (49) (36) (437)
Interest and penaltie — — (202)
Federal 38% rate bracket surcha — — (209)
Increase in valuation allowance (652) — —

$ (9,399 $ (9,418 $ (6,650

The tax effects of temporary differences that géseto significant portions of deferred tax assetd liabilities at December 31, 2012 and 2011 aare
follows:

2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 1,02 $ 791
Deferred revenu 27 12
Inventories 2,317 1,63¢
Stocl-based compensatic 1,42( 597
Sales returns accru 2,45¢ 2,061
Acquisition costs, net of amortizatir 28z 29z
Intangible asse! 4,37 307
Goodwill 1,801 —
HzO investmen 71¢ —
Reserve on note receival 56¢ 56¢
Other liabilities 38 35
Deferred tax asse 15,01¢ 6,30(
Valuation allowance (71%) —
Total deferred tax assets $ 14,30: $ 6,30(
Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipme 794 633
Investment in Hz( — 384
Goodwill — 69
Total gross deferred tax liabilities 794 1,08¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 13,50¢ $ 5,214
Deferred tax assets, r— current $ 6,91 $ 5,132
Deferred tax assets, net — noncurrent 6,59¢ 82
Net deferred tax asse $ 13,50¢ $ 5,214

At December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a &lilation allowance against a deferred tax assedrgésd by losses on its equity method
investment in HzO. HzO is a development stage priter and given current operations and uncertaihfyture profitability, management has
determined that it is more likely than not that tiederred tax asset will not be realizable. Givis, ta full valuation allowance of $713 has been
recorded against the deferred tax asset.

The Company has not recorded a tax benefit at DieeeB1, 2012 and 2011 for operating losses in ferand the UK from operations of iFrogz

Europe SAS (gross cumulative operating loss of &1),20perations for iFrogz Europe and ZAGG Eurogeghbeen transitioned to Ireland and
therefore, we do not expect future taxable incoriteiwFrance and the UK to offset current net ofiegalosses.
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For all other deferred tax assets, no valuatiomnadhce has been recorded at December 31, 2012041dd & management believes it is more likely
than not that the results of future operations gélherate sufficient taxable income to realizel@ferred tax assets.

The Company has not recognized a deferred taXitiafor the undistributed earnings of its foreigperations that arose in 2012 and prior yearses th
Company considers these earnings to be indefinitghwested. Cash held by foreign entities thabissidered permanently re-invested totaled $3,531
as of December 31, 2012. If this cash were repgattito the United States, outside the settlemeintefcompany payables, the Company would need
to accrue and pay the related tax, however, thegaosnconsiders these funds permanently re-investddas no plans to repatriate these funds.

The Company recognizes the impact of a tax positighe financial statements if that position isrenttkely than not of being sustained on audit,co
on the technical merits of the position. As of Braber 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recorded adt@ingency of $61 and $61, respectiv
related to foreign taxes at the iFrogz segment. tke years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and, 208G ompany recorded $0, $0, and $
respectively in interest and penalties, which weckuded as a component of income tax provision.

The Company is currently not under examination by federal or state tax authority, but remains sctbfo income tax examinations for each ¢
open tax years, which extend back to 2009 for fe#dacome tax purposes and 2008 for state incompugposes.

(9) STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

In 2007, the Company'’s board of directors adoptediin 2008 the Company’s shareholders approved A@G Incorporated 2007 Stock Incentive
Plan which provides for the issuance of up to 2 §l@res of common stock to the company’s directrgloyees, consultants and advisors (the “2007
Incentive Plan”). On July 16, 2009, the Compargyiareholders approved an amendment to the 200itimedlan to increase the number of shares
issuable under the 2007 Incentive Plan to 5,000 .J@e 23, 2011, the Company’s shareholders appavamendment to the 2007 Incentive Plan to
increase the number of shares issuable under BiglB0entive Plan to 10,000. As of December 31 22€iere were approximately 6,020 shares
available for grant under the 2007 Incentive Plan.

The 2007 Incentive Plan provides for awards infthe of options to acquire shares of common stoukr@stricted stock grants. The 2007 Incentive
Plan was administered by the Compensation Comnuftéee Company’s Board of Directors.

On January 15, 2013, the Company’s Board of Discadopted a new equity incentive award plan, name@AGG Inc 2013 Equity Incentive
Award Plan (the “2013 Plan”) and directed thatdtdubmitted to shareholders for their approvah@at@ompany’s annual meeting in 2013. The new
plan is an “omnibus planinder which stock options, stock appreciation sgherformance share awards, restricted stockrestdcted stock units ci
be awarded. The 2013 Plan’s initial share resematill be 5,000 shares. The term of the plafoislO years from the date of its adoption.
Common Stock Options

Option awards are granted with an exercise priceleig the market price of the Company’s stockatdate of grant; those option awards generally
vest based on three years of continuous servichawvel five-year contractual terms.
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The fair value of stock options has been estimagedf the grant date using the Black-Scholes ogtraing model. No stock options were granted
during 2012. For the years ended December 31, 26d 2010 the following assumptions were used iard@hing the fair value of option grants:

2011 2010
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 1.21% 1.2(%
Expected term (year: 3.5 year 3.5 year
Expected volatility 90.5%% 95.82%

The Company determines the expected term of itkgiption awards by using the simplified methodjolassumes each vesting tranche of the a
has a term equal to the midpoint between whenwadvests and when the award expires. Expectediltyl is calculated by weighting the
Company’s historical stock price to calculate expdwolatility over the expected term of each grérthe Company’s historical stock price history
does not cover the entire expected term, expedlkadility is also weighted based on the averagwlital volatility of similar entities with publigl
traded shares over the expected term of each graetrisk-free interest rate for the expected tefreach option granted is based on the U.S. Trgasur
yield curve in effect at the time of grant with erjpd that approximates the expected term of th®op

The following table summarizes the stock optionvitgtfor the Company’s stock incentive plan foetiiear ended December 31, 2012:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Term Value
(In (In
thousands) (Per share)  (In years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,29¢ $ 2.7% 2.7
Granted — —
Exercisec (519 1.62
Forfeited/expired (1149 1.9C
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 671 $ 3.7C 21 $ 2,538
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 43¢ $ 4.11 21 $ 1,501

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of ostigranted during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2010 was $0, $4.98, and $1.82,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiameercised during the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2010, was $3,555, $8,170, and $2,016,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2012, there was $318 of totedemgnized compensation cost related to nonvestelt eptions granted under the stock incentive
plan. That cost is expected to be recognized ovegighted-average period of 0.6 years. The totavidue of shares vested during the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was $1,060, 2268 $615, respectively.

The Company recorded shdvased compensation expense only for those opfi@tste expected to vest. The estimated fair vafltiee stock option

is recognized on a straight-line basis over theiggig service period of the award, which is gelhethe vesting term of the award. During the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Contpaayded equity-based compensation expense 00§ 192,640 and $952, respectively, which
is included as a component of selling, generaladministrative expense. The net tax benefit reizeghon equitypased compensation expense for
year ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 wds $28, and 36, respectively. The tax benefitizedlfrom stock options exercised for the year
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $53B81and $708, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2012, the Company imedran incremental charge of $154 that was thetdiesult of the Separation and Release of Cli
Agreement (“Separation Agreement”) between the Gomand Robert G. Pedersen 1l, the Company’s foohief executive officer. Under the terms
of the Separation Agreement, Mr. Pedersen’s 32 stadestock options will continue to vest underdhiginal terms of the option grant. However,
because future services to be performed by Mr. lBedeare not considered substantive under US GA#&yptions were rereasured and the expet
associated with these options was acceleratedlditi@n, the Company incurred a $910 charge duttiregthird quarter of 2012 related to consulting
fees due to Mr. Pedersen under the Separation Agnete which is payable in monthly installments otfer one-year term of the Separation
Agreement.
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During the second quarter of 2011, the Companyriiedua charge of $1,560 related to the modificatiba previously granted stock option, which is
included as a component of selling, general andridtrative expenses and additional paid in cafitéhe accompanying consolidated financial
statements (see Note 11, Notes Receivable).

Warrants- During the years ended December 31, 2012, 20112@h@, the Company issued warrants to purchase oonsimares for investor relatio
consulting services of 50, 50, and 100, respegtiviehe 2012, 2011, and 2010 warrants are exeres#t$9.02, $9.05 and $2.58, respectively. The
warrants expire five years from the grant date. 2082 and 2011 grants were fully vested on the oageant. The 2010 grant vested equally over the
twelve month period from the grant date. The 284@ 2011 grants, and each vesting tranche of th@ gfant was independently valued using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with separatuagptions for each tranche based on the fair \@fitlee Companys common stock on each vest
date, expected term equal to the remaining coniahtgrm on each vesting date, expected volatiltyghted between the Company’s historical
volatility and the average historical volatility similar entities with publicly traded shares otlex expected term for each vesting date, and resk-f
rate for the expected term based on the U.S. Tregseld curve in effect with a period that appnmétes the remaining contractual term for each
vesting date. For the year ended December 31, 2012, and 2010, the Company recorded expensgldf, $377, and $292, respectively, for these
warrants. During 2010, the Company also issuedamésrfor 250 common shares exercisable at $8.58ha&e expiring in 5 years and vesting
immediately to Andrew Mason as part of the assetiase agreement (see Note 13).

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyniganed warrants for consulting services for 2@emn shares exercisable at $2.05 per share
expiring in 1 year and vesting immediately; warsdior sales commissions to an independent thiny ar 175 common shares exercisable at $6.40
per share expiring in 1 year and vesting immedjatetd additional warrants for sales commissiorsntindependent third party for 175 common
shares exercisable at $4.00 per share expiringigears and vesting immediately. Each warranttgras independently valued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. For the years eridlecember 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Companyded@xpense of $0, $0, and $222,
respectively. The warrants are accounted for agyemstruments.

The fair value of warrants have been estimated #seovesting date using the Black-Scholes optigcig model. For the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010 the following assumptions weesl in determining the fair value:

2012 2011 2010
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 0.81% 2.02% 1.91%
Expected term (year: 5.0 year 4.86 year 4.46 year
Expected volatility 89.5(% 90.71% 88.8t%
The following table summarizes the warrant activitlythe year ended December 31, 2012:
Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Exercise Price Term Value
(In (In
thousands) (Per share) (In years) thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 99¢ $ 3.6C 2C $ 3,93¢
Granted 50 9.0z
Exercisec (632) 1.3¢
Forfeited/expirec (28) —
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 39C $ 8.0¢ 3C $ 191
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 39C $ 8.0¢ 3.C $ 191
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The weighted-average and grant-date or vest-datedte of warrants granted during the years eridecember 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, was $6.22,
$6.46, and $3.47, respectively. The total intringitue of warrants exercised during the years elEstmber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, was $4,195,
$3,302, and $5,080, respectively.

As of December 31, 2012, there was $0 of total eogrized estimated compensation cost related teasded warrants granted. The total fair value of
warrants vested during the years ended Decemb@032, 2011, and 2010 was $311, $377, and $1,88pectively.

For warrants that are compensatory, the Compamydeshare-based compensation expense relatedr@nmigaonly for warrants that have

vested. The amount of the expense recognizedsidban the estimated fair value of the warranthervesting date. During the years ended Dece
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company recordedyehaged compensation expense related to warran®&ldf $377, and $293, respectively, whic
included as a component of selling, general andridtrative expense. The net tax benefit recoghze equity-based compensation expense related
to warrants for the year ended December 31, 20021 and 2010 was $119, $144, and $67, respectividig. tax benefit realized from compensatory
warrants exercised for the years ended Decembe032, 2011 and 2010 was $114, $0, and $0, respbcti

Restricted Stocl

Restricted stock awards are granted with a famevaliqual to the ending stock price on the datearftgPrior to 2011, the Company had not granted
any restricted stock.

A summary of the status of the Companyestricted stock as of December 31, 2012, andgasaduring the year ended December 31, 20
presented below:

Weighted-

Average

Restricted Grant Date

Stock Fair Value

(In

thousands) (Per share)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 424  $ 8.5
Granted 46¢ 9.72
Vested (359 8.7¢
Forfeited (82 9.4z
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 45z  $ 9.51

As of December 31, 2012, there was $2,681 of toteécognized compensation cost related to nonvesgtdcted stock awards granted under the
stock incentive plan. That cost is expected todoegnized over a weighted-average period of 1.6syea

The Company recorded share-based compensationsexpaly for restricted stock that is expected &t.v@ he estimated fair value of the restricted
stock awards is recognized on a straight-line bagis the requisite service period of the awardgcivis generally the vesting term of the award.
During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 204 Company recorded equity-based compensatiomegps $4,699 and $624, respectively,
which is included as a component of selling, gelreamd administrative expense. The net tax benetibgnized on equity-based compensation expense
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011$W&869 and $236, respectively. The tax benediized from vested restricted stock for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, was $1,169 amds§@ctively.
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Included in the 2011 grants of restricted stockent24 shares issued to an employee by the Compéigcsto the employeg’continued employmet
These shares vest quarterly over a two year vesting and will be expensed on a straight-line bagés the two-year vesting term. In connection with
the issuance of 124 shares of restricted stockCtimpany issued the employee an additional 90 stidreommon stock with a fair value of $899 as
consideration in full satisfaction of current amndufe royalties under a prior intellectual propextyreement primarily related to the ZAGGmate. The
portion of the consideration related to currentaltgs was $336 and was included as a componergsbfof sales in the consolidated statement of
operations in 2011. The remaining $563 portiorhefd¢onsideration was capitalized as it represepte-payment of future royalties and will be
amortized on an accelerated basis, consistentthgtiexpected underlying cash flows of the intellatproperty, over a seven year life. This caped
amount is included as a component of intangibletada the consolidated balance sheet.

During the third quarter of 2012, the Company imedran incremental charge of $345 that was thetiesult of the Separation Agreement between
the Company and Robert G. Pedersen Il, the Compdagmer chief executive officer. In accordancewtite terms of the Separation Agreement, Mr.
Pedersen’s 127 then unvested stock options wiililhevested on August 17, 2013. However, under@SAP, the expense associated with these
options was accelerated as it was determinedtieagdrvice to be performed by Mr. Pedersen wasordtidered to be substantive.

On March 30, 2012, the Company implemented a neenitive program for non-executive employees thatiges for the issuance of a fixed amount
of restricted stock to eligible employees if certannual financial targets are reached. Thesettavggre reached for the 2012 fiscal year, thusethes
restricted shares will be transferred to employkesg March 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, certai@@Amployees received grants of restricted stodketected to file an Internal Revenue Code
Section 83(b) election and thereby elected to vecainet amount of shares in exchange for the Coynipaurring the tax liability for the grant date

fair value of the award. In addition, certain ZA@@&ployees elected to receive a net amount of shipi@s the vesting of a restricted stock grant in
exchange for the Company incurring the tax liapildr the fair value of the award on the vest datas resulted in the Company recording $508 in
compensation expense, with the offset being orilyimacorded to accrued wages and wage relatednsegerather than to additional paid-in capital.

(10) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Compsifigiancial instruments included cash and cashvatprits, accounts receivable, accounts payablete
receivable, a line of credit with PNC Bank (as @dember 31, 2011 only), term loan with Cerberusitss Finance, LLC (as of December 31, 2011
only), a line of credit with Wells Fargo (as of @eaber 31, 2012 only), and a term loan with Wellggbgas of December 31, 2012 only). The carn
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accountsabteand accounts payable approximates fair vaiigeto the short-term maturities of these
financial instruments. The carrying value of tlebtbalances approximate fair value because thablarinterest rates reflect current market rates.

In addition, as discussed in Note 11, managementds an impairment on the note receivable if #ievialue of the underlying collateral is less than
the carrying amount. Management determined thevédile of assets that collateralize the note vad®e, which includes real property, interests in
entities that own real property, and 80 shareb®fQompany’s stock that carry a restrictive legemil two months after the note receivable is paid
full. Management determined that the fair valu¢hef collateral exceeded the carrying value ofnibte receivable at December 31, 2012.

Fair Value Measuremen
The Company measures at fair value certain findacid non-financial assets by using a fair valwedrichy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
technigues used to measure fair value. Fair valtiee price that would be received to sell an awspaid to transfer a liability in an orderly teattion

between market participants at the measurementesgentially an exit price, based on the highedtteest use of the asset or liability. The levéls o
the fair value hierarchy are:
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Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 —Significant other observable inputs (e.g., quotedes for similar items in active markets, quoteites for identical or similar items
markets that are not active, inputs other than efugirices that are observable such as interestarateyield curves, and markedrroborate
inputs); and

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there igdibr no market data, which require the reporting to develop its own assumptions.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the following asaetsliabilities were measured at fair value or@urring basis using the level of inputs shown (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using
December 31
2012 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs

Money market funds included in cash equivale $ 452 % 452 — —

Fair Value Measurements Using
December 31
2011 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs

Money market funds included in cash equivale $ 1452 $ 1,452 — —

Nor-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company also measures the fair value of ceasgrts on a non-recurring basis, generally qiareamually or when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouthefssets may not be recoverable. These asskeiddrgoodwill, intangible assets, property and
equipment, asset purchase credits, and collatecaling the note receivable.

The following tables presents assets held as oééer 31, 2012 and 2011, measured at fair valermn-recurring basis using the level of inputs
shown at the time of impairment (in thousands).

Fair Value Measurements Using
December 31

2012 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs
Goodwill $ 1,48¢ — — $ 1,48¢
EarPollution trademar $ 2,38¢ — — 8 2,38

As discussed in Note 7, management performed aairmpnt analysis over each asset and ultimatelyrded a $5,440 goodwill impairment and an
impairment of $5,917 on the EarPollution trademaikus, the balances in the table reflect the falue at December 31, 2012. The fair value of
goodwill and the EarPollution trademark were detaad using various valuation methods, includingitte®me and market approaches. Under the
income approach, the estimate of the present wdlegpected future cash flows was based on discaties$ which incorporate a risk premium to take
into account the risks inherent in those expecésth dlows. The expected cash flows were estimatadjwavailable historical operating data projected
into the future based on the Company’s current etgpens. Various market approaches were utiltpedetermine appropriate royalty rates applicable
to the valuation of the EarPollution trademarkgdétermine appropriate comparable company marketiptad to estimate the value of the iFrogz
reporting unit, and to estimate the overall valtithe consolidated entity.

Fair Value Measurements Using
December 31
2011 Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs

Note receivablt $ 191t $ 56€ $ 1,08¢ $ 26C
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In 2011, the note receivable (discussed in NoteniE) recorded at the fair value of the underlyiolipteral. Management considered the 80 shares of
ZAGG common stock to be a Level 1 asset as quotellehprices exist. The real estate holdings wensidered Level 2 assets as significant
observable inputs exist for similar items in actiwarkets. The investments in real estate compaaiesprivate company preferred stock and warrants
were considered Level 3 assets as the value waesmated based on unobservable inputs.

The fair value of the real estate companies waaraged using the market approach and the key snpate comparable properties and investments.
The fair value of the private company preferred¢ktwas determined using various valuation methimadyding the income and market

approaches. Under the income approach, the estofh#te present value of expected future cash fieas based on discount rates which incorpor:
risk premium to take into account the risks inheirrthose expected cash flows. The expected dasls fvere estimated using available historical
operating data projected into the future basedherCompany’s current expectations. The market @mbravas utilized to determine appropriate
comparable company market multiples to estimate/déiige of the entity and the Company’s investmergreferred stock. The fair value of the
warrants to purchase private company preferrekst@ee calculated using the Black-Scholes optiacimpg model whereby estimates of volatility, the
private company’s preferred stock value, and thle-fiee rate were key inputs.

The Company recorded impairment charges of $1,48@glthe year ended December 31, 2011, relat#tetoote receivable and the underlying
collateral assets held as of December 31, 2011suned at fair value on a non-recurring basis. L8vatsets comprise $125 of the impairment charge.
These impairment charges were recorded as a compohselling, general and administrative expeniseékse 2011 consolidated statement of
operations.

There were no impairment charges during the yede@iDecember 31, 2010, related to assets held eadured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.
(11) NOTE RECEIVABLE

In June 2008, Lorence Harmer became a member @ dhgany’s board of directors and in December 20@%, appointed as the chairman of the
Audit Committee. Mr. Harmer introduced the Compémg consumer electronics product, which becanogvkras the ZAGGbox. The ZAGGbox
was intended to aggregate digital content suchwasanpictures, videos and movies into a singlation so that users could share the content with
most other networked media players, including neotiévices. After investigating the market oppaigufor the ZAGGbox, the Company determined
in June 2009 that it wished to obtain certain sglor the development and sale of the ZAGGbox intiNAmerica. The Company entered into
negotiations with Teleportall, LLC (“Teleportallhe owner of the technology used in the ZAGGbegarding production and distribution of the
ZAGGbox. On June 17, 2009, the Company issuedittal purchase order for ZAGGbox units in the ambof $3,500 and advanced to Teleportall a
total of $1,153 representing a $200 mecurring engineering (NRE) fee and $953 in paynoéi®0% of the total purchase price for the unitsened b
the Company. Mr. Harmer participated in the negmths between the Company and Teleportall, antiraged to represent the Company throughout
2009 and 2010 concerning the ZAGGbox. In May 2@4€ ,Company entered into a Distribution and LiesAgreement with Teleportall, which
memorialized Teleportall’s agreement to manufacaune deliver ZAGGboxes to the Company and appoititedCompany as the exclusive distributor
for the ZAGGbox in North American. Additionallyp May 2010, the Company entered into an agreemigmttbarmer Holdings, LLC, an affiliate of
Mr. Harmer, under which Harmer Holdings, LLC agréedepurchase unsold ZAGGboxes under certain iristances.

Teleportall proceeded to develop the ZAGGbox amvigied periodic progress reports to the Compangwéver, Teleportall did not deliver the
product in time for the 2009 Christmas selling s@asSubsequently, during the December 1, 2009tinteef the Board of Directors of the Company,
Mr. Harmer disclosed to the other members of tharBohat he owned an interest in Teleportall. A&eliscussion about his financial interest in
Teleportall during that meeting, Mr. Harmer stalbedwas willing to divest himself of any ownershipTieleportall, and the Board of Directors voted
unanimously to accept Mr. Harmer's proposal thaivbeld do so, and assumed thereafter that Mr. Hahae completed his divestiture.
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The development of the product continued in 201t Wie expectation that the product would be dedislén time for the 2010 Christmas selling
season. The Company made additional paymentsrigriead-time parts to Teleportall in the aggregateunt of $2,747. When it became obvious to
the Company that the product would not be readyddket and sell during the 2010 Christmas seabenCompany commenced discussions to
restructure the Distribution and License Agreemvetit Teleportall. During the course of those dissions, the Company learned in January 2011 that
Mr. Harmer did not divest himself of any interasfTieleportall following the December 2009 meetifighe Board of Directors of the Company where
he agreed to do so, but retained an indirect owipeisterest of 25% in Teleportall as well as otbetities potentially affiliated with the

ZAGGbox. As a result of the foregoing, the Compantered into an agreement with Teleportall, Mreriker and several entities owned or controlled
by Mr. Harmer (the “Harmer Agreement”), dated Ma&3) 2011, but subject to further negotiations eatification through April 5, 2011. Pursuant to
the Harmer Agreement, the parties agreed to teteiha Distribution and License Agreement on tHiefdng terms:

« Mr. Harmer, Teleportall, and certain of their affies delivered a promissory note (the “Noté&ted March 23, 2011, to the Company ir
original principal amount of $4,126 which accrueteiest at the rate of LIBOR plus 4% per annumu@tdp quarterly) payable as follows
interest only payments (a) on September 23, 20dd,(b) thereafter on or before the last day of ezalendar quarter, (i) 50% of the
profits of each ZAGGbox sale by Teleportall andaitfliates to be applied, first, to accrued inwrand, second, to the principal balance o
Note, and (iii) the unpaid balance of principal antérest due in full on March 23, 2013. The pnppatiamount of the Note is equal to
aggregate amount of the payments made by the Comjpaiieleportall plus the internal cost of the ZAG® project incurred by tl
Company. The Note is secured by certain real ptpp@terests in entities that own real propemy aestricted and fr-trading securities

« Teleportall and the Company entered into a Licékgg@ement on March 23, 2011 under which the Compiaepsed to Teleportall the use
certain ZAGG names and trademarks to sell andiltige the ZAGGbox product. Teleportall will pay && a 10% royalty on net sales
ZAGGboxes per calendar quarter as a license

« Teleportall and ZAGG entered into a rexclusive, two year Commission Agreement on Margh2®11, under which Teleportall could m
introductions of many ZAGG products in all countrizzhere ZAGG did not then have exclusive dealinge@ments in respect of |
marketing, distribution or sale of its productsheTCommission Agreement provided that (a) it wadtbmatically terminate concurrent w
any uncured default under the Note, and (b) then teould be extended for an additional time periodreasonable terms if Teleportall’
introductions during the initial two year term r&sn the purchase of no less than $25,000 of ZAg@&lucts during the initial term. Paym
terms of the Commission Agreement are as follc

« 10.0% commission payments on orders received byCtmapany from retailers and distributors first @duced to the Company
Teleportall during the first 60 days after the anluction is made (the_* Loaid Period”) to be split 50/50 between cash to Telepc
and principal payments on the Note. However, athgassion payments will be paid to ZAGG if Telepdirita in breach of the tern
of the Note or any other agreements between thep;

« 3.0% commission on all orders within the first 2dnths after the Loadh Period, and 2.0% thereafter, from retailers distributor:
first introduced to the Company as described utiieterms set forth in the preceding bullet poifihe 3.0% and 2.0% commissi
will be split 50/50 between cash to Teleportall @nidcipal payments on the Note; 8

« 3.0% commission on all orders generated in cowntnibere Teleportall is paid commission under thienseof the preceding tv
bullet points (excluding the United States), retgssl of Teleportall's involvement in ZAG&Treceipt of the order until the first
occur of (i) payment in full of the Note, (ii) temation of the Commission Agreement or (iii) 24 rtfuafter the applicable Load-
Period.
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No revenue has been recognized from Telepo

As part of the Harmer Agreement, the Company mediéi previously granted stock option award to Matrker, which resulted in a charge of $1,560
that was recorded in the second quarter of 201 charge was recorded in the second quarter df @04 to further negotiations and ratification on
April 5, 2011. The further negotiations concertieg restricted legend placed on 80 shares of Soloject to repayment of the Note.

The Note was originally accounted for under the cesovery method and was originally included ie donsolidated balance sheet at $3,900 which
was the value of the ZAGGbox inventory advancelse driginal face value of the Note of $4,126 wasrémbursement of the inventory advances
other costs associated with the ZAGGbox and appratdd fair value at March 23, 2011, as the variaitérest rate on the Note approximated market
rates.

On September 20, 2011, and prior to the due dateedirst interest-only payment due on the Note, Warmer and two of his affiliates, Harmer
Holdings, LLC, (“Holdings”) and Teleportall, filed lawsuit in Utah state court against the CompRwopert G. Pedersen, Il (ZAGG’s now-former
CEO), Brandon T. O'Brien (ZAGG’s CFO) and KPMG LIPPAGG's independent registered public accountimgnfi KPMG has subsequently been
dismissed from the lawsuit. In their lawsuit, fiaintiffs allege that the defendants defamed Matrier, breached the Harmer Agreement and
interfered with other rights of the plaintiffs. T@®mMpany has responded to the plaintiffs’ claines)ying all of the material allegations made by the
plaintiffs. The Company believes the plaintiffisiens to be without merit and intends to vigorouséfend against them.

Subsequently, Mr. Harmer failed to make the reglin¢erest-only payment to the Company due on $amte 23, 2011, and had until October 23,
2011, to cure the default. Mr. Harmer failed toective default by October 23, 2011, and on that, daémagement directed ZAGG legal counsel to
commence foreclosure on the collateral securindode, which consists of real property, interestsritities that own real property, and restricted a
free-trading securities, which included 45 shafedAGG common stock. In addition to the collatefdl, Harmer had also agreed that he would not
sell 80 shares of ZAGG common stock until two maerdfter the Note was paid in full. Given the Nistéull recourse, and the shares have a restri
legend associated with repayment of the Note, trafany believes it can recover the 80 shares.

Given Mr. Harmer’s default on the loan on Septen##r2011, and failure to cure the default on Oetd8, 2011, management determined that it was
probable that the Company would be unable to collf@amounts due from Mr. Harmer according totérens of the Note. As the Note became
collateral-dependent upon Mr. Harmer’s default, aggment engaged various third-party certified dppra and valuation specialists to assist
management in its determination of the fair valtithe collateral and whether it is sufficient taoger the Note balance. As of December 31, 2012,
management noted that the estimated fair valubeofihderlying collateral was between $1,576 and1$2l,As management has not been able to
ascertain whether Mr. Harmer owns 50% or 100% dfiidgs, management used the low end of the abowgeréh1,576) and compared it to the
carrying amount of the note of $1,149. The renmgimote balance of $1,149 appears to be collectabdm management’s best estimate of the cash
recovery on the collateral securing the Note (faiue, less cost to sell) of $1,576. Additionatlyring the third quarter of 2011, the Company
reclassified $566 of the Note as an offset to gquipresenting the collateral secured by ZAGG comistock, which management has taken steps to
recover to repay the Note, as noted below. Ultitgatay recovery in excess of the carrying valu¢hef Note will be recognized when realized.

We determined the fair values of the collaterahef note receivable, which required significanineates and assumptions. Management determin
value of the 80 shares of ZAGG common stock helt¥lbyHarmer based on quoted market prices. Theestake holdings were valued primarily be
on the sales comparison approach as sales of calipgroperties were utilized. The investmentsal estate companies were valued utilizing
comparable market sales, a discounted cash flolysieaand other appropriate valuation methodoegieluding the use of the Black-Scholes option
pricing model for the private company warrants.
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Since the Note became collateral dependent in @ct2®11, management has (1) foreclosed and sath@®s of ZAGG common stock for $496
(December 2011); (2) foreclosed on real propertyedat $250 (January 2012); and (3) foreclosestock and warrants in a private company of $516
(May 2012). These foreclosures were recorded adiction to the note receivable in the period inciithe foreclosure occurred. Management
continues to actively pursue the foreclosure ofethaining collateral.

At December 31, 2012, the total unpaid principdabee, including accrued interest, late fees arstisdacurred in collection, totaled $3,445.
(12) DEBT AND LETTERS OF CREDIT
Wells Fargo Term Loan and Revolving Line of Créditility

On December 7, 2012, the Company and Wells Fargd,Béational Association (“Wells Fargo”), enteredia a two-year, $84,000 credit facility
(“Credit Agreement”) consisting of a $24,000 tewwan (“Term Loan”) and a $60,000 revolving line oédit (“Line of Credit”), which Line of Credit
includes a letter of credit sub-feature that allékes Company to issue standby commercial lettecseaxfit against the Line of Credit, not to exceed a
any time an aggregate of $10,000. The Companyigatins under the Credit Agreement were secureallayr substantially all of the Company’s
domestic assets and over 50% of the equity indarsubsidiaries. As of December 31, 2012, the Compad an outstanding balance of $24,000 on
the Term Loan, an outstanding balance of $22,17themhine of Credit, and no letters of credit hagb issued.

The Term Loan requires quarterly payments of $2@)fable on the first day of each quarter commenemApril 1, 2013, and continuing up to and
including October 1, 2014. A final installment pagmtb consisting of the remaining unpaid balancais ah December 1, 2014. A mandatory additi
principal payment of $500 is required for eachdlsguarter in which total liabilities to tangibletnworth (as those terms are defined in the Credit
Agreement) exceeds 1.50 to 1.00, commencing wéalCtbmpany’s fiscal quarter ending December 31, 281 Pecember 31, 2012, no mandatory
principal payment was required.

The outstanding principal balance of the Term Nimtars interest (computed on the basis of a 360rday, actual days elapsed) at a fixed rate per
annum determined by the Bank to be the sum oftheIBOR margin (with the initial LIBOR margin bajnset at 1.25%) and (2) LIBOR in effect on
the first day of each Fixed Rate Term (as defimetthé Credit Agreement).

Borrowings and repayments under the Line of Crediy occur from time to time in the Company’s ordjneourse of business from December 7,
2012, through December 1, 2014. Any outstandirrgovongs under the Line of Credit mature and are da December 1, 2014.

The outstanding principal balance under the Lin€&fdit bears interest (computed on the basis3@Oaday year, actual days elapsed) at a fluctuating
rate per annum determined to be the sum of thEIBR margin (with the initial LIBOR margin beingesat 1.25%) and (2) Daily Three Month
LIBOR (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in effisom time to time.

Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, $\Wedirgo will adjust the LIBOR margin used to deteerthe rate of interest under the Line of Credit
on a quarterly basis, commencing with the Compmfigtal quarter ending December 31, 2012. The iable Libor Margin is calculated based on
Company's ratio of Total Liabilities to Tangible tN&orth (as these terms are defined in the CredieAment) in accordance with the following table:

Applicable
LIBOR
Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Wort Margin
1.50 or greate 1.75%
1.00 or greater, but less than 1 1.25%
Less than 1.0 0.7%
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Under the Line of Credit Note, each such adjustmeéihbe effective on the first business day of empany'’s fiscal quarter following the quarter
during which the Bank receives and reviews the Gomgfs most current fiscal quarter-end financiatestgents in accordance with the requirements
established by the Bank for the preparation antelgl thereof.

In addition, the Company agreed to pay Wells Fargoarterly fee based on the average unused arobti@ Line of Credit depending on the
Company'’s Leverage Ratio (which term is definethin Credit Agreement as Total Liabilities dividedTangible Net Worth) based on the following
table:

Applicable
Unused
Commitment
Fee (per
Leverage Ratic annum)
1.50 or greate 0.2(%
1.00 or greater, but less than 1 0.15%
Less than 1.0 0.1(%

At December 31, 2012, $4 in unused line fees had recurred and was included as a component afgisitexpense in the consolidated statement of
operations.

The weighted average interest rate on all outstenorrowings at December 31, 2012, was 1.63%. &ddinber 31, 2012, the effective interest rate
was 2.31%.

The Company incurred and capitalized $238 of dicests related to the issuance of the Term LoarLarelof Credit. The Company amortizes these
deferred loan costs under the effective interastmeethod. For the year ended December 31, 26&@2Z;oémpany amortized $8 of these loan costs,
which is included as a component of interest expémshe consolidated statement of operations. CHng/ing value of deferred loan costs at Decet
31, 2012, was $230 and is included as a comporigmdnzurrent other assets in the consolidated balaheet.

Attached to the Credit Agreement are a numbemaifritial and non-financial debt covenants. At Decam3i, 2012, the Company was in compliance
with all covenants associated with the Credit Agrest.

Mandatory payments under the Credit Agreement eggepted in the following table:

Mandatory

Payments
2013 $ 6,00(C
2014 40,17
Total $ 46,171

PNC & Cerberus Term Loan and Revolving Credit Agc

On June 21, 2011, and in conjunction with the aitjon of iFrogz, the Company entered into a finagagreement (the “Financing Agreement”) led
by Cerberus Business Finance, LLC (“Cerberus”) BN€ Bank National Association (“PNC”), which wagiag as the administrative bank. The
Financing Agreement consisted of a $45,000 term (t@erberus Term Loan”), a $45,000 revolving ctédcility (“Revolving Credit Facility”), and a
$5,000 letters of credit facility, which was a setbsf the $45,000 Revolving Credit Facility. Therpany’s obligations under the Financing
Agreement were secured by all or substantiallpfaithe Company’s assets. The Cerberus Term Lodarethon June 20, 2016, and the Revolving
Credit Facility and letters of credit matured ond0, 2014.

At December 31, 2011, the weighted average intea¢ston all outstanding borrowings was 7.25%. At&@mber 31, 2011, the effective interest rate
was 8.02%.
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There were no scheduled payments on either thee@esfTerm Loan or Revolving Credit Facility priormaturity, though the Company made a
$4,000 payment on the Cerberus Term Loan and &@2%ayment on the Revolving Credit Facility durthg first quarter of 2012. The Financing
Agreement called for prepayment of the Cerberusnllasan if certain conditions are met. The prepaymequirement commenced with the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2011, and was calculatedilma a percentage of “excess cash flow” as definthe Financing Agreement. Payment was
required to be made within ten days of issuingyr-end consolidated financial statements. Basgglojections at December 31, 2011, the
Company estimated that a prepayment of $2,372 woeilcbquired to be made during March 2012. Thisuarhwas classified as current in the
consolidated balance sheet, while the remainin@p&as Term Loan balance and Revolving Credit Rgditallance was classified as noncurrent.

Starting July 1, 2011, the Company began payingnancitment fee of 0.375% on the unused portion efttbrrowing capacity under the Revolving
Credit Facility based on the average principal amautstanding for the month compared to $45,000tfe years ended December 31, 2012 and
2011, the Company incurred $133 and $46, respégtivecommitment fees, which is included as a coment of interest expense in the consolidated
statement of operations.

The Company incurred and capitalized $2,538 ofctlicests related to the issuance of the Cerbertm Tean and Revolving Credit Facility. Of the
total amount incurred, $1,699 was directly relatethe Cerberus Term Loan and $839 was directbtedlto the Revolving Credit Facility. The
Company amortized the deferred loan costs on thkeDes Term Loan on the effective interest ratehoetand the deferred loan costs on the
Revolving Credit Facility on a straight-line basiger the respective terms of the loan: the TermrnLwas being amortized through June 20, 2016, and
the Revolving Credit Facility through June 20, 20Fbr the years ended December 31, 2012 and 204 Company amortized $568 and $329,
respectively, of these loan costs, which is inctlde a component of interest expense in the calagetl statement of operations. In addition, during
the year ended December 31, 2012, the Companydet@dditional amortization of $132 through inteeegense due to the $4,000 payment on the
Term Loan prior to maturity.

As discussed above, on December 7, 2012, the Conpzad off the entire outstanding balance on theb€wmis Term Loan and Revolving Credit
Facilty, and the Financing Agreement with PNC amrdb@rus was terminated. As this agreement wasnated, the Company wrote-off the remaining
$1,509 balance of deferred loan costs during thelticquarter of 2012, which is included as a conemdof interest expense on the consolidated
statement of operations. In addition, the Compaurired a charge of $430 paid to PNC and Cerbertesininate the credit agreement when the
Company refinanced with Wells Fargo, which is diées$ as a component of interest expense in theaatated statement of operations.

US Bank Line of Credit

Effective May 13, 2010, the Company entered intman Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with U.S. B&eational Association (“US Bank”). The
Loan Agreement provided for revolving loans andeotimancial accommodations to or for the bendfihe Company of up to $5,000, to be used for
working capital and other corporate purposes. Tbmpany’s obligations under the Loan Agreementahilated agreements were secured by all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets. Thégalibn of U.S. Bank to make advances under thanlAgreement was subject to the conditions set
forth in the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreemert thre credit facility were to mature on May 13, 201

On March 8, 2011, the Company entered into an Areéraohd Restated Loan Agreement (the “Amended asthfee Loan Agreement”) with U.S.
Bank which provided for revolving loans and otheahcial accommodations to or for the benefit & @ompany of a principal amount not to exceed
$20,000. Advances under the Amended and Restatad Agreement bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.75%e Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement required the Company to maintain a fixleatge coverage ratio of no less than 1.25 to thé8@sured quarterly on a trailing twelve month
basis and a leverage ratio of no greater thano2150t measured quarterly on a trailing twelve mdogthis. The Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement and the credit facility were to maturevarch 15, 2012.

On June 21, 2011 the Company paid off the entitstanding balance on the line of credit, and tharLAgreement with U.S. Bank was terminated.
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(13) - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating leases

The Company leases office and warehouse spacee @tfjuipment, and mall cart locations under opggdéases that expire through 2017. Future
minimum rental payments required under the opegdéases at December 31, 2012 are as follows:

2013 $ 1,222
2014 911
2015 62¢
2016 582
Thereafter 281
Total $ 3,62¢

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@® B&it expense was $1,615, $1,002 and $911, ridsglgcRent expense is recognized on a basis
which approximates straight line over the leasmtétent expense for the years ended December 32, 2011, and 2010 was net of sublease income
of $751, $0, and $0 respectively.

Commercial Litigation

Ricks v. Scott Huskinson et al., Third Judicialtbdis Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, CNid. 12090769. On November 15, 2012, Craig
Ricks (“Ricks”) filed a lawsuit in Utah state coagainst the Company, its wholly owned subsidi&rp@z, Inc., formerly known as Reminderband,
Inc. (“iFrogz”), Scott Huskinson (“Huskinson”), Gl&roadbent (“Broadbent”), and Reminderband, Ifaxmerly known as Two Ten Squared, Inc.
(“Reminderband”). In this lawsuit, Ricks allegésit Huskinson and Broadbent maliciously denied &mequitable ownership interest in iFrogz. The
complaint asserts claims for conversion, constvediiust, civil conspiracy, fraud and fraudulerdusement, breach of contract and breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealingn December 31, 2012, the Company and iFrogz fitedreswer denying liability. The other
defendants have done the same. The Company keliaiatiff's claims to be without merit and intentb vigorously defend against them. The
Company is indemnified by Huskinson and Broadbenthy losses that may occur related to this éaskiding legal fees.

Lorence A. Harmer, et al v ZAGG Inc et al, Thirdlitial District Court, Salt Lake County, State ofall, Civil No. 11091768. On September 2
2011, Lorence A. Harmer, a former director of ZA@@d two of his affiliates, Harmer Holdings, LLC,dafeleportal, LLC, filed a lawsuit in Ut
state court against the Company, Robert G. PedelseBrandon T. OBrien and KPMG LLP. KPMG has subsequently been wised from th
lawsuit. This case is discussed in greater detaNote 11, Note Receivable. In their lawsuit, thaimiffs allege that the defendants defamed
Harmer, breached a Settlement Agreement and otjreemments between the plaintiffs and the Compang, iaterfered with other rights of t
plaintiffs. The Company has responded to the fifésh claims, denying all of the material allegations mdgy the plaintiffs, and asserting affirma
defenses. On October 29, 2012, the Company fil€@banterclaim and Third-Party Complaint againstriiar, Holdings, Teleportall and thigghrty
Global Industrial Services Limited asserting claifosbreach of contract, deficiency, indemnity attbrneys'fees, breach of the implied covenar
good faith and fair dealing, quasi contract, ungrgichment, quantum meruit and declaratory judgm&he Company believes the plaintiftdaims tc
be without merit and intends to continue to vigalgwefend against them. The plaintiffs have reitrpade a specific damages claim.

ZAGG Inc v. Nicholas Pardini, Third Judicial DisttiCourt, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil 20903147 On May 9, 2012, ZAGG filed a
lawsuit in Utah State Court against Nicholas Parain internet author and purported manager ofaldmdge fund. The complaint alleged causes of
action for defamation and false light, based onRérdini's actions of authoring and causing to be publightadse and defamatory article on a wek
with the domain name seekingalpha.coAGG and the defendant engaged in settlemerdtiaipns, and agreed to a dismissal of all claims
exchange for information about the defendant’s arajon of the article and its removal from the gigh The case has been dismissed with prejudice
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ZAGG Inc v. Anthony H. Catanach Jr. and J. EdwaetizKUnited States District Court, Eastern DistoétPennsylvania, Philadelphia Division, Case
No. 2:12-cv-04399-HB On May 9, 2012, ZAGG filed a lawsuit in Utah ®t€ourt against Anthony H. Catanach Jr. and J.d@dWetz, professors at
universities in Pennsylvania who write for and awister a financial blog. The complaint allegeds=aiof action for defamation and false light, based
on the defendants’ co-authoring and publicatioarofrticle that contains false and defamatory statgs. The defendants removed the case to federa
court in Utah and the Company then stipulatedttarsfer of venue to the Eastern District of Pefvasya. The defendants moved to dismiss the
Company'’s claims, but this motion was denied. ZA&@ the defendants engaged in settlement negoisatand agreed to a dismissal of all claims in
exchange for information about the defendants’ arajon of the article and its removal from thegbld'he case has been dismissed with prejudice.

ZAGG Inc v. Joseph Ramelli, Third Judicial Distr@burt, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil 120903188 On May 10, 2012, ZAGG filed a
lawsuit in Utah State Court against Joseph Ramelie complaint alleges causes of action for defamand false light, based on Ramelli's authoring
and causing to be published at least 15 articlatimg to ZAGG that contain false and defamatoatesnents. Ramelli, who appeared in the lawsui
se, moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdict The Company opposed the motion, and the a=mied the motion to dismiss. Fact discovery
has commenced. The Company intends to pursuasts\dgorously against Mr. Ramelli.

Patent Litigation

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Co. Inc. v. NIRdoducts et al, U.S. District Court, District of &i, 2:11-cv-00517 The Company is the plaint

in patent infringement litigation pending in Utdfat seeks to enforce rights under United StatesnPhto. 7,957,524. The defendants in this case have
raised defenses and, in some cases, assertedrotainie against the Company, that seek declaratbnsenforceability or non-infringement of the
patent. These counterclaims do not assert any slmaffirmative relief, including claims for dagees, against the Company, apart from a request for
an award of costs and attorney’s fees to the pieggiarty. Several of the defendants have settligl the Company. Litigation of this action has bee
stayed pending a reexamination of United StatesrP&to. 7,957,524 by the United States Patent aadefark Office. This reexamination has led to
the rejection of the claims of the patent, but thésision is currently on appeal. In the opinidmanagement, the ultimate disposition of thesengat
infringement claims, including disposition of theunterclaims, will not have a material adverseafée the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations, or liquidity.

ZAGG v. Trekstor, Regional Court, Dusseldorf, Gemna@he Company brought suit in Dusseldorf, Germanyregd rekstor for infringement of
ZAGG design registrations for ZAGGmate and the ket Keyboard Case by ZAGG. The Company also birocigims for unfair competition. As
of the date of this Report, all briefing had beempleted and a hearing was held. The Court hagatatled on the claims of infringement and has
indicated that it may not issue its decision uaftiér TrekStor’s challenges to the registrationgehizeen considered. TrekStor has challenged the
Company'’s ownership of the design registrationstaslfiled an application for a declaration of ity of the Company’s design registrations, but
this application has been denied and is not peraiingppeal. The Company believes these allegabbimvalidity and ownership to be without merit
and intends to vigorously defend against them.

Patent Acquisitior

On August 31, 2010, Andrew Mason (“Masoffiled a complaint against the Company claimingiimgement of United States Patent Nos. 7,38¢
and 7,784,610 as a result of the ComparigtisibleSHIELD installation kits. On November2)10, the Company, Mason and his company, eS|
LLC (“eShields”) entered into an Asset Purchaseeigrent (“Purchase Agreementifider which a wholly owned subsidiary of the Compa@AGG
Intellectual Property Holding Company, Inc. (“ZAG8"), acquired all of the rights of Mason in (i) the pdate(United States Patent Nos. 7,389
and 7,784,610) which were the subject of the Itiagg (ii) the patent application filed on August, 2010 (the “CIP Application"and (iii) rights to su
for infringement of the patents.
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In consideration for the conveyance of Mason’s ssdescribed above, the Company agreed to paynwegdo Mason the following:

(a) a first payment of $200 by November 11, 2010, asdand payment of $150 after December 31, 2

(b) issue to Mason five-year warrants (the “Watato purchase 750 shares of the Compamg'stricted Common Stock at an exercise pricel
to the closing bid price on November 9, 2010 ($8.p8ovided that 500 of the 750 warrant shareseamrcisable only upon the issuance
patent from the CIP Application with at least otedra that satisfies the Claim Conditions (as defibelow);

(c) issue to Mason 70 shares of the Com|'s restricted Common Stock; a

(d) grant eShields a fully paid-up, perpetual,-seanlusive license, with limited rights to transtersublicense, for the patents and CIP
Applications.

The Company also agreed to dismiss the claimstaslsagainst Mason and eShields, and to make additimayments to Mason if the US Patent
Trademark Office (“USPTO”) issues a U.S. patenttenCIP Application that includes certain clainfg tClaim Conditions”)If the Claim Condition
are met, the Company will:

(@) pay Mason the sum of $500; a
(b) issue to Mason 430 shares of the Com/'s restricted Common Stoc

If the Claim Conditions are not met, the Company ha obligation to make the payment or issue tleeshdescribed in the preceding paragraph and
Mason will not be able to exercise 500 of the WiatgaThere can be no assurance that the USPT@ssuik a patent on the CIP Application that meets
the requirements of the Claim Conditions. As of @aber 31, 2012, no applicable patent had beenddspthe USPTO.

Class Action Lawsuits

James H. Apple, et al. v. ZAGG Inc, et al., U.Stiit Court, District of Utah, 2:1-cv-00852; Ryan Draayer, et al. v. Zagg Inc, et dlS. District

Court, District of Utah, 2:12-cv-00859 On September 6 and 10, 2012, two putative @assn lawsuits were filed by purported Company
shareholders against the Company, Randall Halesyd®n OBrien, Edward Ekstrom, and Cheryl Larabee, as a®Robert G. Pedersen I, our forr
Chairman and CEO, and Shuichiro Ueyama, a formeninee of our Board of Directors. In each case pilaatiffs seek certification of a class of
purchasers of our stock between February 28, 26d22agust 17, 2012. The plaintiffs claim that agsult of Mr. Pedersen's alleged December 2011
margin account sales, the defendants initiatedceession plan to replace Mr. Pedersen as our CHONvi Hales, but failed to disclose either the
succession plan or Mr. Pedersen's margin accole,sa violation of Sections 10(b), 14(a), and&pand SEC Rules 10b-5 and 14a-9, under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Ac©n March 7, 2013, the U.S. District Court foe District of Utah consolidated tigpleand
Draayeractions and assigned the captiome Zagg, Inc. Securities LitigatianThe Company has not yet responded to the contplairhe Company
intends to vigorously defend against them.

Arthur Morganstern v. Robert G. Pedersen |l et @hird Judicial District Court, Salt Lake Countyta8 of Utah, Civil No. 1209084:; Albert Pikk v.
Robert G. Pedersen Il et al., U.S. District Colistrict of Utah, Case No. 2:-cv-1188; Rosenberg v. Robert G. Pedersen Il et al., U.SribDis
Court, District of Utah, Case No. 2:12-cv-1216n December 14, 2012, the first of three shddehnaerivative complaints were filed against saver
of our current and former officers and directoffiese complaints make allegations similar to thpyesented in the putative class action lawsuits, bu
they also assert various state law causes of adticluding claims for breach of fiduciary duty, sta of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, andieir
trading. Each of these derivative complaints seedpecified damages on behalf of the Company, wikiclamed solely as a nominal defendant ag
whom no recovery is sought. On February 27, 2€6%3U.S. District Court for the District of Utahrmolidated thé&ikk andRosenbergctions and
assigned the captidn re ZAGG Inc. Shareholder Derivative LitigationThe Company has not yet responded to these edml

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company recenegfliests to provide documentation and informatathe staff of the SEC in connection with a non-
public investigation being conducted by the SEGik Bake City office. The Company believes thedstigation includes a review of the facts and
circumstances surrounding some of the same isaigegirby the plaintiffs in the above lawsuits; sfieally, whether the Company failed to disclose
Mr. Pedersen's margin account sales or the allegistence of a plan to have Mr. Hales succeed BileFsen as our CEO. The Company respond
these requests and is cooperating fully with th#é.sWe have chosen to disclose this non-publiestigation due to the highly public nature of the
lawsuits described above, which the Company intémdiefend vigorously.
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The Company is not a party to any other litigatimrother claims at this time. While the Companyrently believes that the amount of any ultimate
potential loss for known matters would not be mateo the Company'’s financial condition, the outeof these actions is inherently difficult to
predict. In the event of an adverse outcome, ttimate potential loss could have a material adveffget on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations in a particular period.

We establish liabilities when a particular contingg is probable and estimable. We have not acdiareghy loss at December 31, 2012 in our
consolidated financial statements as we do notidena loss to be probable nor estimable.

(14) CONCENTRATIONS
Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisigipally of cash and accounts receivable. The
Company places its cash with high credit qualityaficial institutions. The Company maintains itshce bank deposit accounts, which, at times,
exceed federally insured limits. The Company haerperienced any losses in such accounts throeglember 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, approximately 5686549, respectively, of the balance of accountsivable was due from one customer. No
other customer account balances were more thataf@counts receivable. If one or more of the @any’s significant customers were to become
insolvent or were otherwise unable to pay for thedpcts provided, it would have a material adveféect on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations.

Concentration of supplier

The Company purchases its raw materials relatégetinvisibleSHIELD product line primarily from ors®urce. Management is aware of similar raw
materials that would be available from other sosii€eequired and has current plans to immediatelyage such resources if necessary. A change in
supplier, however, could cause a delay in manufaagland a possible loss of sales, which could esblg affect operating results.

In addition, iFrogz purchases all inventory throwgte third party sourcing company. Managemenwira of other manufacturing sources that it
could utilize if there was a disruption in the cgt@ns of the third party sourcing Company. A aein the sourcing Company, however, could cause
a delay in manufacturing and a possible loss @ssalhich could adversely affect operating results.

Concentration of sales

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, attl @0e customer accounted for 32%, 30%, and 4é8pgectively, of the Company’s sales. In
addition, during 2012 and 2011, a second custocmyumted for 11% and 11%, respectively, of sals.other customer account balances were more
that 10% of sales. If the Company loses one aembthe Company’s significant customers, it woliéve a material adverse effect on the Comgany’
financial condition and results of operations.

The percentage of sales by geographic region éoyéars ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2018ppasximately:

2012 2011 2010
United State: 87% 88% 83%
Europe 6% 6% 12%
Other 7% 6% 5%

Net assets located overseas in Shannon Irelardddtd,737 and $290 at December 31, 2012 and :
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(15) SEGMENT REPORTING

The operating segments reported below are the Coytgpaegments for which separate financial infoiorats available and upon which operating
results are evaluated by the chief operating datisiaker on a timely basis to assess performantéoaalocate resources.

Prior to the Company'’s acquisition of iFrogz, then@pany was a single reporting segment consistehttive nature of its operations. Due to the
acquisition, the Company has reassessed its rag@gigments and concluded that it will analyzevigddwide operations based on the following three
reportable segments:

« ZAGG segmen— This segment designs, produces, and distributedieeeproduct solutions such as protective covesikgyboard:
keyboard cases, earbuds, mobile power solutiors,dawice cleaning accessories for mobile deviceteuthe family of ZAG(
brands. Within the family of ZAGG brand are produsbld under the following brand names: invisiblES.D®, ZAGGskins™
ZAGGbuds™, ZAGGsparq™, ZAGGfolio™, ZAGGmate™, ZAGSk™, ZAGGkeys PRO™, ZAGGkeys PRO Plu
ZAGGkeys MINI 7, and ZAGGkeys MINI ¢

« iFrogz segment—This segment designs, producesdiatributes cases, Ne&ield Audio™ amplifying speakers, earbuds, tradil
headphones, and gaming headphones for mobile dewiaer the family of iFrogz brands in the vapreed lifestyle sector. With
the iFrogz brand are products sold under the faligvbrand names: iFrogz™, Earpollution™, CalibedMd Animatone™

« HzO segment-Fhis segment is engaged in the development of wataking coating technologies for consumer andugtda
applications. As discussed in Note 5, HzO was dedlatated as of December 22, 2011; however, managetmas continued
report HzC' s operations within the segment reporting bel

The Company evaluates segment performance bast segment’s income from operations. Other incrpense), which includes interest
expense, is not presented by segment since itiscladed in the measure of segment profitabil@yiewed by the chief operating decision maker. All
inter-segment transactions have been eliminatefihrrhation concerning our operations by reportaelgment is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
Revenue 2012 2011 2010
ZAGG segmen $ 196,01: $ 143,06¢ $ 76,13t
iFrogz segmer 68,41: 36,04¢ —
HzO segment — 11 —
Total $ 264,42 % 179,12 $ 76,13t
Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
Income from Operations 2012 2011 2010
ZAGG segmen $ 38,96¢ $ 3151¢ $ 16,93¢
iFrogz segmer (5,477) (1,267 —
HzO segment — (2,119 (122)
Total income from operatior $ 33,49 $ 28,137 $ 16,81«
Total other income (expense) (9,599 (1,135 (23€)
Income before provision for income ta $ 23,89¢ $ 27,00: $ 16,57¢
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As of
December 31 December 31
Identifiable Assets 2012 2011
ZAGG segmen $ 115,21 $ 88,67
iFrogz segmer 88,85¢ 108,77¢
HzO segment 2,018 4,87¢
Total $ 206,08' $ 202,32¢
(16) — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Quatrterly financial information is presented in fblowing summary:
Year ended December 31, 201
Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Net sales $ 55,48( $ 61,63¢ $ 59,827 $ 87,48: $ 264,42!
Operating incom 10,22¢ 10,88t 7,11¢ 5,26( 33,49
Net income attributable to stockhold: 5,112 5,81z 3,38¢ 19¢ 14,50
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)
Basic $ 017 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.11 $ 0.01 $ 0.4¢
Diluted 0.1€ 0.1¢ 0.11 0.01 0.4€
Weighted average common shai
Basic 29,92« 30,271 30,35: 30,791 30,33¢
Diluted 31,417 31,73¢ 31,73¢ 31,73t 31,65¢
Year ended December 31, 201
Second Third Fourth
First Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Net sales $ 26,97¢ $ 38,78¢ % 45887 $ 67,47 $ 179,12!
Operating incom 4,86¢ 4,24¢ 4,614 14,41 28,131
Net income attributable to stockhold: 3,31( 2,745 2,24¢ 9,947 18,24¢
Earnings per share attributable to stockholc(1)
Basic $ 014 $ 0.11 $ 0.07 $ 034 $ 0.67
Diluted 0.12 0.1C 0.07 0.3z 0.6
Weighted average common shai
Basic 24,09¢ 25,24( 29,44; 29,67 27,13¢
Diluted 26,21¢ 27,27¢ 31,37t 31,37¢ 29,08:

(M The earnings per share calculations for eatheofjuarters were based upon the weighted avetagber of shares outstanding during each
period, and the sum of the quarters may not beléqule full year earnings per common share an®

(17) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company offers a 401(k) for full-time employé&est have been with the Company for over 90 dalge. Company matches participant
contributions of 100% up to 3% of an employeesagaiind 50% of contributions from 4-5% of an empley salary. Costs recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 relatiw temployer 401(k) match totaled $153, $267, dhdespectively.

(18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events identified thatdwegjuire disclosure or adjustment to the consddid financial statements.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The subsidiaries of ZAGG Inc (the “Registrant”)aidvlarch 18, 2013, are listed below:

Subsidiary Name

Ownership

Jurisdiction

ZAGG Intellectual Property Holding Company, li

ZAGG International Distribution Limite

ZAGG Retall, Inc.

ZAGG LLC

Bronco Corporatiol

Ute Corporatior

Patriot Corporatiol

iFrogz Inc.

iFrogz Europe SA!
Superior Brand Limites

HzO, Inc.

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
30.7%

United State:
Ireland
United State:
United State:
Cayman lIsland
Cayman lIsland
Ireland
United State:
France
Hong Kong
United State:



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
The Board of Directors
ZAGG Inc:
We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdggstration statements (No. 333-147510 and 33227) on Form S-8 and (No. 33B81748) o
Form S3 of ZAGG Inc of our reports dated March 18, 2048h respect to the consolidated balance sheeZ\GfG Inc as of December 31, 2012
2011, and the related consolidated statementsartipns, comprehensive income, equity, and castsffor each of the years in the thyear perio
ended December 31, 2012, and the effectivenesatefil control over financial reporting as of Deter 31, 2012, which reports appear in
December 31, 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K of ZAKAc.

(signed) KPMG LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah

March 18, 2013



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Randall L. Hales, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Reportrmrm 10-K of ZAGG Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsinot contain any untrue statement of a mat@calor omit to state a material fact necessamage
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information inelthéh this report, fairly present in all materiaspects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of and for thequipresented in this report.

4. The registrant's other certifyin§adr(s) and | are responsible for establishing mraihtaining disclosure controls and proceduresiédimed
in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e))raedhal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andg@ures, or caused such disclosure controls mruégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolida®ibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contvelrdinancial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thestegnt's disclosure controls and procedures argepted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhmregistrant's internal control over financigoging that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdlsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyin§adr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our magnteevaluation of internal control over finanaigborting
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committethe registrant's board of directors (or pesgmerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and maténveaknesses in the design or operation of inkteorarol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigtsaability to record, process, summarize and refpmaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthrevolves management or other employees who haigréficant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2013

/s RANDALL L. HALES

Randall L. Hales
Chief Executive Officer, President, & Director
(Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Brandon T. O’Brien, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Reportrmrm 10-K of ZAGG Inc;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repogsinot contain any untrue statement of a mat@calor omit to state a material fact necessamage
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information inelthéh this report, fairly present in all materiaspects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of and for thequipresented in this report.

4. The registrant's other certifyin§adr(s) and | are responsible for establishing mraihtaining disclosure controls and proceduresiédimed
in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15d-15(e))raedhal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andg@ures, or caused such disclosure controls mruégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolida®ibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contvelrdinancial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgzgding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thestegnt's disclosure controls and procedures argepted in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhmregistrant's internal control over financigoging that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdlsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifyin§adr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our magnteevaluation of internal control over finanaigborting
to the registrant's auditors and the audit committethe registrant's board of directors (or pesgmerforming the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and maténveaknesses in the design or operation of inkteorarol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigtsaability to record, process, summarize and refpmaincial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthrevolves management or other employees who haigréficant role in the registrant's internal qoht
over financial reporting.

Date: March 18, 2013

/s BRANDON T. CBRIEN

Brandon T. O'Brien
Chief Financial Officel
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report onfAdt0-K of ZAGG Inc (the "Company") for the year eddDecember 31, 2012, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "RepdrtRandall L. Hales, Chief Executive Officer of tiempany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knodge:
(1) The Report fully complies with thejuégrements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemgiExchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Retgairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

/sSIRANDALL L HALES

Randall L. Hales
Chief Executive Officer , President, & Director
March 18, 201:

This certification accompanies the Repaorspant to Section 906 of the Sarba@edey Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired b
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filethbyCompany for purposes of Section 18 of the $EsiExchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeeguired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company and will
be retained by the Company and furnished to ther8&es and Exchange Commission or its staff upjuest.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report oniRdi0-K of ZAGG Inc (the "Company") for the year eddDecember 31, 2012, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "RepdrtBrandon T. O’Brien, Chief Financial Officer di¢ Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sasb@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knodge:

(1) The Report fully complies with thejtérements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Sem&iExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Retgairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sIBRANDON T. CBRIEN

Brandon T. O’Brien
Chief Financial Officer
March 18, 201:

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 of the Sarba@edey Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the ektequired b
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filethbyCompany for purposes of Section 18 of the SesiExchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statemeadjuired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA@002 has been provided to the Company and will
be retained by the Company and furnished to ther8&s and Exchange Commission or its staff upsuest.



